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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 25 SEPTEMBER 2020 

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  good 

morn ing  eve rybody.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Morn ing  Cha i r.   Yes Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Le t  us  s ta r t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Ja  we ask to  ca l l  Mr  Mosebenz i  

Zwane.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes thank you.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   He is  p resent .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wi l l  you  admin is te r  the  oa th  o r  10 

a f f i rmat ion?  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record .  

MR ZWANE:   Mosebenz i  Joseph Zwane.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any ob jec t ions to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed a f f i rmat ion?  

MR ZWANE:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you so lemnly  a f f i rm tha t  the  ev idence 

you w i l l  g i ve  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  and noth ing  

e lse  bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra ise  your  r igh t  hand and  

say,  I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  20 

MR ZWANE:   I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you ve ry  much.     Mr  Zwane I  know 

tha t  you had requested th rough your  a t to rneys tha t  you be  

a l lowed by  the  commiss ion  to  come to  the  commiss ion  and  

dea l  w i th  a l l  the  issues tha t  may re la te  to  you but  the  
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request  cou ld  no t  be  granted because o f  s imp ly  the  way 

the  commiss ion  opera tes .    

The commiss ion  wou ld  have l i ked  tha t  everyone  

comes befo re  i t  once and dea l  w i th  a l l  i ssues but  i t  i s  no t  

p rac t ica l  most  o f  the  t ime because  in  regard  to  peop le  l i ke  

you your  name i s  ment ioned in  d i f fe ren t  work-s t reams o f  

the  commiss ion  and there  are  d i f fe ren t  teams work ing  in  

d i f fe ren t  work-s t reams.    

So I  jus t  want  you to  know tha t  I  am aware  you 

made tha t  reques t  and tha t  i t  was cons idered but  there  are  10 

cha l lenges.    

But  you wou ld  have seen a lso  tha t  there  are  many 

o ther  peop le  who  have come befo re  the  commiss ion  more  

than once to  dea l  w i th  i ssues I  am su re .   Thank you.   Mr  

Pre tor ius .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   Mr  Zwane you  

have before  a  bund le ;  Bund le  FS12 do you have tha t  

bund le?   I f  you  wou ld  go  to  page 459 o f  tha t  bund le  

p lease.    

MR ZWANE:   459? 20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes p lease.   R igh t .   That  appears  to  

be  a  sworn  s ta tement  o f  you rse l f ,  cor rec t?   That  document  

goes th rough to  page 508 where  there  is  a  s ignature .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Have you exp la ined to  the  b lack  –  to  h im 

the  b lack  numbers  and the  red  numbers .  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes we have.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Jus t  to  remind you Mr  Zwane the  

b lack  numbers  in  the  top  le f t  hand corne r.    

MR ZWANE:   500  and?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   8 .   There  is  a  s ignature  there ;  

whose s ignatu re  i s  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:   Cha i r  th is  i s  the  s ignature  be long ing  to  me.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  am sor ry  Mr  Pre to r ius  what  i s  the 

page you re fer red  h im to?  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   508.   I  t rus t  i t  i s  the  same page in  

your  bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes we l l  I  am ask ing  because I  see h i s  

s ta tement  a t  459 on my –  on  my bund le .   So le t  me go to  

508.   Yes okay a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  i s  your  s ignature  on  page 508? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The sworn  s ta tement  f rom page 459  

and cont inu ing  to  page 508 is  tha t  your  sworn  s ta tement?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   As  fa r  as  you are  concerned the 

contents  o f  tha t  s ta tement  a re  they  t rue  and cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   There  is  one more  document  wh ich  

is  par t  o f  the  same exh ib i t .   Cha i r  and befo re  adm i t t ing  the  
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exh ib i t  perhaps we shou ld  go  there?  I f  you  go to  page  

615.   Do you have i t?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  document  i s  a  document  

headed Rep ly  to  quest ions f rom E Lambrechts  da ted  10 

June.   What  happened was the  invest iga tors  asked  cer ta in  

quest ions o f  you and you rep l ied  to  these quest ions in  th is  

document .   There  is  a  s ignature  a t  page 165 o f  tha t  

document  –  sor ry  page 622 o f  t ha t  document .   The las t  

page in  the  bund le .    10 

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  my s ignature .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  i s  your  s ignature .   And the  

answers  were  they no t  in  a sworn  s ta tement  to  the 

quest ions conta ined  in  th is  document ;  a re  they t rue  and 

cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Those documents  Cha i r  fo rm  par t  o f  

Exh ib i t  UU9 may they be  admi t ted  p lease?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  there  is  f i rs t  the  s ta tement  o r  

a f f idav i t  s ta r t ing  a t  page 459.   That  a f f idav i t  i s  a  20 

s tanda lone a f f idav i t  bu t  has cer ta in  annexures [no t  

aud ib le ] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do the  annexures inc lude the  response – 

the  rep l ies  to  the  quest ions tha t  you have jus t  dea l t  w i th  a t  
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the  end or  does tha t  document  s tand a lone? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   No Cha i r  tha t  i s  why I  re fe r red  to  i t  

separa te ly.   The a f f idav i t  p re -dates  the  rep l y  to  the  

quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So tha t  wou ld  mean tha t  the  

a f f idav i t  and i t s  annexures wou ld  be  an exh ib i t  on  i t s  own 

and then tha t  rep ly  wou ld  be  separa te  exh ib i t  on  i t s  own.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes together  w i th  the  quest ions so  

perhaps tha t  shou ld  be  Exh ib i t  UU10.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja  I  th ink  we shou ld  –  we shou ld  ident i f y  10 

the  document  tha t  conta ins  the  quest ions as  we l l  because  

then i t  wou ld  a lso  be  a  document  on  i t s  own.   I  th ink  i t  

seems to  s ta r t  a t  page 609 is  tha t  r igh t?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Le t  us  s ta r t  w i th  the  –  the  a f f idav i t  

o r  s ta tement  s ta r t ing  a t  page 459.   You propose tha t  that  

shou ld  be  admi t ted  –  shou ld  be  marked Exh ib i t  UU8? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   UU9 Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   UU9.   Mr  Mosebenz i  Joseph Zwane ’s  

a f f idav i t  s ta r t ing  a t  page 459 is  admi t ted  and together  w i th  20 

i t s  annexures w i l l  be  marked Exh ib i t  UU9.   And then  I  th ink  

the  next  one wou ld  be  the  document  w i th  the  –  w i th  – 

wh ich  posed cer ta in  quest ions to  h im tha t  i s  –  i s  i t  a t  609?  

Yes.   The document  wh ich  appears  or  s ta r ts  a t  page 609 is  

admi t ted  and w i l l  be  marked Exh ib i t  UU? 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   10 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   10 .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  i s  the  document  tha t  goes  

th rough to  page 622.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The quest ions and answers .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And then … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  was suggest ing  Cha i r  tha t  the  

quest ions and answers  be  admi t ted  togethe r  –  par t  o f  the  

same Exh ib i t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  do  no t  th ink  so  because they are  no t  

wr i t ten  by  the  same person.   I  th ink  the… 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  tha t  is  f ine  Cha i r  then  609 to  

page 614 w i l l  be  Exh ib i t  UU10.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And then the  –  and then Mr  Zwane ’s  

rep l y  to  those quest ions s ta r t ing  a t  page 615.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wi l l  be  admi t ted  and marked  Exh ib i t  

UU11?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   11 .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   11 .   Ja  okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Cha i r  I  have jus t  been to ld  by  those  

tha t  a re  respons ib le  fo r  th is  task  tha t  there  is  a l ready an  

Exh ib i t  UU10.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  we w i l l  –  may  need to  make i t  … 
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   9A and 9B.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   So we w i l l  change then the  document  

s ta r t ing  a t  page 609 wh ich  were  the  quest ions tha t  were  

sent  to  Mr  Zwane ’s  a t to rneys.   We wi l l  amend tha t  i t  w i l l  be 

marked Exh ib i t  UU9A.   And the  document  conta in ing  Mr  

Zwane ’s  response to  tha t  s ta r t ing  a t  page 615 w i l l  marked 

Exh ib i t  UU9B.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes thank you Cha i r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   You may proceed Mr  Pre tor ius .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Thank you  Cha i r.   Mr  Zwane your  10 

a f f idav i t  wh ich  has jus t  been adm i t ted  and the  answers  to  

the  quest ion  dea l  w i th  a  number  o f  top ics  as  we now know.   

The purpose o f  the  quest ions today  however  i s  to  dea l  on l y  

w i th  the  hous ing  pro jec t  tha t  occur red  dur ing  2010 and 

2011 in  the  Free S ta te  and a t  tha t  t ime you were  MEC for  

the  depar tment  wh ich  went  th rough var ious name changes 

but  we have re fer red  to  i t  as  the  Depar tment  o f  Human 

Set t lements .   I s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   We know tha t  the  fac ts  under ly ing  20 

the  hous ing  p ro jec t  th rough tha t  per iod  have been the  

sub jec t  mat te r  o f  a  number  o f  invest iga t ions and many o f  

those fac ts  cor rec t  o r  incor rec t  in  fac t  a re  pub l i c  

knowledge,  we know tha t .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes  Cha i r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   However,  there  are  two issues tha t  

we wou ld  l i ke  to  concent ra te  on  and have concent ra ted  on  

la rge ly  a t  leas t  in  th is  week o f  ev idence and tha t  i s  the  

contex t  w i th in  wh ich  the  advance payment  p ro jec t  took 

p lace and tha t  i s  the  hous ing  con t rac ts  o r  lack  the reof  in  

the  f i rs t  p lace  and the  second is  the  quest ion  o f  

accountab i l i t y.   And i t  i s  rea l l y  those tha t  –  those  issues 

tha t  we w i l l  be  la rge ly  cover ing .   There  was dur ing  2010  

and 2011 a  Pub l i c  Procurement  Process tha t  was embarked  

upon by  the  depar tment  and tha t  invo lved a  tender  fo r  the  10 

const ruc t ion  o f  houses in  the  Free  S ta te  Prov ince,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The fund ing  fo r  tha t  p ro jec t  –  that  

hous ing  pro jec t  wou ld  have come f rom the  Nat iona l  F i scus,  

cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And the  fund ing  was cont ro l led  –  

granted in  the  f i rs t  p lace  and cont ro l led  in  the  second  

p lace by  the  Prov is ions o f  the  D iv is ion  o f  Revenue Act  we  

have re fer red  to  i t  as  DORA.   Cor rec t?  20 

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Othe r  p rescr ip t s  as  we l l  bu t  

tha t  one in  add i t ion .   I t  was necessary  as  I  unders tand i t  to  

go  ou t  on  a  new tender  p rocess fo r  the  const ruc t ion  o f  

houses because a  dec i s ion  had been made by  the  Premie r  
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and the  Cab ine t  tha t  the  houses shou ld  be  la rger  than  

or ig ina l l y  p lanned .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  Cha i r  I  th ink  the  two are  separa ted .   

Normal l y  each year  the  Depar tment  o f  Human Se t t lement  

as  i t  was ca l led  by  then wou ld  ac tua l l y  bu i ld  houses.   The  

issue o f  b igger  and bet te r  houses was a  separa te  i ssue  

added to  a  normal  p rocess tha t  wou ld  be  fo l lowed when  

bu i ld ing  houses i n  te rms o f  the  da ta  base.   I  was i n fo rmed 

when I  was there .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r igh t  we l l  le t  us  jus t  dea l  w i th  the  10 

fac ts  b r i e f l y  and  by  way o f  in t roduct ion  to  the  quest ions 

tha t  we wou ld  l i ke  to  pu t  to  you Mr  Zwane.   There  was in  

fac t  a  Pub l ic  Procurement  Process tha t  took p lace  in  the  

f i rs t  ha l f  o f  the  2010/2011 f inanc ia l  yea r.  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   What  happened is  tha t  a t  the  t ime 

the  b ids  –  the  va r ious b ids  tha t  were  p resented by  var ious 

cont rac tors  were  presented and  ad jud ica ted  the  tender 

per iod  –  the  tender  va l id i t y  per iod  had exp i red .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   As  I  was to ld  Cha i r.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And a  dec is ion  was then made to 

abandon tha t  p rocess.   Were  you to ld  tha t  as  we l l?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And … 

CHAIRPERSON:   You can keep your  m ic rophone  on Mr  
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Zwane.  

MR ZWANE:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   We know tha t  the  tender  c losed on  

the  16  Apr i l  2020 a l l  tha t  i s  par t  o f  the  ev idence  and the  

rea l l y  pub l i c  record .   That  the  b id  ad jud i ca t ion  commi t tee  

cons idered the  b ids  and the  ev idence has been  tha t  a  

number  o f  b ids  were  d i squa l i f ied .   Le t  me jus t  pu t  the  

numbers  to  you fo r  the  reco rd .    

Accord ing  to  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  we have and the  

ev idence tha t  we  have rece ived 361 b ids  were  rece ived.   10 

105 were  d isqua l i f ied  fo r  bas ic  b id  compl iance reasons.   

147 were  d isqua l i f ied  because they d id  no t  meet  the  

m in imum funct iona l i t y  th resho ld .   109 b ids  o f  the  361  

inc lud ing  81  f rom estab l i shed cont rac tors  and 28 f rom 

emerg ing  cont rac tors  were  recommended to  t he  b id  

ad jud ica t ion  commi t tee  to  be  ad jud ica ted  on pr ice .    

R igh t  and tha t  was the  resu l ts  o f  the  b id  eva lua t ion  

commi t tee ’s  work .   They ca tegor ised the  b ids  and sent  

them on to  the  b id  ad jud ica t ion  commi t tee  wh ich  then met  

on  the  28  Ju l y  2010.    20 

Now you may no t  reca l l  the  f igures  bu t  tha t  i s  the  

ev idence.   A re  you happy to  accept  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  I  do  no t  know tha t  ev idence Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   R igh t .  

MR ZWANE:   I t  was not  b rought  to  my a t ten t ion .  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  tha t  i s  in  fac t  the  ev idence.   

The b id  ad jud ica t ion  commi t tee  then met  on  the  28  Ju l y  

2010 and a t  tha t  meet ing  i t  was  noted tha t  the  tender  

va l id i t y  per iod  had lapsed.   That  commi t tee  reso lved tha t  

the  tender  shou ld  be  cance l led  and a  da ta  base o f  serv i ce  

prov iders  and I  p resume a  new data  base o f  serv i ce  

prov iders  shou ld  be  es tab l i shed.   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   As  I  was to ld  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   As  you were  to ld .   Now the  f i rs t  

quest ion  wh ich  ar ises  i s  I  p resume tha t  th roughout  th is  10 

process you  were  rece iv ing  repor ts  in  your  capac i ty  as  

MEC for  Human Set t lements  as  to  th is  p rocess,  were  you? 

MR ZWANE:   No Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You were  no t?  

MR ZWANE:   I  was not .  I  was expect ing  a  f ina l  repor t  on  

the  f ina l  ou tcome because tha t  wou ld  de termine the  da te  o f  

us  s ta r t ing  the  bu i ld ing  o f  houses.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   R igh t .   By  28  Ju l y  2010  i t  must  

have been o f  some concern  to  you tha t  no  houses  had ye t  

been bu i l t  under  the  a l loca t ion  tha t  had been granted fo r  20 

tha t  yea r?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Were  you to ld  tha t  the  Pub l ic  

Tender  P rocess had been abandoned and tha t  a  da ta  base  

wou ld  be  crea ted? 
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MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And d id  you  agree to  tha t  p rocess?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes  I  d id  –  I  d id  agree to  the  process.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   R igh t .   Now why was the  tender  

p rocess s imp ly  abandoned and no t  cor rec ted?  

MR ZWANE:   I  may not  know the  de ta i l s  Cha i r  bu t  when I  

asked what  i s  go ing  to  be  the  d i f fe rence I  was to ld  t ha t  the  

da ta  base has been used by  prev ious MEC’s  be fore  me to  

const ruc t  houses  so  there  w i l l  be  no  issue a t  a l l  about  the  

da ta  base.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  th is  i s  a  new cont rac t .   I t  i s  to  

bu i ld  d i f fe ren t  houses.   The cont rac t  requ i red  a  p rocess to  

be  embarked upon.  

MR ZWANE:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r  bu t  you w i l l  remember  

ear l ie r  on  I  ind i ca ted  tha t  the  two processes were  no t  

ca tegor i sed under  the  same k ind  o f  unders tand ing .   The 

process o f  the  tender  o f  bu i ld ing  houses was as  a  normal  

tender  wh ich  w i l l  be  en te red in to  year  by  year.   And the  

process o f  bu i ld ing  –  bu i ld ing  b igger  houses was not  go ing  

to  be  par t  o f  the  spec i f i ca t ion  tha t  were  done in  t e rms o f  20 

ca l l ing  fo r  a  tender  o f  bu i ld ing  houses.   As  fa r  as  I  can 

remember.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes bu t  we know do we not  Mr  

Zwane tha t  th is  new data  base compr ised o f  the  par t ies  

who had b id  in  the  new tender  p rocess in  2010.   So these  
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were  new ent ran ts  on to  the  scene and they were  be ing  

a l lowed onto  the  scene w i thout  any fo rmal  tender  p rocess  

hav ing  be ing  embarked upon in  respect  o f  the i r  admiss ion  

a t  leas t .  

MR ZWANE:   Le t  me say a f te r  the  tender  was abandoned  

and the  da ta  base was fo l lowed there  were  requ i rements  

tha t  were  made by  EXCO which  is  the  execut ive  o f  Free  

S ta te  tha t  our  da ta  base shou ld  inc lude ca tegor ies  tha t  

were  no t  there  be fore  some o f  them.    

I t  shou ld  inc lude young peop le  tha t  wou ld  o f  cou rse  10 

come in  w i th  less  exper ience or  no  exper ience a t  a l l .   I t  

shou ld  i nc lude the  d i sab led  wh ich  were  no t  the re  ear l ie r  

on .   I t  shou ld  a lso  p ick  on  women wh ich  were  there  bu t  in  a  

smal le r  number.    

Of  course  the  exper ienced tha t  were  there  a l l  these  

years  and i t  shou ld  a lso  cons ide r  the  geograph ica l  spread  

o f  the  Prov ince because the  Prov ince is  d iv ided in to  f i ve  

reg ions i f  I  reca l l  we l l .    

And those were  the  issues tha t  the  da ta  base has –  

had to  cons ider  and su r ly  cons ider ing  those issues indeed 20 

there  wou ld  be  new ent ran ts  in  the  da ta  base Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r igh t  le t  us  go  back a  s tep .   The  

f i rs t  g roup o f  cont rac tors  tha t  fo rmed th is  new da ta  base 

tha t  was es tab l i shed in  2010 wou ld  have been the  

cont rac tors  who  b id  dur ing  the  lawfu l  tender  p rocess,  
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cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  inc luded those who were  

d isqua l i f ied  dur ing  the  course  o f  tha t  p rocess.   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   I  d id  no t  go  to  those  deta i l s  Cha i r.   A l l  what  I  

requested f rom the  Account ing  Of f i cer  and the  o f f ic ia ls  i s  

tha t  as  they compi led  the  da ta  base they shou ld  l ook in to  

these ca tegor ies  and o f  course  they wou ld  go  back and 

look a t  the  tender  tha t  was abandoned.   Not  on ly  tha t  the  

da ta  base had a lso  exper ienced  cont rac tors  I  want  to  10 

be l ieve  tha t  may not  have been in  th is  tender  p rocess.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  tha t  i s  the  ev idence.   A re  you  

say ing  you were  unaware  o f  the  inc lus ion  o f  d isqua l i f ied  

b idders  on  the  da ta  base?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So  th i s  happened desp i te  the  fac t  

tha t  you appeared to  have cont ro l led  the  process th i s  

happened w i thout  you r  knowledge? 

MR ZWANE:   I  d id  no t  cont ro l  the  process Cha i r.   The  

process was requ i red  to  be  approved by  me but  the  de ta i l s  20 

in  te rms o f  how the  da ta  base was compi led  I  gave the  

feedback f rom EXCO and a l lowed the  o f f i c ia ls  to  do  tha t  

and br ing  the  product  to  me.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  d id  you ask  them how th is  da ta  

base was eventua l l y  composed?  
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MR ZWANE:   I  cannot  exact ly  reca l l  tha t  Cha i r  bu t  what  I  

reca l l  i s  tha t  when the  da ta  base –  when the  f ina l  l i s t  f rom 

the  data  base was presented to  me I  had to  go  th rough i t  

and check ing  wha t  I  have requested them to  t ry  and comply  

w i th  because tha t  was the  dec is ion  by  the  EXCO.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r igh t  so  the  EXCO tha t  i s  cha i red 

by  the  Premier?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The EXCO sa id  tha t  a  new data  

base must  be  composed o r  compi led .   I t  must  comply  w i th  10 

cer ta in  requ i rements  and tha t  ins t ruc t ion  was passed onto  

you I  unders tand.   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   The  EXCO sa id  tha t  the  –  the  da ta  base tha t  

we a re  go ing  to  be  deve lop ing  shou ld  take  in to  

cons idera t ion  the  ca tegor ies  as  I  have sa id  them which  

may ac tua l l y  in  –  in  a  nu tshe l l  be  ca l led  the  prev ious ly  

d isadvantaged.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   A l r igh t .   You were  g iven an  

ins t ruc t ion  by  the  Prov inc ia l  EXCO which  is  a  commi t tee  o f  

the  Prov inc ia l  Cab ine t  cha i red  by  the  Premier  Mr  20 

Magashu le ,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You were  to ld  to  compi le  a  new data  

base tha t  compl ied  w i th  cer ta in  requ i rements  

communica ted  to  you,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  
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MR ZWANE:   Tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You then gave those ins t ruc t ions to  

o f f i c ia ls  to  compose th is  da ta  base o f  b idders  in  the i r  

d iscre t ion .  

MR ZWANE:   The o f f i c ia ls  wh ich  were  there  Cha i r  have  

been long in  t ha t  depar tment .   I t  i s  them tha t  wou ld  

ac tua l l y  take  me th rough the  processes as  they d id  when  

the  –when the  tender  fa i led .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   R igh t .  

MR ZWANE:   And I  cou ld  no t  d ic ta te  to  them in  te rms o f  10 

the  n i t t y  g r i t t y ’s  because f rom where  I  was seated tha t  was  

an admin is t ra t i ve  i ssue.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The point  I  am making,  is that  these 

ni t ty-gr i t t ies were qui te important .   These were the decisions 

that  decided or resul ted in people being admit ted to the 

database.   A discret ion of  an off ic ia l ,  not  an open tender 

process.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And did they report  to you as to how 

they exercised thei r  d iscret ion? 20 

MR ZWANE :    No,  they did not .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Did no one say to you but  you 

cannot do i t  th is way? 

MR ZWANE :    No.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You cannot give contracts for the 
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expendi ture of  state funds for the construct ion of  houses 

wi thout  going through a proper procurement process.   Did no 

one say that  to you?   

MR ZWANE :    I t  is  them that  suggested Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Who?  The off ic ia ls? 

MR ZWANE :    The off ic ia ls.   That  throughout the years the 

database has been used in the department by my 

predecessors and as a newcomer I  agreed with that  process 

for as long as i t  was going to help us move forward,  bui ld ing 

houses.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes but  here Mr Zwane, th is is a new 

database.    

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  has been created af ter a  tender 

process has been abandoned, correct? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  has been populated at  the 

discret ion of  off ic ia ls al though guidel ines have been given to 

you by cabinet .   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    No formal tender process,  therefore,  

would proceed the grant ing of  a contractor any part icular  

contractor on the database,  correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  is unlawful .   Were you never 
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aware of  that? 

MR ZWANE :    No,  I  was not  aware of  i t .   As I  have said 

ear l ier on,  I  was told that  th is has been the process that  has 

been fol lowed.  I  even asked,  based on what,  is i t  a PFMA 

process?  They to ld me i t  is a process under Housing Act .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Who told you that? 

MR ZWANE :    The off ic ia ls.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Which off ic ia ls?  Can you name 

them? 

MR ZWANE :    The HOD at  that  part icular  t ime was 10 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Is Mokoena? 

MR ZWANE :    Mpho Mokoena.  The CFO was Ms Seipat i  

Dlamini .   Those were the anchor in terms of  the department.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So you say Mr Mokoena and Ms 

Dlamini  to ld you that  i t  was perfect ly in order to just  create a 

database at  the d iscret ion of  off ic ia ls wi thout  going through 

a formal tender process before construct ion cont racts were 

awarded?  And you bel ieved them? 

MR ZWANE :    They said to me, the database,  as I  was 20 

interrogat ing,  should be advert ised through d i fferent  

processes but  the database has been used al l  these years 

before I  arr ived.   So I  bel ieved that  because I  was not  there 

Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes but  you are talk ing about a 



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 21 of 198 
 

database that  preceded your arr ival  as MEC, correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    In 2010/2011.  We are talk ing about 

a new database.    

MR ZWANE :    In  my understanding Chai r,  as I  was informed,  

the database of  the previous years would have fo l lowed what 

the off ic ia ls fo l lowed when they were developing a database 

of  2010.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  we are not  looking at  that  

for  the moment because we know that  in the 2010/2011 new 10 

database,  new contractors were admit ted.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    There is no evidence of  any formal  

tender process,  publ ic procurement process and I  st ress 

publ ic procurement process,  having been fol lowed.  Now you 

say that  you were assured by off ic ia ls that  th is was lawful .   

Did you check that? 

MR ZWANE :    No,  I  d id not  check i t  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Let  me ask th is quest ion.   Before the 

tender process that  was abandoned, was there,  to your  20 

knowledge, a database of  contractors that  the department 

was keeping? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay and . . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    I  was to ld.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    That  is how you were told? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then there was a tender,  an open 

tender process,  that  was embarked upon with  special  

reference to the 2010/2011 al locat ion? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  process was then. . .  that  process,  

before i t  was abandoned, had inc luded a determinat ion by 

the re levant  commit tee of  who met the minimum 

requi rements among those who put  in bids and who could. . .  10 

who could see that .   Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So there were those who were disqual i f ied 

because they did not  meet the minimum requi rements and 

there were those were judged as el ig ib le in meet ing those 

requi rements.   Is that  r ight?  

MR ZWANE :    That  is r ight ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And then the. . .  then that  process 

was abandoned because,  as I  understand i t  f rom other 

wi tnesses who have come before you,  the tender per iod had 20 

expired.   Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Now the discussion about a 

database,  as I  understand i t ,  i t  may be a new database,  

seems to have happened af ter the open tender process has 
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been abandoned.  Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is r ight ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In terms of  what you were told or in terms 

of  your  understanding,  the cont ractors who would be on the 

database that  was contemplated when the. . .  when you gave 

instruct ions to the off ic ia ls af ter being instructed by the 

execut ive counci l ,  who was i t  going to include?   

 Was i t  go ing to include those who may have been on the 

database before the open tender process happened and 

those who had put  in bids in response to the open tender 10 

process.   What  was your understanding who would be 

included in the database that  was being contemplated? 

MR ZWANE :    Wel l ,  as I  said ear l ier on Chai r,  the detai l  that  

the Chair  is  ta lk ing about in terms of  the numbers,  who 

qual i f ied,  who did not  qual i fy was not  brought to me.   

 The informat ion that  is presented to me.. .  I  would have 

said to the off ic ia ls:   Go, develop a database of  those who 

qual i fy.   Br ing i t  to me.   

 Let  us go through i t  together and just  check whether the 

cr i ter ia that  the Exco has requested us to  al ign our ourselves 20 

wi th has been met .   And then approve the database and start  

the bui ld ing of  the houses.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  obviously you had a certain  

understanding when Exco effect ively gave you certain 

instruct ion about  th is. . .  about  the compi lat ion of  a database.   
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Was your understanding that  th is was going to be a newly 

created database? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.   That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes okay.   And was your understanding. . .  

what  was your understanding as to  who would qual i fy to be 

in th is database that  Exco asked you to ask the off ic ia l  to put  

together? 

MR ZWANE :    The process of  tender ing,  as this process was 

start ing,  was a process that  I  welcomed as an MEC. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

MR ZWANE :    The process was not  abandoned because of  

me.  I t  was abandoned because of  these reasons that  

off ic ia ls have put  here.   I t  was not  control led by me(?) .    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR ZWANE :    I  then went back and asked:   Are you going to  

re-advert ise the tender?  Then I  was told that  no there is a 

database that  has been used by previous MEC’s that  were 

here before you and i t  is pret ty legal .    

 Then I  requested the off ic ia ls to go through and develop 

that  database and br ing the f inal  product  so that  we check 20 

the cr i ter ia that  Exco has set  for us and approve the l ist .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Was your understanding that  in creat ing 

that  database,  the off ic ia ls were l imi ted to the contractors 

who were al ready on the database of  the department?  Was 

your understanding that  they were not  l imi ted to those 
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contractors?  They could actual ly  go out  of  that  database 

and br ing in who.. .  br ing into the database other  

contractors? 

MR ZWANE :    My expectat ion Chai r  was that  where they 

meet  up wi th hiccups that  wi l l  requi re them to go outside the 

law . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The system database.  

MR ZWANE :    Ja.   They would come back and report  so that  

we f ind a solut ion to that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

MR ZWANE :    But  i f  they br ing a database,  as I  have 

requested,  and I  check that  the database is according to the 

cr i ter ia that  we have set ,  I  approve that  database.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes okay.   So would i t  be correct  therefore 

to say maybe subject  to whatever requirements,  the off ic ia ls 

were not  l imi ted in any way in terms of  who they could put  on 

the l ist  on the database? 

MR ZWANE :    I  may not  know that  detai l  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Because in their  presentat ion,  they have been 20 

deal ing wi th th is database.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    They knew how to go about deal ing w i th th is 

database . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  
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MR ZWANE :    . . . in a manner that  is wi th in the prescr ipts of  

the law.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    So I  expected off ic ia ls to go and fol low that  

procedure and br ing the f inal  product  to me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  in the end,  whatever l ist  you were 

given,  you accepted that  in could be. . .  i t  could include 

contractors who had not  been in the database of  the 

department before.    

 In other words,  when new ent rance into the database.   10 

Of course,  you expected that  you wanted to see cont ractors 

that  were run or  owned by women, people wi l l  d isabi l i t ies 

and young people included in that  l ist  as wel l .  

MR ZWANE :    Those people who wi l l  meet the cr i ter ia as 

said by Exco . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    . . . in  my thinking . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .and my understanding . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR ZWANE :    . . .were part  of  the people who had tendered.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    And when the tender was abandoned, i t  means 

those people who were part  of  th is scope because I  have not  

even seen the database before which was in existence.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR ZWANE :    So when I  said they should go back and when 

they brought the f inal  product  to  me, I  thought they were 

able to f ind everybody they need in  terms of  the cr i ter ia  

wi thin the prescr ipts of  the law.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   I  thought that  last  part ,  you were 

going to say wi thin the group of  contractors who were ei ther 

al ready on the database or who had put  in bids,  but  that  is  

not  what you mean because I  th ink you did say they could 

get  somebody who.. .  other people who were inside who had 10 

not  put  in bids and who were not  on the database al ready.   Is  

that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You had no problem i f  somebody,  i f  they 

brought a cont ractor  or contractors who had not  put  in bids 

and who had been on the database of  the department,  as 

long as they enhanced the issues that  you had. . .  that  Exco 

had been concerned about,  namely women, people wi th  

disabi l i t ies and young people.  

MR ZWANE :    I  would def in i te ly  have asked them what  20 

cr i ter ia they fol low . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    They fol lowed, ja .  

MR ZWANE :    . . . in  get t ing these people outside.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    I  would have def in i te ly ra ised that  quest ion.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes okay.   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  seems then that  dur ing 2010,  in 

fact ,  in Apri l  2010,  a lawful  publ ic procurement process was 

embarked upon by the department in order to ident i fy  

contractors who wi l l  bui ld low-cost  housing in the Free State 

Province.   That  we have establ ished.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    According to my knowledge Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    As they. . .  as that  was reported to me.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes al r ight .   We have severa l  10 

wi tnesses who said that  i t  is a matter of  publ ic record.   That  

process was abandoned for whatever reason.   That  is also a 

matter of  publ ic record now.   You know about  i ts 

abandonment,  correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The resolut ion of  that  s i tuat ion is  

one aspect  that  we wi l l  deal  wi th .   The other aspect  is I  

understand that  cabinet  or the Exco of  the provinc ial  cabinet  

made a decision that  a new database should be created,  

comprising of  people f rom var ious categories.   That  20 

instruct ion was then given to you.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And on receipt  of  that  instruct ion you 

instructed your off ic ia ls to populate the database but  they 

did so in their  d iscret ion under your  instruct ion,  correct? 
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MR ZWANE :    No,  that  is not  correct  Chai r.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    How would they ident i fy i t?  

MR ZWANE :    On receipt  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And who ident i f ied i t?  

MR ZWANE :    On receipt  of  the inst ruct ion by Exco,  I  went 

back to my off ic ia ls.   I  re lated this. . .  the instruct ion.   A 

tender process was opened and later  abandoned because of  

the reasons that  have been given here to date,  the reasons 

not  caused by me.    

 Then af ter the process I  requested a report  in terms of  a  10 

way forward.   That  is when this issue of  a database was 

ra ised to me by the off ic ia ls.   I  d id not  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    By? 

MR ZWANE :    By the off ic ia ls,  the HOD.  I  d id not  ask a 

database f rom nowhere.   The issue was brought to  me.  I t  

was given to me as an informat ion that  the department has 

been fol lowing a l l  these years a database in bui ld ing houses.   

And I  then requested them to develop that  database,  taking 

into considerat ion a cr i ter ia that  Exco has requested us to 

fo l low.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So who would go out  and ident i fy  

contractors to  put  them on the database by apply ing the 

cr i ter ia given to you by Exco? 

MR ZWANE :    That  funct ion is a funct ion that  is assigned to 

the account ing off icer,  held by his or her senior off ic ia ls 
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Chai r.   That  is why I  commit ted(?) i t  and set t led i t  wi th him.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So in the discret ion of  the HOD, on 

your evidence,  and in the discret ion of  off ic ia ls who reported 

to the HOD, cont ractors would be ident i f ied and put  on the 

database? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And you were informed that  that  was 

ent i rely legal? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is what I  was told.  

CHAIRPERSON :    What was your  understanding of  the 10 

impl icat ions or the facts of  a cont ractor be ing put  on the 

database,  for example,  in terms of  being given a contract  or  

a job? 

MR ZWANE :    I  d id ask that  quest ion Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR ZWANE :    You wi l l  remember I  responded to that  

quest ion ear l ier on that  when I  asked that  quest ion,  I  was 

even told that  what was being fo l lowed is the act  that  is 

cal led the Housing Act  and th is. . .   

 The development of  new database have been a process 20 

that  was undertaken before I  arr ived.    

 And having that  informat ion,  I  could not  detect  that  

part icular t ime anything i l legal  about  th is process because I  

am told by the person who has been there about. . .  who has 

spent  15-years wi th th is process and nobody has chal lenged 
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th is process before.  

 And he says,  th is is the process that  we have been 

fol lowing.   Then I  gave them permission to fo l low that 

process and develop a database as they would normal ly do.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  Mr Mokoena who was HOD who 

told you that? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So he is  the person who said,  we can use 

a database as opposed to an open-tender process to award 

contracts? 10 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And you said that  there was something 

that  was. . .  could be done under the Housing Act? 

MR ZWANE :    He said that  i t  is something that  they have 

been doing . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .a l l  these years wi th the previous 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    MEC’s.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .MEC’s before me.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  I  thought you also said,  he sa id doing 

things that  way was what was provided for  in  the Housing 

Act .  
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MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.   That  is what I  said.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  what you said.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Okay.   But  in  going back to my 

quest ion.   I  understand what you have just  said and i t  is  

important .   Was your  understanding that  once a person or  a 

contractor  had been placed on the database in  th is  manner 

that  was suggested by Mr Mokoena, there would. . .  they 

could then be given jobs by the department wi thout  any 

further process or publ ic  process?  Or was your 10 

understanding that  there could or there would st i l l  be some 

open compet i t ive process? 

MR ZWANE :    My understanding is  that  they would develop 

this database.   A f ter the database is developed, then the 

people wi l l  be brought forward.   Those who have not . . .  no 

capaci ty,  the department wi l l  devise means to be able to  

capaci tate them in the process of  developing,  the moving 

forward but  work would start .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    So your understanding was that ,  once they 

were on the database,  then subject  to the department 

helping some who needed to be capaci tated and so on,  

subject  to that ,  they would be given work? 

MR ZWANE :    That  was the understanding which was given 
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to me Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  was given by Mr Mokoena? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Under your  watch Mr  Zwane, 

R 1.4 bi l l ion was al located for the construct ion of  low-cost  

housing.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I  would imagine that  wherever the 

execut ion of  part icular  tasks lay that  as MEC you would be 10 

accountable for the lawful  of  the expendi ture of  that  money.   

Let  alone the eff ic ient  and successful  expendi ture of  that  

money,  correct? 

MR ZWANE :    My duty,  according to the law Chai r,  was to 

receive reports in terms of  the expendi ture of  that  money.   

The account ing off icer wi l l  be responsible for the 

management of  the f inances of  the department  in an 

effect ive and eff ic ient  manner.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And lawful .  

MR ZWANE :    And any unauthorised expendi ture,  he had al l  20 

the r ight  to actual ly stop or al low i t .   I f  he a l lows i t . . .  In fact ,  

the law says,  when there is  any inst ruct ion given even by the 

author i ty that  has f inancial  impl icat ions,  that  instruct ion 

should be given in  wri t ing.    

 And the account ing off icer,  i f  he or she does not  agree 
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wi th that  decision,  must  in wri t ing advise the author i ty that  

that  decision can actual ly have the unauthor ised issues.    

 I f  the execut ive persuade or instruct  further that  th is  

decision,  unlawful  decision should be done, that  should be 

reported by the account ing off icer to Nat ional  Treasury,  

Provincial  Treasury i f  we are in the province and the off ice of  

the Audi tor General  to ensure that  he covers himsel f .    

 Those,  according to law, are the powers given to the 

account ing off icer.   So i f  I  get  a report  f rom the account ing 

off icer  that  says that  we are st i l l  on t ract  on this matter,  I  10 

interrogate the report  in terms of  my knowledge and i f  I  am 

sat isf ied and he is  happy about the report ,  then we cont inue.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Right .   Wel l ,  two quest ions ar ise.   

The f i rst  is,  that  th is has been put  to Mr Mokoena that  he 

was the account ing off icer  and he was,  to  use the term,  

accountable in terms of  the Publ ic Finance Management Act  

for what happened under his watch.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Is there any explanat ion as to why 

he was not  he ld accountable for  what happened in  20 

2010/2011? 

MR ZWANE :    Wel l ,  Chai r  I  must  indicate that  unt i l  I  lef t  the 

department in 2011,  th is matter  of  the i l legal i ty  of  the 

database had not  been brought to the fore by anyone.  The 

instruct ions which would have brought th is th ing to my 
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at tent ion was Treasury and the audi t  report  and. . .   

 So at  no stage I  had ignored i t  as far as I  can remember.   

A report  that  points to that  di rect ion that  th is issue has to be 

at tended to and then I  ignore.   No.   I  do not  recal l  mysel f  

ignoring such a report  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Have i t  been drawn to your at tent ion 

that  anything in  the course of  the execut ion of  publ ic  

procurement dur ing 2010/2011 was unlawful ,  what  would you 

have done? 

MR ZWANE :    I  would have acted . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    How? 

MR ZWANE :    . . .on the report  based on the ser iousness of  

what has happened which is i l legal .   The people who were 

advising me, the account ing off icer  is head of  the pack,  

would have accounted for whatever i r regular i ty.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Okay but  what would you have done 

as MEC had you been told dur ing the course of  2010/2011 

that  what was being done with in  the department was i l legal?  

What would you have done? 

MR ZWANE :    We would have stopped i t .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You would have stopped i t?  

MR ZWANE :    Ja,  I  would have stopped i t  immediate ly Chai r.   

My interest  was not  that  much in the names of  the people 

appearing on the database.   My interest ,  as I  re lated i t  to the 

off ic ia ls,  was that  there should be service del ivery on the 
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ground as we had promised people.    

 Remember,  according to the PFMA, my role is  to take 

the needs of  the major i ty of  the people and serve.   Turn that  

needs,  those needs into a pol icy,  determine the outcomes 

and hand i t  over to the account ing off icer for implementat ion 

and the determinat ion of  the outputs.   I  would have done 

exact ly that  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Wel l ,  as I  understand,  you descr ib ing 

the role of  an MEC, i t  is a matter of  formulat ing pol icy and 

then handing i t  to the off ic ia ls for the execut ion of  that  10 

pol icy.   Very broadly speaking,  that  is how you descr ibed i t .   

Do I  understand that  correct ly? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A l r ight .   Just  to summarise so we 

can move forward.   Mr Zwane, we have two things occurr ing 

in the procurement process in the Free State in 2010/2011.   

F irst ,  we have a publ ic procurement process which is 

abandoned and the creat ion of  a new database,  correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Second, we have a decis ion f rom 20 

Exco saying that  var ious categories of  persons must  be 

ident i f ied and placed onto a database,  correct? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    That  lat ter inst ruct ion f rom Exco 

went via to you to the off ic ia ls in  your department .   Am I  
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correct? 

MR ZWANE :    To just  set  the record st raight .   Exco is 

at tended by both the MEC and the execut ive but  in terms of  

the responsibi l i ty of  the implementat ion of  the Exco decision,  

the MEC wi l l  have to carry that  responsibi l i ty to go back to  

Exco.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry Mr Zwane.  You might  have to 

clar i fy something.   You have just  made a statement that  Exco 

is at tended by both the MEC and the execut ive.   Now Exco 

stands for Execut ive Counci l .   Those are the MEC’s of  the 10 

provinces and the premier.   Is that  r ight?  That  is an Exco? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is. . .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Am I  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    You are r ight  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   So to  say Exco is  a t tended by  bo th  

the  MECs and the  execut ive ,  a re  you re fer r i ng  to  the  

HODs? 

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR ZWANE:    HODs in  the  Free S ta te  …[ in tervenes]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  o f  the  d i f fe ren t  depar tments .  

MR ZWANE:    Of  the  depar tment  –  d i f fe ren t  depar tments  

wou ld  normal ly  fo rm par t  o f  the  Exco meet ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Par t  o f  the  Exco ,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  a l l  the  t ime or  on ly  when there  

are  cer ta in  i ssues tha t  they need to  dea l  w i th .  

MR ZWANE:    In  the  Exco Free  S ta te most  o f  the  t ime 

un less  the  Premier  spec i fy  tha t  in  th is  Exco we w i l l  need  

on ly  the  MEC.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    Bu t  most  o f  the  t imes we both  a t tend.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  jus t  to  make sure  tha t  we are  a l l  on  

the  same page when we make – when we use these  te rms.   

When we ta lk  about  Exco,  s t r i c t l y  speak ing ,  tha t  i s  the 10 

Premie r  and the  MECs on ly  bu t  anyone e lse  who a t tends  

an Exco meet ing  a t tends …[ in tervenes]  

MR ZWANE:    By  inv i ta t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    By  inv i ta t ion .   But  o therw ise ,  when you 

say Exco,  you are  no t  inc lud ing  HODs,  you are  ta lk ing  

about  the  Prov inc ia l  Execut ive  Counc i l  bu t  o ther  peop le  

may be inv i ted  and o thers  m ight  have a  s tand ing  inv i ta t ion  

to  a t tend un less  exc luded,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  so  when we say Exco we are  20 

re fer r i ng  to  the  Premie r  and h is  MECs but  o ther  peop le  

may a t tend on inv i ta t ion .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR ZWANE:    The po in t  I  was mak ing  is  tha t  in  the  Free  
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S ta te  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  most  o f  the  t ime the  HODs wou ld  

a t tend.  

MR ZWANE:    The HODs were  pa r t  o f  the  s tand ing  

inv i ta t ion  to  the  Exco.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The Exco meet ing  to  wh ich  you  

have re fer red ,  Mr  Zwane,  more  o r  less  when d id  tha t  take  

p lace?  

MR ZWANE:    When I  may not  reca l l  exact ly,  Cha i r,  bu t  i t  10 

was ea r l ie r  in  the  year  because in  the  S ta te  o f  the 

Prov inc ia l  Address,  i f  I  reca l l  we l l ,  the  Premier  o f  the  Free 

S ta te  Prov ince announced tha t  the  prov ince w i l l  be  bu i ld ing  

b igger  and bet te r  houses and immedia te l y  a f te r  tha t  S ta te 

o f  the  Prov ince Address depar tments  w i l l  then p ick  up  what  

they need to  do .   Go back and dev ise  means to  imp lement .   

So normal ly  the  S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince Address is  a round 

February.   So around February /March,  I  shou ld  th ink .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And there  wou ld  be  minutes  o f  tha t  

meet ing  presumably?  20 

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So tha t  ra ises  a  fu r ther  quest ion ,  i f  

in  February /March Exco is  say ing  go  and popu la te  a  

da tabase o f  cont rac to rs  to  bu i ld  houses in  2010/2011,  how 

d id  i t  come about  tha t  in  Apr i l  a  pub l i c  p rocurement  
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p rocess was tak ing  p lace?  I t  seems tha t  there  were  two 

para l le l  p rocesses.   Rather  s t range.  

MR ZWANE:    We l l ,  Cha i r,  tha t  quest ion  I  th ink  w i l l  be  best  

su i ted  to  be  answered by  the  account ing  o f f i ce r  because 

normal ly  once we  as  po l i t i c ians have made a  dec i s ion ,  he  

has to  imp lement .   But  I  must  ind ica te  to  th is  Commiss ion  

tha t  a f te r  the  S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince Address,  d i f fe ren t  

depar tments  must  then fo l low su i t  in  mak ing  budget  

s ta tement  po l i cy.    

That  i s  a  p rocess  tha t  i s  fo l lowed by  each and every  10 

depar tment  and a f te r  tha t  p rocess,  the  pub l i c  

announcement ,  l ike  in  the  S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince Address by  

depar tments ,  then HODs have  to  s ta r t  imp lement ing  

accord ing  to  the  budget  s ta tement  po l i cy  o f  the  

depar tment .   In  my own th ink ing  i s  tha t  i t  cou ld  have been 

poss ib le  tha t  the  t ime wh ich  was wasted was between the  

S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince and the  budget  po l i cy  s ta tement  o f  

the  depar tment  because I  cannot  reca l l  exact ly  when was 

our  budget  s ta tement ,  the  po l i cy,  the  da te  o f  tha t  

s ta tement .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:     Wel l ,  fo r tunate l y  we are  dea l ing  

fo r  the  moment  a t  leas t  w i th  the  Human Set t lements  

Depar tment  and  we are  dea l ing  w i th  the  procurement  

p rocess.   Do I  unders tand i t  cor rec t l y  tha t  p r io r  to  Apr i l  

2010 there  was an ins t ruc t ion  g iven by  Exco to  the  Human 
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Se t t lements  Depar tment  who popu la ted  database in  

acco rdance w i th  cer ta in  c r i te r ia  wh ich  were  named?  Do I  

unders tand your  ev idence co r rec t l y?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And a t  the  same t ime in  Apr i l  2010 

a  pub l i c  p rocurement  p rocess,  tender  p rocess,  was  

embarked upon to  ident i f y  cont rac tors  fo r  the  const ruc t ion  

o f  low cost  hous ing  in  the  Free S ta te  Prov ince,  co r rec t?  

MR ZWANE:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    D id  you unders tand tha t  the re  were  10 

two pa ra l le l  p rocesses happen ing? 

MR ZWANE:    Namely?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A database is  be ing  crea ted wh ich  

is  popu la ted  under  the  ins t ruc t ion  o f  Exco a t  the  d i sc re t ion  

o f  o f f i c ia ls  and the  HOD on the  one hand who cou ld  be  

g iven work .   And  on the  o ther  hand,  a  pub l i c  p rocurement  

p rocess is  taken p lace where  tendere rs  wou ld  be  eva lua ted  

accord ing  to  cer ta in  c r i te r ia  and then wou ld  be  g iven work  

on  the  bas i s  o f  tha t  eva lua t ion .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  no t  cor rec t .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l ,  then …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  he  is  ask ing  fo r  you unders tand ing ,  

what  was your  unders tand ing  o f  i t .  

MR ZWANE:    My unders tand ing  on th is  mat te r,  as  I  have 

sa id  ear l ie r  on ,  i s  tha t  the  f i rs t  p rocess tha t  went  to  a  po in t  
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where  i t  was abandoned …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Open tender  p rocess?  

MR ZWANE:    I t  i s  an  open tender  p rocess.   I t  was not  a  

para l le l  p rocess.   I t  went  ahead  unt i l  i t  was abandoned.   

When th i s  p rocess was abandoned ,  I  requested fo r  a  way  

fo rward ,  as  I  had  sa id  ear l ie r  on ,  tha t  i s  when the  i ssue o f  

the  da tabase was  ra ised.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  tha t  i s  someth ing  I  rea l ly  wou ld  

l i ke  c la r i f i ca t ion  on  because ear l i e r  on  I  was under  the  

impress ion  tha t  the  meet ing  where  Exco gave the  10 

ins t ruc t ion  you have ta lked about  was – or  took p lace a f te r  

the  open tender  p rocess had been abandoned.    

So I  thought  okay,  so  i t  means  tha t  Exco was  

updated as  to  what  was happen ing  tha t  the  tender  p rocess 

was abandoned and then was to ld  tha t  here  is  a  way in  

wh ich  i t  i s  sought  to  address the  i ssue and then they make  

the i r  own suggest ions.    

But  you have,  in  answer  to  Mr  Pre tor ius ’ quest ions,  

you have sa id  tha t  meet ing  ac tua l l y  happened much ea r l ie r  

in  the  year  so  tha t  does appear  on  the  face  o f  i t  to  suggest  20 

two para l le l  p rocesses but  tha t  m ight  be  a  I  

m isunders tand ing .   So h is  quest ion  rea l l y  i s  how – what  d id  

i t  mean to  be  pu t  on  the  da tabase when the re  i s  an  open 

tender  p rocess  where  peop le  are  be ing  inv i ted  –  

cont rac tors  a re  be ing  inv i ted  to  tender.   That  i s  where  I  
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th ink  the  quest ion  is .   

MR ZWANE:    Le t  me t ry  and exp la in  i t  in  te rms o f  how I  

unders tand i t ,  Cha i r.   The Exco,  as  the  dec i s ion  cha in ,  d id  

no t  p rescr ibe  to  the  depar tment  what  way to  fo l low.   What  

Exco requested is  tha t  the  f ina l  p roduct  –  you may ca l l  i t  a  

l i s t  because I  th ink  what  may be an issue he re  is  th is  word  

da tabase.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR ZWANE:    The f ina l  p roduct  –  le t  us  fo r  the  purpose o f  

the  …[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    The f ina l  l i s t .  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  le t  us  say i t  i s  a  f ina l  l i s t .   The f ina l  l i s t  

must  inc lude the  cr i te r ia  tha t  Exco  has g i ven.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Has spec i f ied .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.   And Exco does not  say  to  us  fo r  the 

f ina l  l i s t  you mus t  go  the  rou te  o f  open tender  o r  da tabase.   

Th is  i s  what  Exco  wants ,  we move,  there  is  an  open  tender  

tha t  has been abandoned and  then an issue  o f  the  

da tabase is  ra i sed and tha t  i ssue is  be ing  fo l lowed and 

tha t  i ssue produces a  l i s t  tha t  Exco has requested.  20 

 So w i th  Exco  we were  no t  d iscuss ing  the  

mechan ism o f  how to  move fo rward  in  the  p roduct ion  o f  the  

f ina l  l i s t ,  we were  supposed to  fo l low what  i s  w i th in  the  law 

and once we have done tha t ,  Exco –  the  l i s t  w i l l  be  taken  

to  Exco fo r  a  check whether  the  cr i te r ia  has been fo l lowed 
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and we s tar t  the  process o f  de l i ve r ing  houses.  

CHAIRPERSON:     So  was Exco ’s  concern  tha t  u l t imate ly  

the  l i s t  tha t  –  the  l i s t  o f  cont rac tors  who wou ld  be  awarded 

cont rac ts  wou ld  take  account  o f  the  requ i rements  tha t  they 

spec i fy.   How tha t  l i s t  came about  was le f t  to  the  o f f i c ia ls ,  

i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Why wou ld  –  i f  there  i s  an  open  tender 

p rocess w i thout  a  da tabase,  cont rac tors  who w ished  to pu t  

in  b ids  wou ld  be  ab le  to  pu t  in  b ids  and tha t  wou ld  inc lude  10 

cont rac tors  tha t  were  run  by  women or  owned by  women – 

cont rac t  –  and peop le  w i th  d isab i l i t ies  and young peop le .   

So,  in  o the r  words,  w i thout  ta lk ing  about  a  da tabase,  you  

wou ld  s t i l l  –  the  open tender  p rocess cou ld  s t i l l  p roduce a  

l i s t  tha t  wou ld  sa t is fy  the  requ i rements  tha t  Exco had in  

m ind,  i s  tha t  no t  so?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  so ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So why d id  Exco not  leave the  

who le  i ssue o f  the  f ina l  l i s t  tha t  has go t  to  them to  the  

open tender  p rocess tha t  I  assume they knew wou ld  be  20 

fo l lowed?  

MR ZWANE:    Exco d id  no t  s top  the  open tender,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  no ,  I  accept  tha t  i t  d id  no t ,  a t  

leas t  fo r  now.  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  am jus t  ask ing  the  quest ion .   They  

must  have known tha t  in  o rder  fo r  the  Prov inc ia l  

Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lements  to  bu i ld  houses w i th  the  

fund ing  tha t  came f rom the  Nat iona l  Depar tment ,  th is  

cond i t iona l  a l loca t ion ,  they must  have known tha t  an  open 

tender  pub l i c  p rocess wou ld  be  in i t ia ted .   Am I  r igh t  in  

th ink ing  a long those l ines?  

MR ZWANE:    We l l ,  no t  en t i re ly,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Not  en t i re ly.  

MR ZWANE:    Tak ing  in to  account  tha t  we were  to ld  –  and  10 

th is  i s  what  I  re la ted  a lso  to  Exco.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    That  there  has been a  process tha t  was  

fo l lowed by  th is  depar tment  th roughout  a l l  these years .  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  use the  da tabase w i thout  an  open  

tender?  

MR ZWANE:    To  use the  da tabase ,  ja .   Ja ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  so  –  because I  must  have I  

m isunders tood,  ear l ie r  on  I  though t  you were  to ld  tha t  a f te r  

the  abandonment  o f  the  open tender  p rocess when you  20 

were  ask ing  fo r  the  way fo rward ,  bu t  f rom what  you say you  

were  to ld  ac tua l l y  even before  the  open tender  p rocess  

was in i t ia ted ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    To ld  by…? 

CHAIRPERSON:    The o f f i c ia ls .  
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MR ZWANE:    I  am say ing  I  was new in  Exco,  the re  were  

MECs who have  been the re  be fore  myse l f .   They knew 

these processes,  tha t  i s  why I  am say ing  no t  en t i re ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  you have jus t  –  what  you have to ld  

me is  tha t  in  te rms o f  what  Exco knew,  you sa id  i t  was not  

–  I  was not  en t i re ly  cor rec t  to  th ink  tha t  Exco wou ld  have  

known tha t  he  bu i ld ing  o f  houses wou ld  be  preceded by  an  

open tender  p rocess and then you  sa id  because they a l so  10 

knew and you to ld  them tha t  you had been in fo rmed  tha t  in  

the  past  the  da tabase had been used ins tead o f  an  open  

tender  p rocess.   That  i s  my unders tand ing  o f  what  you  

sa id ,  am I  r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  to ld  them a f te r  I  was to ld  by  the  o f f i c ia l  

a f te r  the  tender  –  open tender  p rocess had  been  

abandoned.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay,  you on ly  to ld  Exco about  

what  the  –  about  the  use o f  the  da tabase in  the  p lace o f  an 

open tender  a f te r  the  tender  p rocess had been abandoned.  20 

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   P r io r  to  the  open tender  p rocess  

happen ing ,  be ing  in i t ia ted ,  were  you aware  o f  tha t  pos i t ion  

i r respect ive  o f  your  source  o f  in fo rmat ion ,  namely  tha t  

be fore  you –  the  depar tment  d id  –  or  wou ld  somet imes use 
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the  da tabase in  the  p lace o f  an  open tender  p rocess to  

award  cont rac ts?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You d id  no t  know tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  I  d id  no t  know.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Do you know whether  Exco knew 

tha t  a t  the  t ime they gave the  ins t ruc t ions about  the  

da tabase?  

MR ZWANE:     On th is  I  p resume tha t  on  the  s t rength  tha t  

some o f  my co l leagues have been there .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR ZWANE:    And I  was to ld  tha t  these processes have  

been tak ing  p lace .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    A l l  these years .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR ZWANE:    I  p resume tha t  some o f  my co l leagues in  the  

Exco knew.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   So go ing  back to  wha t  Exco 

contempla ted  wou ld  happen,  because you were  par t  o f  

Exco,  when i t  gave ins t ruc t ions about  the  crea t ion  o f  a  

da tabase,  I  was suggest ing  to  you tha t  Exco wou ld  have 

known tha t  be fo re  the  depar tment  wou ld  award  cont rac ts  
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fo r  the  bu i ld ing  o f  houses the re  wou ld  be  an open tender  

p rocess.   I s  my th ink ing  o f  what  they knew cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now the  quest i on  tha t  a r ises ,  i s  i f  they  

knew tha t  there  was go ing  to  be  an  open tender  p rocess 

where  eve ryone wou ld  be  inv i ted  to  pu t  in  b ids  i f  they  

cou ld  bu i ld  houses,  why d id  they no t  leave the  quest ion  o f  

the  l i s t  to  be  de termined th rough tha t  p rocess ra ther  than 10 

say then the  depar tment  must  c rea te  a  da tabase tha t  wou ld  

take  care  o f  the  requ i rements  tha t  they spec i f ied .   Why was  

tha t  necessary?  

MR ZWANE:    Cha i r,  I  thought  I  t r ied  to  exp la in  th i s  be fore ,  

tha t  …[ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you may have t r ied  and I  d id  no t  

unders tand.   P lease t ry  aga in .  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  okay.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR ZWANE:    Le t  me g ive  i t  a  t ry  aga in ,  Cha i r.   Exco was  20 

in te res ted  in  the  f ina l  p roduct ,  tha t  i s  the  l i s t .   I  may have  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you sa id  tha t ,  ja .  

MR ZWANE:    …th is  da tabase before .   They were  on ly  

in te res ted  in  the  f ina l  p roduct ,  wh ich  i s  the  f ina l  l i s t  and 
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tha t  the  process o f  ob ta in ing  the  f ina l  l i s t  was a  process o f  

the  depar tment .    

That  i s  why the  depar tment  fo l lowed an open tender  

un t i l  i t  was abandoned.   And when th is  p rocess was 

abandoned,  I  asked fo r  a  way fo rward  no t  f rom Exco but  

f rom my o f f i c ia l .   That  i s  when the  issue o f  a  da tabase was 

ra ised.   And a f te r  some exp lanat ion  we agreed  tha t  a  

da tabase shou ld  be  fo l lowed.    

I  repor ted  a t  tha t  moment  to  Exco  because I  had to  

repor t  p rogress i n  te rms o f  when are  we bu i ld ing  houses.   I  10 

repor ted  tha t  there  has been th is  i ssue and here  are  the  

reasons and th is  i s  the  way fo rward  as  suggested and Exco 

agreed w i th  tha t  way fo rward .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  way fo rwarded be ing  …[ in tervenes]  

MR ZWANE:    Da tabase.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Us ing  the  da tabase in  the  p lace o f  an  

open tender  p rocess?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  tha t  has been abandoned.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  had been abandoned,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  the  meet ing  o f  Exco tha t  happened 

pr io r  to  the  in i t ia t ion  o f  the  pub l i c  tender  p rocess,  i s  there  

a  meet ing  a t  wh ich  –  tha t  i s  p r io r  to  the  in i t ia t ion  o f  the  

open tender  p rocess,  i s  there  a  meet ing  a t  wh ich  Exco 

ta lked about  a  da tabase fo r  t he  depar tment  because  
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in i t ia l l y,  what  you  have jus t  to ld  me,  i s  in  accordance w i th  

my in i t ia l  unders tand ing  o f  what  you were  say ing .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  then there  was a  t ime when you  

were  answer ing  cer ta in  o f  Mr  Pre tor ius ’ quest ions and I  

unders tood you  to  be  say ing  Exco ac tua l l y  gave tha t  

ins t ruc t ion  no t  long a f te r  the  S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince 

Address.  

MR ZWANE:    That  was in  connect ion  w i th  the  s ta tement  o f  

b igger  and bet te r  houses,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    That  s ta tement  was  made in  the  S ta te  o f  the 

Prov ince Address .   In  the  S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince Address  

the  de ta i l s  o f  open tender  da tabase are  no t  pa r t  o f  tha t  

S ta te  o f  the  Prov ince Address.   I t  was the  s ize  o f  the  

houses,  the  –  in  look  o f  the  houses  because …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The s ize  and the  qua l i t y.  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  s ize  and qua l i t y  aspects  l i ke  ce i l ing  and  

bath  ins ide .   Those were  the  issues tha t  were  announced in  

a round February /March,  as  I  have sa id  to  Mr  Pre tor ius.   20 

Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  my quest ion  is  whether  there  was a  

meet ing  o f  Exco  tha t  took p lace  a f te r  the  S ta te  o f  the  

Prov ince Address bu t  be fore  the  in i t ia t ion  o f  the  open 

tender  p rocess a t  wh ich  Exco gave an ins t ruc t ion  tha t  the 
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depar tment  shou ld  pu t  together  a  da tabase or  was there  no  

such meet ing  where  such a  th ing  was sa id?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  I  cannot  reca l l  tha t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  so  the  on ly  t ime when you ta lked  

to  –  when you have tes t i f ied  about  Exco g i v ing  ins t ruc t ions 

tha t  the  depar tment  shou ld  comp i le  a  da tabase,  tha t  i s  

a f te r  the  open tender  p rocess had  been abandoned .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Thank you.   Mr  P re tor ius ,  

I  see tha t  we a re  a t  near l y  twenty  f i ve  past .   Do you want  10 

to  ask  quest ions be fore  we take the  ad journment?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Take the  shor t  ad journment ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   Le t  us  take  the  tea  

ad journment ,  we w i l l  resume a t  twenty  to  twe lve .   We 

ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   I t  w i l l  he lp  us  

move fo rward  Mr  Zwane i f  we got  the  sequence o f  events  20 

r igh t .    You spoke about  an  EXCO meet ing  towards the  

beg inn ing  o f  the  year  be fore  Apr i l  2010,  do  you reca l l  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  unders tood your  ev idence  ear l ie r  

to  be  tha t  i t  was a t  tha t  meet ing  tha t  EXCO sa id  es tab l i sh  
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a  da tabase and  make sure  tha t  cer ta in  ca tegor ies  o f  

cont rac tor  appear  on  tha t  da tabase.   I t  seems tha t  I  

unders tood you wrong,  o r  you were  wrong,  e i the r,  co r rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    Bu t  I  have s ince  t r ied  to  c la r i f y  that  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  le t  us  c la r i f y  tha t .  

MR ZWANE:    I t  was the  usage o f  da tabase maybe in  a  

confus ing  way.   I  shou ld  have sa id  i t  was in  tha t  meet ing  

where  EXCO sa id  o ther  f ina l  l i s t  no t  a  da tabase,  f ina l  l i s t  

shou ld  i nc lude the  ca tegor ies  I  have ment ioned your  young  10 

peop le ,  woman,  d isab led  and the  exper ienced.      

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And tha t  wou ld  have been sa id  

pr io r  to  Apr i l  2010 to  a l l  the  HOD’s .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    In  the  presence o f  a l l  the  HOD’s ,  yes .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Was i t  sa id  in  re fe rence to  hous ing  

a lone or  a l l  con t rac t ing  across the  prov ince?  

MR ZWANE:    I  cannot  jus t  reca l l  the  o ther  agenda i tems 

Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    No what  I  am say ing  is  the  in te res t  

tha t  EXCO had in  mak ing  su re  tha t  the  prov ince con t rac ted  20 

w i th  peop le  fo r  example  w i th  d isab i l i t ies .   D id  tha t  app ly  to  

human se t t lemen ts  or  d id  i t  app ly  across  the  board  to  a l l  

p rov inc ia l  depar tments?  

MR ZWANE:    I t  app l ied  across the  board ,  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t .   We know tha t  a f te r  tha t  
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your  depar tment  de termined to  go  ou t  on  pub l i c  tender  in  

o rder  to  popu la te  a  ca tegory  o r  ca tegor ies  o f  cont rac tor  fo r  

the  award  o f  hous ing  cont rac t .   Cor rec t?     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We know tha t  tha t  tender  p rocess  

co l lapsed.   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The quest ion  i s  why was i t  no t  

re ins ta ted  o r  co r rec ted?  

MR ZWANE:    Wel l  tha t  was supposed to  be  the  fu rn ish ing  10 

o f  the  account ing  o f f i cer  as  he  was the  one who in  the  f i rs t  

p lace  in i t ia ted  i t  and as  i t  co l lapsed,  we were  no t  invo lved 

as  po l i t i c ians in  te rms o f  th is  co l lapse.   As  I  have sa id  

ear l ie r  on  I  requested to  know the  way fo rward  a f te r  the 

abandonment  o f  the  open tender  tha t  i s  when th is  i ssue o f  

the  da tabase was  ra ised.      

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Does the  hous ing  code g ive  the  

MEC any respons ib i l i t i es  in  respect  o f  p rocurement  tha t  

you know o f?   

MR ZWANE:    I  have not  seen i t  myse l f  Cha i r  bu t  f rom what  20 

I  have been to ld  and what  has been happen ing  a t  leas t  in  

the  Free S ta te  Prov ince tha t  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t  we  w i l l  come to  the  de ta i l  

and we must  f i rs t  es tab l i sh  in  re la t ion  to  your  answer  to  an  

ear l ie r  quest ion  tha t  i t  i s  the  Hous ing  Act  o r  the  hous ing  
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code tha t  permi ts  the  appo in tment  o f  cont rac tors  v ia  a  

da tabase we w i l l  check tha t  and come back to  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Be fore  you proceed Mr  Pre tor ius  I  am 

not  sure  tha t  I  unders tood what  you were  say ing  is  cor rec t  

in  your  las t  answer  to  Mr  Pre tor ius .   He asked a  cer ta in  

quest ion  and you  sa id  you had no t  seen –  about  the  code  

and you sa id  you  had not  seen i t  fo r  yourse l f  bu t  you had 

been to ld  accord ing  to  what  you had been to ld  tha t  i s  

cor rec t .   So what  i s  cor rec t?    

MR ZWANE:    I t  i s  Cha i r  cor rec t  tha t  acco rd ing  to  the 10 

Hous ing  Act  the  MEC was respons ib le  fo r  the  serv i ce  

prov iders  tha t  w i l l  u l t imate ly  const ruc t  houses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Respons ib le  fo r  them meant  respons ib le  

fo r  se lec t ing  them or  respons ib le  to  do  what  abou t  them? 

As you unders tood the  pos i t ion .   

MR ZWANE:    As  I  was to ld  and I  then became to  

unders tand tha t  the  f ina l  approva l  o f  tha t  l i s t  w i l l  lay  w i th  

the  MEC.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay a l r i gh t .   Mr  Pre to r ius  a t  leas t  

now I  unders tand  what  you and Mr  Zwane was say ing  was  20 

cor rec t .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So fa r  we have ear l y  in  the  year  an  

ins t ruc t ion  by  EXCO to  a l l  depar tments  to  make sure  tha t  

p rov inc ia l  cont rac ts  awarded by  the  Free S ta te  government  

shou ld  inc lude peop le  in  va r ious ca tegor ies  inc lud ing  
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mat te rs  re la ted  to  youth ,  d isab i l i t y  and a l i ke .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay le t  me jus t  make sure  I  unders tand 

I  th ink  th is  par t  keeps on get t ing  confus ing  a  b i t .   Now you 

remember  ea r l ie r  on  I  asked you the  quest ion  whethe r  

there  was ever  anyth ing  o f  EXCO pr io r  to  t he  in i t ia t ion  o f  

the  pub l i c  open tender  p rocess in  wh ich  EXCO sa id  there  

must  be  a  da tabase tha t  met  the  requ i rements  tha t  you  

have been ta lk ing  about .   I  unders tood you to  be  say ing  

you cou ld  no t  remember  tha t  there  was an EXCO meet ing  10 

a t  wh ich  tha t  was sa id .   I s  my  unders tand ing  o f  your  

ev idence co r rec t?     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  whenever  you ta lk  about  EXCO 

ins t ruc t ing  the  depar tment  to  compi le  a  da tabase or  l i s t  

tha t  met  the  requ i rements  in  te rms  o f  woman,  peop le  w i th  

d isab i l i t ies ,  young peop le  and so  on .   You are  ta lk ing  about  

a  meet ing  tha t  happened a f te r  the  open tender  p rocess had  

been abandoned.   

MR ZWANE:    The s ta tement  by  EXCO in  te rms o f  the  20 

cr i te r ia  no t  the  da tabase.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR ZWANE:    Has been repea ted s ta tement  in  EXCO 

meet ings.   The p roduct  o f  the  f ina l  l i s t  o f  the  depar tment  

tha t  was const ruc ted  out  o f  a  da tabase.   EXCO was to ld  
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about  i t  on ly  a f te r  the  abandonment  o f  the  open  tender  

p rocess.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   So you are  say ing  tha t  p r io r  

to  the  in i t ia t ion  o f  the  open tender  p rocess EXCO had 

spoken in  genera l  te rms and sa id  in  e f fec t  a l l  government  

depar tments  mus t  make sure  tha t  the i r  da tabase or  the i r  

l i s t  o f  serv ice  prov iders  shou ld  meet  the  requ i rements  tha t  

we have ta lked about .     

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r  bu t  tha t  i ssue was  l i ke  a  

man i fes to  i f  I  have to  t imes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  they kept  on  ta lk ing  about  i t  th is ,  

ja .   

MR ZWANE:    Th is  i s  what  we asp i red  to  ach ieve.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR ZWANE:    As  a  prov ince.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR ZWANE:    D i f fe ren t  depar tments  as  you engage in to  

ac t i v i t ies  tha t  w i l l  g ive  peop le  work  p lease make sure  tha t  

our  asp i ra t ion  is  met ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Cha i r  I  apprec ia te  your  ass is tance  

in  th is  mat te r  bu t  i f  I  cou ld  jus t  ge t  a  chance to  ge t  the  

sequence r igh t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am go ing  to  le t  you get  a  chance,  I  am 

a lso  t r y ing  to  make sure  I  fo l low Mr  Pre tor ius .   
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    As  I  unders tand your  ev idence now 

and I  am not  go ing  to  dea l  w i th  what  ev idence you have  

g iven ear l ie r  th is  morn ing  Mr  Zwane prec i se l y  now.   As I  

unders tand your  ev idence pr io r  to  Apr i l  2010 the  EXCO 

gave an ins t ruc t ion  to  a l l  depar tments  ac ross the  board  to  

ensure  tha t  con t rac ts  were  g i ven to  peop le  in  var ious 

ca tegor ies .   Cor rec t?     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  was not  anyth ing  spec i f i c  fo r  

hous ing .   10 

MR ZWANE:    No .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Nor  was i t  spec i f i c  fo r  any  

par t i cu la r  p rocess tha t  was embarked upon.    

MR ZWANE:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And in  par t i cu la r  i t  was not  a  

re ference to  a  da tabase as  I  unders tand you now.    

MR ZWANE:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  unders tood you before  bu t  the 

record  w i l l  show what  was sa id  and not  sa id  be fo re .   26  o f  

Apr i l  comes a long and your  depar tment  and your  HOD 20 

in i t ia te  a  pub l i c  p rocurement  p rocess.   Cor rec t?    

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  p rocess co l lapses.   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    Cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Out  o f  the  co l lapse o f  tha t  p rocess  
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i t  i s  de termined to  compose a  new database.   I s  tha t  so?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A f te r  tha t  d id  EXCO in tervene in  

any manner  whatsoever  to  g ive  any ins t ruc t ion  or  to  

rece ive  any repor t  and comment .   What  d id  EXCO do a f te r  

tha t?   

MR ZWANE:    We went  to  EXCO and repor ted  a f te r  I  met  

w i th  my o f f i c ia ls  and hav ing  been phoned about  i t ,  the  

da tabase.   So I  repor ted  accord ing  to  tha t  the  open tender  

has been abandoned and th is  i s  the  new in fo rmat ion  tha t  I  10 

have tha t  i s  go ing  to  be  fo l lowed and tha t  was accepted by  

EXCO.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    D id  they g ive  any  fu r the r  

ins t ruc t ion?  

MR ZWANE:    No .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  EXCO knew f i rs t l y  tha t  a  

da tabase had co l lapsed and second ly  tha t…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The open tender  sys tem had co l lapsed.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  you are  qu i te  r igh t  Cha i r  I  

shou ld  no t  be  add ing  to  the  confus ion  and EXCO knew tha t  20 

an  open tender  p rocess had co l lapsed and tha t  a  new 

database was to  be  composed.   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And they knew tha t  because you 

repor ted  tha t  to  them? 
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MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And there  shou ld  be  a  m inute  o f  

tha t  meet ing  as  we l l .   When d id  tha t  meet ing  take  p lace?  

MR ZWANE:    I  cannot  remember  when but  i t  was a f te r  the  

co l lapse o f  the  open tender  p rocess.   I  cannot  remember  

qu i te  spec i f i ca l l y  the…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you ab le  to  remember  the  month  

maybe?  

MR ZWANE:    I t  was we l l  a f te r  Apr i l  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  a f te r  Apr i l .   10 

MR ZWANE:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Cou ld  i t  be  October,  September?  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  I  th ink  ea r l ie r  than tha t .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ear l ie r  than tha t .   

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  ear l ie r  than tha t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  We know tha t  the  dec is ion  o f  

the  b id  ad jud ica t ion  commi t tee  tha t  dec ided what  shou ld  

happen o r  what  shou ld  be  proposed to  happen a f te r  the  

co l lapse o f  the  tender  p rocess tha t  meet ing  took p lace on  

the  28 t h  o f  Ju ly  2010.    20 

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  i t  d id .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Now tha t  dec is ion  is  recorded and  

i f  you w ish  to  look  a t  the  m inutes  I  am happy fo r  you to  do  

so  bu t  the  m inutes  o f  tha t  meet ing  read:   

“The commi t tee  recommends  tha t  d i f fe ren t  
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da tabases be conso l ida ted  and used as  a  source  o f  

serv i ce  prov iders  i .e .  depar tmenta l  da tabase,  

p rov inc ia l  cent ra l i sed  database,  quadrem database  

as  we l l  as  the  l i s t  o f  supp l ie rs  who  tendered fo r  th is  

tender. ”  

Do you reca l l  tha t?   Do you want  to  see the  document?     

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  you  look  a t  FS14 i t  i s  the  bund le  

beh ind  you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  is  a  bund le  –  somebody w i l l  ass i s t  10 

you Mr  Zwane.   

MR ZWANE:    FS14?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Page 295.   Do you have tha t  page 

there?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  s i r,  yes  I  do  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You see under  the  head ing  seven  

new mat te rs .    

MR ZWANE:    290…[ in tervene]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We are  in  the  b lack  numbers ,  20 

FS14,  295.    

MR ZWANE:    295,  under?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    New mat te rs .   

MR ZWANE:    A r is ing  f rom the  minutes .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I tem seven  o f  the  m inutes .   
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MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r  i tem seven new mat te rs ,  yes .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   The pr in t  i s  smal l  bu t  we 

can s t rugg le  th rough i t .   7 .1  there  is  a  l i t t le  a r row marked 

next  to  i t  reads:   

“Eva lua t ion  o f  tender  -  the re  is  a  re ference  –  fo r  t he  

const ruc t ion  o f  BNG houses in  the  Free S ta te  

th rough p ro jec t  l inked. ”     

MR ZWANE:    Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Reads:   

“The Cha i rpe rson ind ica ted  to  the  commi t tee  tha t  10 

the  tender  has been eva lua ted bu t  due to  the  fac t  

tha t  the  va l id i t y  o f  the  tender  has  exp i red  and they  

cannot  ad jud ica te  they have to  cance l  the  tender.   

However,  in  o rde r  to  spend the  money appropr ia te l y  

they have to  use the  supp l i e rs  on  d i f fe ren t  

da tabases. ”  

And then the  reso lu t ion :   

“Cance l la t ion  o f  tender  i s  recommended due to  the  

exp i ry  there  o f .   The commi t tee  recommends tha t  

d i f fe ren t  da tabases be conso l ida ted  and used as  a  20 

source  o f  se rv ice  p rov iders  i .e .  depar tmenta l  

da tabase,  p rov inc ia l  cent ra l i sed  database,  quadrem 

database as  we l l  as  the  l i s t  o f  a l l  supp l ie rs  who  

tendered fo r  th is  tender. ”    

Severa l  po in t s  a r ise  ou t  o f  tha t  m inutes  Mr  Zwane tha t  I  
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wou ld  l i ke  to  ask  you about .   The f i rs t  i s  tha t  i t  i s  apparent  

f rom th is  m inute  tha t  th is  commi t tee  be l ieved tha t  because 

the  va l i d i t y  o f  the  tender  had exp i red  they had to  cance l  

the  tender.   I t  seems tha t  they were  o f  the  v iew tha t  the  

tender  had to  be  cance l led  and cou ld  no t  be  rec t i f ied  in  

any way.   I  jus t  want  to  say to  you tha t  on  our  researches 

tha t  i s  s imp ly  an  incor rec t  s ta tement  o f  the  law.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  am not  sure  Mr  Pre tor ius  whethe r  

the  m inutes  can  be or  shou ld  be  read as  re f lec t ing  tha t  

they thought  they  were  ob l iged to  cance l .         10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  opposed to  jus t  dec id ing  what  they 

thought  was the  cor rec t  way fo rward .     

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The word ing  is  I  suppose one cou ld  

use the  word  I  th ink  in  d i f fe ren t  senses.     

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  Mr  Pre tor ius  on  re f lec t ion  you may 

be r igh t  because i t  says  there  they  have to  cance l .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  you may be r igh t  they may  regard  

themse lves as  ob l iged to  cance l  in  the  c i rcumstances.    20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  they go  fu r ther  to  say however  

in  o rder  to  spend  the  money appropr ia te l y  they have to  use 

supp l ie rs  on  d i f fe ren t  da tabases.    

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  they may have thought  tha t  was 

the  on ly  way,  they cou ld  go  fo rward .   
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes and i f  tha t  was what  they 

thought  they were  inco r rec t .   Were  you are  o f  tha t ,  d id  you  

read these minutes?  

MR ZWANE:    As  I  have sa id  ear l ie r  on  Cha i r  tha t  the  

de ta i l s  o f  what  was happen ing  admin is t ra t i ve ly  was not  

b rought  to  me.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Th is  i s  a  fundamenta l  

recommendat ion  Mr  Zwane i t  say ing  no  more  open  tender  

p rocess we th rowing tha t  overboard  we are  jus t  go ing  to  

po in t  peop le  to  a  da tabase.   That  i s  a  fundamenta l  10 

procu rement  dec is ion  i t  i s  no t  a  mat te r  o f  admin i s t ra t i ve  

de ta i l s .    

MR ZWANE:    As  I  unders tand i t  Cha i r  and I  want  to  repeat  

what  I  have sa id  ear l ie r  on .   Th is  was a  process tha t  wou ld  

g ive  tha t  f ina l  p roduct  o f  a  f ina l  l is t .   I  have sa id  ear l ie r  on  

tha t  what  I  had requested f rom the  HOD Mr  Pau l  Mokoena 

was to  fo l low the  processes open  a  tender  b r ing  the  f ina l  

l i s t .    

In  te rms o f  what  happens to  the  commi t tees there  

d i f fe ren t  commi t tees tha t  i s  no t  normal ly  b rought  to  the  20 

a t ten t ion  o f  us  as  po l i t i c ians un less  there  are  prob lems and  

I  d id  a l lude to  the  fac t  tha t  i f  I  am cor rec t  a f te r  the  

co l lapse o f  the  tender  p rocess when I  asked fo r  a  way  

fo rward  a  da tabase approach was  suggested to  me.   So I  

d id  no t  know about  th is  m inutes  Cha i r  I  must  pu t  i t  on 
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record .    

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  le t  us  leave as ide  the  m inutes  what  

you were  to ld  i s  tha t  the  open tender  p rocess had been  

abandoned…[ in te rvene]  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    And when you asked fo r  the  way fo rward  

you were  to ld  tha t  tha t  da tabase  wou ld  be  used and on  

your  own unders tand ing  cont rac to rs  who wou ld  be  put  on  

the  da tabase wou ld  be  g i ven cont rac ts  sub jec t  to  

ass is tance f rom the  depar tment  w i th  regard  to  capac i ta t ion  10 

o f  those who might  have needed capac i ta t ion .    

Now I  th ink  the  quest ion  tha t  Mr  Pre tor ius  ra i ses  a  

quest ion  I  was go ing  to  ask  you when you were  to ld  tha t  

the  open tender  p rocess wou ld  no t  be  pursued fu r ther  and 

a  process wou ld  be  fo l lowed tha t  was suggested  to  you,  

tha t  was recommended tha t  wou ld  no t  ac tua l l y  i nvo lve  an  

open tender  p rocess.    

D id  you not  ask  the  quest ion  bu t  you peop le  

in i t ia ted  

an  open tender  p rocess because you must  have recogn ised 20 

tha t  th is  was a  mat te r  tha t  requ i red  to  go  th rough an open  

tender  p rocess.   How can you now say le t  us  leave tha t  

p rocess and fo l low a  process tha t  i s  no t  t ransparent  tha t  i s  

no t  open.   D id  you not  ask  tha t  quest ion?       

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  I  d id  a l lude to  the  fac t  tha t  I  asked Cha i r.   
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes and what  was the  –  and the  answer  

you were  g iven was tha t  th is  p rac t ice  o f  us ing  a  da tabase  

in  the  p lace o f  an  open tender  had been used befo re .   

MR ZWANE:    I  even went  fu r ther  to  say accord ing  to  wh ich  

law.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR ZWANE:    And I  was g iven a  response tha t  accord ing  to  

the  Hous ing  Act .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r  so  I  d id  no t  have a  reason not  to  10 

be l ieve  peop le  who were  in te rv iewed,  appo in ted ,  gone to  

schoo l  to  ensure  tha t  the  procedures o f  the  PFMA and  

o ther  laws govern ing  in  th is  p rocess o f  p rocurement  a re  

fo l lowed.   I  took  i t  in  good sp i r i t  tha t  I  am be ing  adv ised by  

the  r igh t  peop le ,  yes  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  d id  you ask  to  see the  re levant  

p rov is ions o f  the  Act  because i t  seems to  me th is  ought  to  

have sounded very  s t range to  you because when the  

depar tment  dec ided to  in i t ia te an  open tender  p rocess they 

were  no t  do ing  tha t  because they thought  i t  i s  a  n ice  th ing  20 

to  do ,  they d id  tha t  because they  were  ob l iged by  the  law 

to  do  so .   Now sudden ly  because cer ta in  th ings d id  no t  

happen,  they say  we are  abandon ing  tha t  and we w i l l  do 

th ings d i f fe ren t ly.   I t  seems to  me tha t  as  the  MEC you –  I  

wou ld  expect  tha t  you wou ld  say there  is  someth ing  tha t  I  
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do  no t  unders tand here .   In  the  f i rs t  p lace  why d id  you not  

use  the  da tabase  process i f  th is  mat te r  d id  no t  requ i re  an  

open tender  p rocess.   Now you abandon an open  tender  

p rocess,  you go i n to  a  process tha t  I  have never  heard  o f ,  I  

am hear ing  f rom you fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.      

MR ZWANE:    They exp la ined tha t  as  I  have exp la ined 

ear l ie r  on  Cha i r  i n  fac t  when I  asked them a t  each was the  

t ime wasted i f  I  had known be fore  tha t  there  was a  

shor te r…[ in tervene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    P rocess.   10 

MR ZWANE:    P rocess fo r  us  to  bu i ld  houses we cou ld  

have fo l lowed tha t  p rocess a f te r  hear ing  tha t  there  i s  a  

p rocess and I  want  to  be l ieve  tha t  the  issue o f  money  

taken a t  a  la te r  s tage wou ld  have been avo ided.   But  a f te r  

ask ing  th is  ques t ions and answers  be ing  g i ven to  me I  

agreed w i th  them and we c losed i t  there  and I  repor ted  

back to  EXCO tha t  th is  i s  the  p rocess you are  go ing  to  

fo l low and tha t  there  was no concern  ra ised a t  tha t  leve l  

a lso  wh ich  wou ld  have made me to  recons ider  what  the  

o f f i c ia ls  has to ld  me.   So tha t  i s  how the  process un fo lded,  20 

Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    You d id  no t  th ink  i t  was such an 

impor tan t  mat te r  tha t  you shou ld  see the  re levant  lega l  

p rov is ions about  the  Hous ing  Act  yourse l f  to  sa t is fy  

yourse l f  tha t  what  they were  recommending was rea l l y  i n  



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 67 of 198 
 

acco rdance w i th  the  law.     

MR ZWANE:    We l l  Cha i r…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  to  seek lega l  adv i ce .   

MR ZWANE:    The f i rs t  p rocess o f  an  open tender  I  d id  no t  

quest ion .   I  was to ld  by  them and I  a l lowed them to  

proceed.   When  they came back exp la ined,  gave me 

reasons I  a lso  a l lowed them to  proceed.   A t  tha t  t ime,  i t  d id  

no t  dawn to  me tha t  I  cou ld  ge t  deep in to  the  issues o f  

ge t t ing  an  op in ion  beyond the  peop le  who some o f  them 

had a  background o f  law.   I  d id  no t  see i t  tha t  way so  I  10 

cons idered and sa id  le t  us  proceed.     

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  Mr  Pre to r ius .     

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    As  I  unders tand your  ev idence Mr  

Zwane you were  in fo rmed by  your  o f f i c ia ls  tha t  a  da tabase  

wou ld  be  es tab l i shed,  a  new database were  es tab l i shed 

and you accepted  the i r  dec i s ion .     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You d id  no t  independent ly  take  

s teps to  check whether  th is  was a  lawfu l  p rocess or  no t?   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You be l ieved however  tha t  these  

prov is ions ex is ted  in  the  Hous ing  Act  you say.    

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We wi l l  come to  those  in  due 

course  but  jus t  as  a  HOD wou ld  be  accountab le  express ly  
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in  te rms o f  the  Pub l ic  F inance Management  Act  o r  what  

happens under  h is  watch  w i th  f inanc ia l  imp l ica t ions I  

p resume you accept  tha t  in  so  fa r  as  you approved the  

es tab l i shment  o f  a  new database in  the  p lace o f  a  

co l lapsed tender  p rocess you wou ld  accept  accountab i l i t y  

fo r  any er ror  in  t ha t  p rocess tha t  wou ld  have resu l t ed  in  an 

un lawfu l  p rocurement  p rocess fo l low ing.   I f  i t  was un lawfu l .         

MR ZWANE:    I f  i t  was un lawfu l  the  account ing  o f f i cer  w i l l  

car ry  fu l l  respons ib i l i t y  o f  h is  ac t ions.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And the  MEC is  no t  accoun tab le  a t  10 

a l l?  

MR ZWANE:    The MEC’s  du ty  as  I  have expressed tha t  

be fore  Cha i r  once I  have taken the  account ing  o f f i cer  the  

needs o f  the  peop le  and the  ou tcome he imp lements  and 

demands the  ou tput .   Sect ion  64  o f  the  PFMA s ta tes  ve ry  

c lea r ly  tha t  i f  there  i s  any unautho r ised expend i tu re .    

I f  i t  happens because o f  my ins t ruc t ion  now as an  

MEC and the  HOD d id  no t  b r ing  th is  to  my a t ten t ion  in  

wr i t ing  tha t  the  ac t iv i t y  o r  the  exerc i se  you are  engag ing  

yourse l f  in  w i l l  resu l t  in  an  au thor i sed expend i tu re ,  he  20 

takes fu l l  respons ib i l i t y  because i t  i s  h is  du ty  to  manage 

the  f inances o f  the  depar tment  e f fec t i ve l y  and e f f i c ien t ly  

and where  the re  are  i l l ega l i t ies  i t  i s  h is  du ty  to ensure that  

those i l legal i t ies does not  happen.   Now in the case where 

the HOD comes to me as an author i ty and say,  here is the 
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report ;  th is is how we are going to implement.  I  may have not  

read further the law but  that  means that  HOD is comfortable 

wi th the act iv i ty taking place.   And i f  there is any wrong once 

this wrong is reported my duty is  to  take act ion as a 

pol i t ic ian.   Because I  cannot be running to al l  the department 

checking laws and so forth.   I t  is an administ rat ive 

Account ing Off icer ’s duty to do that .   My work is to play off  

as a t rue reports. [?]   The reports  that  are generated by the 

HOD and i f  those reports at  a part icular t ime are not  precise 

and correct  once that  is brought to  my at tent ion then I  have 10 

to act  to the person who i t  – who misled me or  gave me the 

reports.   That  is how I  understand i t  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A lr ight .   We understand and we have 

deal t  wi th the responsibi l i t ies of  an Account ing Off icer in th is  

case Mr Mokoena in terms of  the Publ ic Finance 

Management Act .   So much is clear  and has been deal t  wi th.   

My quest ion is a s l ight ly di fferent  one.  

MR ZWANE:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Here we are deal ing wi th the 

expendi ture – planned expendi ture of  R1.4 bi l l ion.   As MEC i f  20 

dur ing the per iod you hold that  o ff ice or that  posi t ion an 

unlawful  procurement process takes place is the MEC not  

accountable at  al l?  

MR ZWANE:   I f  –  i f  the MEC knowingly al lowed this  i l legal  

act iv i ty to take place then the MEC also wi l l  be held 
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accountable by the Premier i f  that  happened in his watch and 

he wi l l  [00:02:32] .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  the suggest ion that  we make 

f rom this side of  the room and i t  has been put  to you too by 

the Chai r  is that  perhaps given the enormity of  the budget 

here when you were told that  a Publ ic Procurement Process 

had col lapsed and a data base was to take i ts  place you 

should have taken steps to check the law ei ther yoursel f  or  

by taking proper legal  advice.   That  is the proposi t ion that  

we wish to put  to you.  10 

MR ZWANE:   I  thought report ing this matter to EXCO as I  

have said where di fferent  MEC’s and Heads of  Department 

si ts was a mechanism to f ind comfort  in the process and that  

process did go through that  st ructure.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You say you heard that  other MEC’s 

had used the data base structure therefore you fel t  

comfortable in you doing the same.  Do I  understand the 

point  correct ly? 

MR ZWANE:   No.   I  said I  presume that  other MEC’s knew 

about the data base because they were not  new in the 20 

Provincial  Department.   As we were to ld ear l ier on that  the 

data base was used in the previous years.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   So they – they should have known I  presumed.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes but… 
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MR ZWANE:   That  they should have known about th is matter  

before I  came.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes wel l  I  am not  sure who you are 

referr ing to when you talk about  other MEC’s but  we know 

that  your just i f icat ion for using a data base in th is instance 

emanates f rom the Provisions of  the Housing Act  you say 

which would not  concern MEC’s and other departments 

necessari ly.  

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  Chai r  what I  was t ry ing to indicate is  that  

th is matter would be reported – houses were bui l t  in the Free 10 

State using the data base and my experience is that  

everybody wi l l  know what everybody is doing because of  the 

reports that  wi l l  be tabled in the – in the EXCO that  was in 

that  spi r i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .   We know that  the 

recommendat ion of  the bid adjudicat ing – adjudicat ion 

commit tee which we have just  referred you to Mr Zwane was 

ul t imately accepted.   I t  was signed off  by the HOD.  You 

understand – you know that? 

MR ZWANE:   No I  do not  know that .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight  wel l  let  us put  i t  to you.   Have 

you st i l l  got… 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Page 295 of  FS14. 

MR ZWANE:   295.    
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I f  you just  turn over the page … 

CHAIRPERSON:   What page? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   295 FS14 is the recommendat ion.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   I  am at  295.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Must  I  go to another page? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Over the page to 297.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The decis ion of  the commit tee is  

recorded.  10 

MR ZWANE:   I  have 2 – I  have 2 295’s here.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  that  is unfortunate.  

MR ZWANE:   What is the heading? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Could you go to page 297.    

MR ZWANE:   Is th is the one?   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes the 295 was the red 295 we are 

deal ing wi th the black numbers only.  

MR ZWANE:   The black – okay.   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   FS14 297 you wi l l  see the 

commit tee’s decision as best  I  can read i t  is recorded in  20 

handwri t ing there.   You see that? 

MR ZWANE:   I  see that  but  I  cannot  read i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes wel l  i t  is cancel lat ion of  the 

tender is recommended during – due to the expi ry thereof .   

The commit tee recommends that  the fol lowing departmental  
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data bases be consol idated and there is some wri t ing that  

fo l lows and to inc lude those who tendered.   But  the point  I  

want  to put  to you is that  that  was recommended as the 

decision by the Chairperson Departmental  Bid Adjudicat ion 

and approved by the Account ing Off icer on the 30 July 2010.  

You see that? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes I  see i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Wel l  we know that  matters 

proceeded along the l ines of  a data base because you say 

you told EXCO that .   The decision al l  I  am put t ing to  you the 10 

decision was approved.   The recommendat ion of  the bid 

adjudicat ion commit tee was approved.   Are you happy to 

accept  that? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.   I  can see i t  now Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And at  the meet ing of  EXCO where the use 

of  the data base in the place of  an open tender process was 

approved not  a s ingle person said hang on,  should we not  

get  legal  opinion or legal  advice as to whether th is is  lawful?  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   The Premier did  not  do so.   Al l  the other  

MEC’s did not  do so and I  assume there would have been a 

lot  of  HOD’s a lso there.   Nobody ever said hang on.  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr Pretor ius.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I t  was then decided af ter the col lapse 

and abandonment  of  the tender process to proceed by way of  

a data base so much we have establ ished,  correct? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The just i f icat ion and legal i ty  of  that  

decision we wi l l  address in due course including what the 

Housing Act  says about the MEC’s responsibi l i ty.   But  that  is 

– i f  that  is to hand I  can put  i t  to you?  The dut ies of  a MEC 

in terms of  Part  3  Provincial  Government of  the Housing Act  

not  the Housing Code appear in Sect ion 7.3 of  the Housing 10 

Act .   Did you know that  the Housing Act  st ipulates what the 

dut ies of  a MEC are in relat ion to the Provision of  Housing? 

MR ZWANE:   No Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sorry Mr Pretor ius have we got  that 

in one of  the bundles,  the Housing Act? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes i t  is  in one of  the bundles.   I  am 

told only the Code we wi l l  pr int  i t  out  and we wi l l  deal  wi th i t  

af ter the long adjournment.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  let  me just  say this Sect ion 7.3c 20 

says:  

“That  a MEC.”  

 Wel l  7.3 says:  

“An MEC must  

a.  Administer every Nat ional  Housing Program 



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 75 of 198 
 

and every Provinc ial  Housing Program which 

is consistent  wi th Nat ional  Housing Pol icy 

and Sect ion 3.2b and for th is purpose may 

in accordance wi th that  program and the 

prescr ipts of  contained in the Code – and 

that  is the Housing Code – approve:  

1.   Any projects in respect  thereof  and 

2.  The Financing thereof  out  of  money paid 

into the Provincia l  Housing Development  

Fund as contemplated in Sect ion 12.2.”  10 

Sect ion 3b reads:  

“Determine Provincial  Housing Development  

Pr ior i t ies in accordance with  Nat ional  

Housing Pol icy. ”  

Sect ion 3c reads:  

“Apply Procurement Pol icy in respect  of  

Housing Development  determined by the 

Minister in terms of  Sect ion 3.2c and d -   

administer the assets contemplated in  

Sect ion 14. ”  20 

 Now we can get  the whole Act  we can give you a 

chance to read i t  dur ing the long adjournment but  did you 

know that  the MEC had part icular responsibi l i t ies and would 

be accountable for these i tems l isted in Sect ion 7.   Did you 

know that  at  a l l?  



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 76 of 198 
 

MR ZWANE:   As I  have said I  was told so in terms of  the 

data base.   I  d id  al lude to  the fact  that  the – I  had not  had a 

chance mysel f  to go through the detai ls of  th is  Act .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes but  one would have understood i t  

as common sense let  a lone legal  obl igat ion that  a MEC 

would make himsel f  or hersel f  aware of  the dut ies that  the 

law provides in respect  of  the matters under his  or her 

control .  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chair  and – but  I  should 

indicate that  I  had fami l iar ised mysel f  wi th the const i tut ion of  10 

South Afr ica.   I  have – I  had also fami l iar ised mysel f  wi th the 

PFMA that  is  why I  have been quot ing i t .   I t  is  only  when the 

issue of  the data base was raised when I  was told  by the 

Housing Act  and you would recal l  that  at  some point  later on 

the Audi tor General  recommended that  everybody should 

fol low PFMA.  So in terms of  where I  am si t t ing I  had 

gathered suff ic ient  informat ion that  wi l l  make me be able to  

lead effect ively and do what I  was supposed to do.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes wel l  the proposi t ion I  put  to you 

Mr Zwane would apply as a matter  of  general  pr inciple.   But  20 

in th is case of  course the report  to  you that  one could use a 

data base in order  to provide work to  cont ractors for  the 

expendi ture of  money al located to  housing R1.4 b i l l ion was 

just i f ied by the Housing Act .   Perhaps that  was the occasion 

to check the Provisions of  the Act  and see there what your  
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responsibi l i t ies were.  

MR ZWANE:   I  –  i t  d id not  come to mind at  that  part icular 

t ime Chai r  except  to say at  a later s tage when this issue was 

interrogated at  the level  of  the Audi tor  Genera l  i t  then 

dawned that  we should fol low the PFMA which I  had 

fami l iar ised mysel f  wi th.   And I  must  say Chai r  that  for the 

per iod I  have been in – in the Department of  Human 

Sett lement the issues we talk ing about  is less than a year 

basical ly f rom the point  where I  was int roduced to th is 

Housing Act  and my departure f rom that  department.   I  am 10 

sure i f  I  had stayed longer,  I  would endeavour to accl imat ise 

mysel f  wi th di fferent  – other Acts and Codes as they are 

found.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes wel l  the funct ions of  the Audi tor  

General  aside one would have thought that  the duty on 

Cabinet  o ff ic ia ls  would be for  them to determine the ir  

responsibi l i t ies in  terms of  the law at  the t ime they took 

off ice let  a lone at  the t ime R1.4 bi l l ion was about to be 

spent .  

MR ZWANE:   Would I  be wrong presuming Chai r  that  I  was 20 

suff ic ient ly covered by the PFMA?  What was my … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  I  do not  want to debate the law 

with you.   The PFMA does make the Account ing Off icer  

responsible for f inancial  matters under that  person’s control .   

There is no doubt about  that .  
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MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  accountabi l i ty can also not  be 

avoided through delegat ion or instruct ions as you have 

reasonably and fa i r ly pointed out .   But  that  does not  mean to 

say that  MEC’s have no responsibi l i t ies and have no 

accountabi l i ty and that  is the point  I  am raising.  

MR ZWANE:   I  hear you Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Let  us move on then subject  to  

coming back to  the Act  because I  th ink in fa i rness,  we must 

look at  the whole Act  before cal l ing you to account in terms 10 

of  that  Act .   In late October we understand that  the Nat ional  

Department of  Human Sett lements raised the issue of  under-

spending in  terms of  the DORA al locat ion wi th yoursel f  on 

the one hand and the Provincia l  Department on the other.   

That  I  do not  understand to be controversial .  

MR ZWANE:   The – on the 14 October the Minister raised an 

issue of  low expendi ture by three provinces Chai r.   And on 

the 18 October,  we had the teleconference about  th is  matter.   

And in that  meet ing we were requested to come up wi th 

recovery p lans as di fferent  provinces,  that  is correct .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Before you go – have you f in ished your  

answer? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay before you go further Mr Pretor ius I  

just  want to go back a l i t t le bi t .   The abandonment  of  the 
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open tender process were you told  what the reason was why 

i t  was being abandoned or why i t  had col lapsed? 

MR ZWANE:   I f  I  recal l  wel l  Chair  i t  was because the tender 

per iod or the date has – had expi red.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

MR ZWANE:   That  was one of  the reasons I  cannot just  

remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   The top of  my head other reasons yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Did you – were you told why the 10 

management had al lowed that  per iod to expire wi thout  

f in ishing what  needed to be done in terms of  that  open 

tender process?  Because you were now f inding yourselves 

as a department at  a t ime when you had to think of  another  

forward because an open tender process that  had been 

in i t iated was not  being pursued.  D id you – did you f ind out  

why was – why are we in th is si tuat ion?  Who is responsible 

for th is?  Is there somebody who did not  do his or  her job 

and cal l  for an explanat ion? 

MR ZWANE:   I f  I  recal l  wel l  Chai r  I  was told that  the amount  20 

of  tenders that  had been forthcoming was huge.  So the – 

this per iod lapses when people were t ry ing to sort  that  out  

and I  could not  argue with that  further because i f  I  d id argue 

wi th i t  further in  terms of  my own understanding i t  would 

have prejudiced the fai r  administ rat ion of  that  process.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Did you ask whether the per iod of  the 

tender could have been extended to give the off ic ia ls more 

t ime to deal  wi th the huge number of  bids? 

MR ZWANE:   I  th ink at  – at  issue for al l  of  us Chair  as I  have 

indicated ear l ier on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR ZWANE:   That  one of  the concerns I  ra ised was that  

af ter they had ra ised this new method is that  we had wai ted 

for  th is t ime a l l  a long think ing that  i t  is  the only mechanism 

that  wi l l  lead us to a proper legal  outcome.   10 

So the issue of  me suggest ing the way forward at  

that  level  I  would have seen i t  at  that  point  as interfer ing 

wi thin administ rat ion.   I  thought i t  was correct  for  me to 

request  them to lead me where to now.   

That  is why asked them about the way forward that  

we do when these tenders has been abandoned because of  

the reasons you are te l l ing me and should they have wished 

to extend I  would not  have stood against  that  wish at  that  

part icular point .    

I  would have ra ised issues of  course that  they should 20 

ensure that  we do not  spend as much t ime as we have spent  

before because of  service del ivery but  I  would not  have 

stopped that  process going to that  di rect ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No what I  have in mind is – would not  

have been interference on your part .   I t  would have been you 



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 81 of 198 
 

want ing to hold for example the HOD accountable.    

So what I  am talk ing about is d id  you not  ask the 

HOD or the Off ic ia ls because you saw that  there was a huge 

number of  bids that  you had to sort  out  you must  at  some 

stage have real ised before the tender per iod expi red that  

you were not  going to make i t .    

Could you not  have extended the per iod to  a l low 

yourselves enough t ime so that  we do not  – because i f  you – 

i f  you could have done that  and you had done that ,  we would 

not  f ind ourselves where we are now.  That  is the quest ion I  10 

am asking you whether you did not  ask that  quest ion.  

MR ZWANE:   No I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   The extension being pr ior to the expi ry not  

af ter.  

MR ZWANE:   I  d id  not  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You did not  ask that  quest ion? 

MR ZWANE:   No I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   But  on ref lect ion you think you 

should have asked i t?  

MR ZWANE:   No.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   S i t t ing there? 

MR ZWANE:   Having known that  that  was legal  to get  into an 

ongoing tender that  has a t imeframe and extend that  

t imef rame I  would have – I  would of  course asked that  

quest ion.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   You would have asked that  quest ion? 

MR ZWANE:   Ja I  would have asked that  quest ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   But  I  d id not  know the legal i t ies.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   As I  kept  on asking them about legal i t ies.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   So I  was not  sure about the legal i ty  of  that  

quest ion that  is why i t  d id not  even dawn to me to ask.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  10 

MR ZWANE:   What I  was not  sure about mysel f .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay al r ight .   Mr Pretor ius I  interrupted 

you.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Thank you Chai r.   You have told the 

Chair  that  dur ing October or November 2010 the Nat ional  

Department  of  Human Sett lements ra ised wi th  your 

department the issue of  the under-spending of  the DORA 

al locat ion.  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   And you have told the Chair  that  you 20 

were told by the Nat ional  Minister I  th ink.  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  you should prepare an 

expendi ture recovery plan.   Is that  correct? 

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct .  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   How did your  department go about 

doing that  and what was your role in th is process? 

MR ZWANE:   I  requested for a meet ing wi th the off ic ia ls.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Which off ic ia ls? 

MR ZWANE:   HOD including senior o ff ic ia ls and related this  

informat ion to them and requested them to come up wi th a 

recovery plan because we were supposed to submit  that  

recovery p lan to the Minister.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .   Do you know in what set  of 

meet ings the Expendi ture Recovery Plan was devised? 10 

MR ZWANE:   Can you repeat  the quest ion Chai r? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Do you know in what set  of  meet ings 

or what forum this  plan was devised? 

MR ZWANE:   I  … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  let  me put  i t  d i fferent ly.   What 

group of  persons devised this plan? 

MR ZWANE:   The recovery plan I  d id not  get  into detai ls.   I  

requested the HOD and his team to develop the recovery 

plan.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A lr ight  so what happens as I  20 

understand i t  is the Nat ional  Minis ter speaks to you;  says 

you have not  spent  money in terms of  your DORA al locat ion.   

I f  you do not  want the money taken away you had bet ter 

submit  an Expendi ture Recovery Plan to me.  

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chai r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Was any deadl ine set  – can you 

recal l?  

MR ZWANE:   There was a subsequent meet ing where this 

recovery plans were to be submit ted and that  we had to – the 

meet ing was ca l led for the 19t h i f  I  am correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Of  November? 

MR ZWANE:   Of  November for us to ta lk about  th is  matter 

and look at  the recovery plans.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A lr ight  we wi l l  come to the – that  

meet ing in due course.   You were – did you at tend the 10 

meet ing of  the 19t h November? 

MR ZWANE:   No Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   What was the reason for that?  Wel l  

put  i t  th is way were you an invi tee? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   In the ord inary course you would 

have at tended? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Al r ight  so is  i t  your evidence 

that  the Expendi ture Recovery Plan was developed by 20 

persons wi thin the department and you took no part  in the 

development of  that  p lan.   Do I  understand i t  correct ly? 

MR ZWANE:   Before I  answer that  quest ion,  may I  ask for a 

personal  break Chai r? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Sure.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Should we – I  am sorry should we 

take lunch already or should we – how much t ime do you 

need? 

MR ZWANE:   Just  f ive minutes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Just  f ive minutes.   Oh maybe we should 

just  take f ive minutes.   We wi l l  ad journ for f ive minutes.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES :     

CHAIRPERSON :    You may proceed Mr Pretor ius.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink you had the quest ion that  the 

wi tness was st i l l  to answer.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The quest ion . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Do you remember,  Mr Zwane.  

MR ZWANE :    No,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Mr Pretor ius,  do you remember 

the quest ion you had asked? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I  am equal ly at  a lost  Chai r.   Let  us 

take a step back.  [ laughing]  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]  Would you l ike to repeat  i t?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    No,  I  just . . .  I  th ink we need to take a 

step back.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    What had occurred is  that  the 
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nat ional  minister  had spoken to you in  relat ion to the 

perceived under spending,  step one.   Step two,  he asked you 

to device or to  produce an expendi ture recovery plan,  

correct? 

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You then approached your head of  

department,  I  presume your off ic ia ls,  you said,  to device this 

plan.   And I  asked you,  who actual ly devised this p lan and 

what was your involvement in the devising of  the p lan.  

MR ZWANE :    The development of  the recovery p lan was 10 

developed by the HOD and his senior off ic ia ls.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Did you take any par t  in the 

development of  that  p lan? 

MR ZWANE :    No,  I  d id not  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Did you see the outcome? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  I  saw the outcome.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A lr ight .   I f  I  can just  show i t  to you,  

please? 

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  exists in var ious places but  i t  is 20 

at tached to the statement of  mister. . .  the founding aff idavi t  

of  Mr Mokhesi .   I f  you wi l l  bear wi th me for a  moment Chai r,  

p lease? 

CHAIRPERSON :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    At  Bundle FS14.  I f  you could there 
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again,  please?  I  th ink i t  is on your  r ight  hand side there at  

page 226.    

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Before we get  there.   Witnesses this  

week have said that  you took part  in meet ings of  the War 

Room at  which th is plan was developed  Do you have any 

comment? 

MR ZWANE :    The meet ings of  the War Room were the 

meet ings where the off ic ia ls would deal  wi th  the progress,  

highl ight  any chal lenges and f ix  i t .   I  would go to that  10 

meet ing as and when needed by the meet ing but  I  do not  

recal l  mysel f  part ic ipat ing in the recovery plan.  

 Except  to say,  I  went to a meet ing where I  had to get  an 

update as to what  are we going to do as we had star ted late 

in terms of  bui ld ing houses even long(?) before this issue.    

 Because the War Room was not  a resul t  of  the recovery 

plan.   I t  was a structure that  was there to ensure that  we do 

what we are supposed to do.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   The War Room, as I  

understand what  you saying,  was there to monitor the 20 

implementat ion of  the advance payment exercise.  

MR ZWANE :    No,  Chai r.   But . . .  I  am sorry.   I  am sorry.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A l r ight .  

MR ZWANE :    Or you done? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  just  explain? 
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MR ZWANE :    The War Room started ear l ier than th is issue 

of  advance payment.   I f  you al low me Chai r  maybe to give 

some detai ls?   

CHAIRPERSON :    [No audible reply]   

MR ZWANE :    The issue of  advance payments came as a 

resul t  of  a meet ing that  was held wi th cont ractors.   I  th ink,  i f  

I  am not  mistaken,  the meet ing was in Welkom.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is the Welkom meet ing,  yes.  

MR ZWANE :    And in that  meet ing,  the department had gone 

back to request  the contractors to commit  themselves in  10 

ensuring that  they work on weekends to t ry and catch up 

because of  the ear l ier issue we were ta lk ing about.  

 And the contractors in that  meet ing raised then an issue 

of  the bui lders ’ hol iday that  we are fast  approaching,  the 

bui lders’ hol iday.  

 Even i f  we l iked,  would at  some point ,  wi l l  have to stop 

because there was no mater ia l .   That  issue was raised there 

and not  only the issue of  advanced payment.   I f  I  recal l ,  in  

terms of  the in format ion I  have,  there were di fferent  

suggest ions there.  20 

 One of  the suggest ions,  of  course,  was that  the 

department should br ing i ts part ,  not  only to want contractors 

to commit  themselves in terms of  working on weekends and 

dur ing the hol idays,  they should be able to engage the 

suppl iers.    
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 The suppl iers should supply the mater ia l  that  wi l l  be 

needed during the t ime when.. .  dur ing the bui lders’ hol iday.   

That  means that  was to actual ly take place dur ing December 

ear ly January kind of  arrangement.   

 Supply the mater ia l  that  is going to be needed.  Upon 

the receipt  of  the mater ia l ,  the contractor wi l l  be g iven an 

invoice but  i t  w i l l  be shown to the department and the 

department wi l l  ver i fy  whether indeed that  mater ia l  has been 

suppl ied before asking them to pay.   Then the other one was 

this one of  advance payment.    10 

 So that  meet ing of  Welkom did not  conclude on that  

matter as i t  was a broad meet ing.   When we were in 

Bloemfontein,  there was a meet ing cal led where these issues 

were discussed to see i f  we can be able to commit  and f ind a 

solut ion,  a last ing solut ion.  

 In that  meet ing,  somebody raised an issue that  the issue 

of  advanced payment  has been done by Nurcha in  one of  

their  pro jects.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Would you spel l  that  ent i ty,  p lease? 

MR ZWANE :    Wel l ,  Chair  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is for the t ranscr ipts.   

MR ZWANE :    Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    N-u-r-c-h-a? 

MR ZWANE :    No,  let  me not  commit  mysel f  into spel l ing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]  
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MR ZWANE :    Because of  t ime lapse,  I  might  be seen not  

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  is not  cal l ing to you to. . .  

MR ZWANE :    [ laughing]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  is s imple to assist  the t ranscr ibed 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    No,  I  would not  f ind the correct  spel l ing.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Is i t  n-e-r -c-a-k? 

MR ZWANE :    I  th ink so.   I  th ink so.   So then I  requested as 

a conclusion of  th is meet ing in Bloemfontein,  I  requested two 10 

off ic ia ls to go and develop a document that  I  ca l led an 

opinion.   The off ic ia ls I  requested was the HOD and Mmuso 

Tsoamets i .  

 I  should explain at  th is moment why I  d id put  Mmuso 

Tsoamets i  because under normal c i rcumstances I  would have 

said HOD. 

 My recol lect ion is that  Mmuso Tsoametsi  was in  the 

Welkom meet ing and despi te that ,  h is background is  also a 

legal  background.   That  hence I  ca l led the document  in  my 

aff idavi t  a legal  opinion.    20 

 So I  said:   Go and develop and opinion around this. . .  a l l  

the suggest ions and i t  should be a legal ly sound document  

so that  we can be able to respond to these chal lenges that  

are raised by cont ractors.  

 And that  was the conclusion of  the meet ing Chai r.   I  do 
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not  i f . . .  maybe I  should just  conclude,  i f  you al low? 

CHAIRPERSON :    [No audible reply]   

MR ZWANE :    So a document was then developed and 

submit ted to the HOD by . . . [ indis t inct ]  Maxatshwa as you 

would see in the document and the HOD approved that  

document.  

 I  bel ieve i t  is that  document that  I  have referred i t  as a 

legal  opinion and I  have explained why that  gave that  to  

agreements wi th the cont ractors.   So that  document ,  to my 

understanding,  is a separate matter  to the recovery p lan.    10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Wel l ,  my quest ion actual ly was 

deal ing wi th the recovery plan.  

MR ZWANE :    Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    We wi l l  get  to the advance 

payments.  

MR ZWANE :    Ja.   That  is why I  am going backwards.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    I  want  to explain.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Ten minutes later.   Let  us st ick to the 

recovery p lan.  20 

MR ZWANE :    Thank you very much Chai r.   My 

understanding of  the recovery plans,  as I  explained to the 

HOD at  that  part icular  t ime.  I t  wi l l  deal  wi th the mi lestones,  

how we are going to recover f rom the slumber that  we are in  

as a province?  Is  i t  pract ical  that  we wi l l  be able to  recover  
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and ensure that  the money is ut i l ised for what  i t  was 

intended to.  

 The money in the Free State was in tended to benef i t  the 

poor,  the disadvantaged, the homeless,  people of  respect(?).   

So the recovery plan was to ensure that ,  i f  we can,  we 

should be able to deal  wi th that  issue and each wi l l  have 

mi lestones and i t  wi l l  have expendi ture.    

 And those issues,  by enlarge,  are issues that  wi l l  re late 

to administ rat ion.   As I  have explained that  matter,  I  thought  

I  had but  not  as wel l  understood and i t  was not  a complex 10 

matter.   I t  just  needed data and people to  rearrange 

themselves in terms of  how are they going to commit  

themselves.  

 Because one of  the commitments people had to do was 

to t ry  and interfere wi th their  p lans of  that  part icular  bui lders’ 

hol iday,  December hol iday.   So I  lef t  i t  to the off ic ia ls by 

enlarge.   I  th ink I  am done Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You have obviously thought very 

careful ly,  both about  the expendi ture recovery plan and the 

advanced payment system.  But  let  me ask th is Welkom 20 

meet ing.   When did i t  take place? 

MR ZWANE :    The contractors were already on si te.   I  th ink 

i t  should have been later October/November.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    So in October/November,  contractors 

ra ised certain issues and make certain proposals and i t  is 
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ar is ing out  of  that  that  the advanced payment  system, 

according to you,  progressed?  

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    Correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Let  us go back to the ERP.  When 

did,  do you recal l ,  Minister Sexwale speaking to you about 

the preparat ion and submission of  an expendi ture recovery 

plan? 

MR ZWANE :    There was a meet ing of  al l  the MEC’s together 10 

wi th the minister.   And that  meet ing,  to my recol lect ion was,  

on the 18t h of  October.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    18t h of  October? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Or 18t h of  November? 

MR ZWANE :    19t h of  November,  there was a meet ing 

. . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .where recovery p lans . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Was presented? 20 

MR ZWANE :    . . .was supposed to be presented.   I t  is the 

meet ing which I  d id not  at tend.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes,  was there no pr ior request  in 

terms of  a wri t ten communicat ion or a verbal  communicat ion 

f rom the nat ional  minister to you or to your off ice saying,  you 
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are under spending.   Please present  an expendi ture recovery 

plan.  

MR ZWANE :    Before the 19t h . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Before the 18 October meet ing.  

MR ZWANE :    I  cannot recal l  that  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A lr ight .   What happened at  the 

meet ing of  18 October?  Was this a MINMAC meet ing.  

MR ZWANE :    I  do not  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Ministers and HOD’s.   Sorry to  

interrupt .  10 

MR ZWANE :    18t h of  October? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    I t  was a meet ing. . .  i t  was. .  ja,  i t  was a 

MINMAC. 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Right .  

MR ZWANE :    You are r ight .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    What happened at  that  meet ing? 

MR ZWANE :    The minister raised his concern about th is  

matter and requested that  we should submit  recovery plans 

as wel l  as how we are going to move forward.   Otherwise,  a 20 

part icular port ion,  certain port ion of  the budget al located to 

the provinces wi l l  have to be taken.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Was the meet ing in your boardroom 

during October 2010,  where you spoke to your off ic ia ls about  

the expendi ture recovery plan?  In other words,  d id you 
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fo l low up that  meet ing wi th your own inst ruct ions to your 

off ic ia ls? 

MR ZWANE :    On the recovery plans,  we d id not  have 

more(?) meet ings on the recovery plans.   I  th ink we had two,  

three meet ings on the suggested opinion,  as I  cal l  i t  here.   

This is to be determine,  which is par t  of  th is  document  Chai r.   

Because there were no real ly issues on the recovery plan i f  I  

recal l .   Unless,  you wi l l  ref resh me.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  document you refer to as the opinion,  

you recal l  that  is the one that  is dated 25 November? 10 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    The evidence of  other wi tnesses has 

been that  you part ic ipated in the preparat ion of  the plan.   

You say you did not  part ic ipate in the preparat ion of  the 

plan.  

MR ZWANE :    I  d id not  recal l . . .  maybe I  should say,  I  would 

normal ly part ic ipate where there are issues that  I  th ink 

looking at  the f i rs t  meet ing,  we need to clar i fy  or to observe 

other th ings.    20 

 As I  have ear l ier on said,  my bone of  content ion here is  

not  about  my par t ic ipat ion on th is  recovery plan.   I  could 

have gone in  the meet ing once or  twice.   I  cannot recal l  

exact ly Chai r.  

 What I  want to put  on record is that  there were no big 
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issues in terms of  the development of  that  plan as far as I  

can remember.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Now over what per iod was this plan 

being implemented,  designed or be ing prepared,  rather?  As 

I  understand i t ,  i t  would have been dur ing the course of  

October and November 2010.   Would that  be a fai r  summary? 

MR ZWANE :    The recovery plan would have been prepared 

af ter the 18t h of  October.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    And into November? 

MR ZWANE :    Into November,  yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A l r ight .  

MR ZWANE :    I  just  cannot recal l  when was i t  completed.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Would that  be a convenient  t ime,  

Chair? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   We wi l l  take the lunch adjournment 

and we wi l l  resume at  f ive past  two.   We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Cont inue.   Do I  s t i l l  need the  recovery  

p lan  in  f ron t  o f  me? 20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  Cha i r,  we are  go ing  to  ge t  

there  in  a  moment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Jus t  a  smal l  d ig ress ion  in  the  

meanwhi le ,  Cha i r.   We have had occas ion  to  look  a t  the  
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hous ing  a t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  some s tage I  th ink  we had a  san i t i ze r  

fo r  the  w i tness tha t  wou ld  be  there .   I f  i t  i s  ava i lab le  i t  

shou ld  be  made  ava i lab le  to  h im.   Yes,  cont inue,  Mr  

Pre tor ius .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Zwane,  a t  some 

s tage th is  morn ing  you re fer red  to  the  prov is ions  o f  the 

Hous ing  Act  as  be ing  the  source  o f  the  power  to  use a  

da tabase fo r  the  a l loca t ion  o f  hous ing  cont rac t s .   You 

reca l l  tha t  ev idence?  10 

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  have obta ined a  copy o f  the  Act  

and we have put  a  copy before  you and before  the  Cha i r.   

I f  you  go to  Sect ion  3  p lease,  under  the  head Nat iona l  

Government ,  Sec t ion  3cA ob l iges the  Nat iona l  Min i s te r  to  

de termine a  procurement  po l i cy  by  no t  la te r  than Apr i l  2002  

wh ich  is  cons is ten t  w i th  Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion  in  

re la t ion  to  hous ing  deve lopment .    

 So the  f i rs t  po in t  I  wanted to  pu t  to  you tha t  any  

power  tha t  the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  has to  de termine a  20 

procurement  po l i cy  i s  const ra ined by  the  prov is ions o f  

Sect ion  217 wh ich  requ i re  open  tender  p rocesses,  open 

procurement  p rocesses.   You know Sect ion  217,  you 

ment ioned i t  th is  morn ing .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    O f  the  Hous ing  Act?  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    No,  Sect ion  217 o f  the  Cons t i tu t ion  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  yes .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  anyth ing  the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  

does in  re la t ion  to  p rocurement  must  be  cons is ten t  w i th  

Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion .   You know tha t?   Wel l ,  you 

do now,  cor rec t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  you were  

read ing  f rom Sect ion  3 .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Sect ion  3cA.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   Thank you.   3cA? 10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:     Yes,  Cha i r.   Sor ry,  3 (2) (c )A .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Can you see i t ,  Mr  Zwane? 

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  I  can see,  Cha i r,  except  to  say my not  

wear ing  spectac les .    

CHAIRPERSON:    You are…? 

MR ZWANE:    Except  to  say my not  wear ing  spectac les  in  

th is  case is  ac tua l l y  d isadvantag ing  me between the  th ree  

o f  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

MR ZWANE:    Th is  th ing  is  too  smal l  fo r  me.   So you 20 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you do not  mean you normal ly  need  

read ing  spectac les  you jus t  th ink  tha t  we a re  advan taged? 

MR ZWANE:    You are  advantaged ,  Cha i r,  yes ,  tha t  i s  what  

I  am th ink ing ,  bu t  I  w i l l  t ry  and fo l low.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  some s tage  I  had asked o f f i c ia ls  to  

have a  lamp next  to  the  w i tness so  tha t  we –  the  l igh t ing  

cou ld  be  improved but  you say you can read but  you read 

w i th  d i f f i cu l t y?  

MR ZWANE:    I  can  read,  Cha i r.   You must  pardon me when 

I  am s low.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  thank you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  re la t ion  to  p rocurement  there  is  

no th ing  in  th is  Ac t  wh ich  wou ld  permi t  p rocurement  w i thout  

a  compl iance w i th  the  Const i tu t ion  and procurement  law.   

There  are  no  except ions in  th is  Ac t .   Do you accept  tha t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  ge t  what  Mr  Pre tor ius  i s  do ing ,  

Mr  Zwane,  I  th ink  you sa id  you had never  seen th is  Act  

be fore .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  see ing  i t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.   I f  20 

you got  i t  on ly  now as I  have got  i t ,  you  have not  obv ious l y 

had t ime to  go  th rough i t ,  there fore  you cannot  say  yes o r  

no  bu t  what  he  is  say ing  is  he  has looked –  he  has gone  

th rough i t .   That  i s  what  he  is  pu t t ing  to  you and you might  

be  ab le  to  say look,  i f  you  say so ,  I  cannot  d ispute  i t  
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because I  have not  looked a t  i t  bu t  I  do  no t  know what  the 

Act  says.   Or  you might  say  no ,  I  know tha t  there  are  

except ions and I  jus t  need more  t ime to  look  a t  i t .  

MR ZWANE:    No,  thank you,  Cha i r.   I f  I  may,  I  th ink  the  

Cha i r  i s  co r rec t ,  I  d id  a l lude tha t  I  d id  no t  f ind  t ime to  go  

th rough th is  p iece  o f  leg is la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    And I  th ink  i t  w i l l  be  f ru i t fu l  fo r  th is  

Commiss ion  and  what  I  am go ing  to  say fo r  to  a lso  

acc l imat ize  myse l f  w i th  th is  Ac t  o therw ise  I  may say 10 

someth ing  tha t  I  rea l l y  do  no t  mean .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t ,  tha t  f ine .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  I  th ink  wha t  shou ld  happen is  a f te r  

today maybe ar rangements  can be  made fo r  you to  depose 

to  an  a f f idav i t  to  say  you have had a  look a t  i t  and maybe  

you have even sought  lega l  adv i ce ,  your  unders tand ing  is  

tha t  yes ,  there  are  no  except ions or  yes ,  there  are  

except ions or  you make whatever  comment .   Mr  P re tor ius  

w i l l  be  ab le  to  say th is  i s  what  we wou ld  l i ke  to  hear  you  20 

on.   I s  tha t  a l r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  am never the less  go ing  to  ask  you 

cer ta in  quest ions ,  some o f  a  fac tua l  na ture  to  a le r t  you to  
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the  issues tha t  we wou ld  l i ke  you  to  have regard  to  when  

you read the  Act .   So i f  you  wou ld  look p lease a t  Sect ion  

3(2 ) (c )A …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You might  to  make a  no te  o f  the  issues,  

have you got  a  pen and paper?  

MR ZWANE:     Yes,  I  do ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You can jus t  mark  the  sect ions 

3(2 ) (c )A wh ich ,  as  we read i t  ob l iges  the  Min i s te r  to  

de termine a  procurement  po l i cy,  tha t  i s  the  Nat iona l  10 

Min is te r.   But  tha t  must  be  cons is ten t  w i th  the  prov i s ions o f  

Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion  and not  except iona l  to  the 

prov is ions o f  217 .   R igh t?  

 So i f  there  was any database –  and I  want  to  pu t  

th is  to  you and you can look a t  the  Act  in  re la t ion  to  th is  

p ropos i t ion ,  i f  there  i s  any use o f  a  da tabase tha t  da tabase  

wou ld  have to  be  es tab l i shed by  a  fa i r  and t ransparent  

tender  p rocess or  p rocurement  p rocess.   You can jus t  th ink  

about  tha t ,  do  no t  have to  answer  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  i t  i s  a  p ropos i t ion  tha t  when la te r  on  20 

you read the  Act  you must  th ink  about  to  say wha t  w i l l  be 

your  response to  tha t  p ropos i t ion .   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  noth ing  in  th is  Act  pe rmi ts  the  

appo in tment  o f  a  cont rac tor  in  execut ion  o f  a  hous ing  

pro jec t  to  be  done o ther  than to  a  proper  const i tu t iona l l y  
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compl ian t  p rocu rement  p rocess.   The propos i t ion  der i ved 

f rom tha t  i s  tha t  i f  there  i s  to  be  a  da tabase tha t  da tabase 

w i l l  have to  be  es tab l i shed by  such a  fa i r  p rocu rement  

p rocess.  

 The par t  3 ,  Sect i on  7  and fo l low ing dea ls  w i th  the 

du t ies ,  ob l iga t ions and powers  o f  P rov inc ia l  Government .   

I f  you  cou ld  jus t  page on to  tha t  p lease?  And Sect ion  7 .3  

dea ls  spec i f i ca l l y  w i th  the  ob l iga t i ons o f  an  MEC.   Do you  

see tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And i t  says :  

“An MEC must…”  

Does not  g ive  you any d iscre t ion ,  says you must .  

(a )  Admin is te r  eve ry  na t iona l  hous ing  programme 

and every  prov inc ia l  hous ing  prog ramme which  

is  cons i s ten t  w i th  Nat iona l  hous ing  po l i cy  and,  

(b )  And fo r  th is  purpose,  may in  acco rdance w i th  

tha t  p rogramme and the  prescr ip ts  conta ined 

in  the  code approve any pro jec ts  in  respect  o f  

thereof .  20 

( i i )   The f inanc ing  thereof  ou t  o f  money pa id  in to  

the  Prov inc ia l  Hous ing  Deve lopment  Fund as  

contempla ted  in  Sect ion  12 .2 . ”  

In  shor t ,  tha t  sec t ion ,  7 .3  (a )  ob l iges  the  MEC to  

admin is te r  Nat iona l  Hous ing  Programmes and to  approve  
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the  f inanc ing  o f  Nat iona l  Hous ing  Programmes and  

Prov inc ia l  Hous ing  Programmes.   Do you see tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Were  you aware  o f  tha t  dur ing 

2010 and 2011?  

MR ZWANE:    As  I  am say ing ,  Cha i r,  I  had not  read th is  bu t  

I  was to ld  in  te rms o f  what  I  a l luded ear l ie r  th is  morn ing .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Sect ion  7 .3  (c )  says tha t :  

“An MEC must  app ly  p rocurement  po l i cy  in  respec t  

o f  hous ing  deve lopment  de termined by  the  Min is te r  10 

in  te rms o f  Sect ion  3(2 ) (c ) . ”  

Now a re  you aware  o f  any procu rement  po l i cy  de termined 

by  the  Min i s te r?  

MR ZWANE:    P rocurement  po l i c ies?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   That  i s  what  you mus t  app ly  

in  te rms o f  th is  Act ,  the  Act  tha t  you re l ied  on  to  say you  

cou ld  jus t  use  a  da tabase.  

MR ZWANE:    May I…? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

MR ZWANE:    Seeming ly  we are  ge t t ing  in to  what  I  thought  

we a re  no t  go ing  to  ge t  in to ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  no ,  I  th ink  what  Mr  Pre to r ius  i s  

do ing ,  he  accepts  tha t  you have not  read the  Act  and he  

accepts  tha t  a t  tha t  t ime in  2010 you had not  read  the  Act  
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bu t  as  I  unders tand f rom h im he i s  jus t  ask ing  in  te rms o f  

your  knowledge even w i thout  hav ing  read the  Act  whethe r  

you had such an  unders tand ing ,  tha t  i s  my unders tand ing ,  

based on whatever  e lse  o the r  than  the  Act .  

MR ZWANE:    I  had a l luded ea r l ie r  on ,  Cha i r,  tha t  I  have  

not  read th is  p iece  o f  leg is la t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  f rom where  I  am seated i t  goes  

w i thout  say ing  tha t  as  we go deep in to  Sect ions th is  and 

th is ,  I  wou ld  no t  be  ab le  to  fa i r l y  and f ru i t fu l l y  ass is t  th is  10 

process.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now,  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  I  may  have I  

m isunders tood your  quest ion .   Were  you ask ing  h im 

whethe r  he  was aware  o f  a  p rov i s ion  in  the  Act?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    No –  we l l ,  tha t  too ,  bu t  we have a  

genera l  answer  to  tha t .   The answer  i s  no ,  I  was no t  aware .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  had not  read the  Act .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  th is  p rov is ion  re fe rs  to  a 20 

procu rement  po l i cy  o f  the  Min i s te r  and I  am ask ing  h im i f  

he  was aware  o f  any such procurement  po l i cy.   He might  

no t  have been a le r ted  to  the  du ty  to  fo l low i t  because he 

had not  read the  Act  bu t  he  m ight  have known o f  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  I  th ink  th is  quest ion  is  a  l i t t le  
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d i f fe ren t ,  Mr  Zwane,  he  has jus t  asked -  Mr  Pre tor ius  i s  

jus t  ask ing  you whether  you were  aware  o f  such a  po l i cy  in  

2010.  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You were  no t  aware .  

MR ZWANE:    I f  I  was aware ,  I  wou ld  have ins i s ted  tha t  i t  

shou ld  be  fo l lowed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Le t  us  go  then to  7 .4  (a ) .   7 .4  (a )  

says:  10 

“The MEC must  es tab l i sh  a  pane l  o f  no t  more  than  

s ix  persons to  adv ise  the  MEC on any mat te r  

re la t ing  to  hous ing  deve lopment . ”  

4 (b )  says:  

“A pane l  sha l l  cons i s t  o f  one or  more  f i t  and proper  

persons who have knowledge,  qua l i f i ca t ions or  

exper ience in  the  f ie ld  o f  hous ing  deve lopment . ”  

Dur ing  2010 and  2011 d id  you es tab l i sh  such a  pane l?   

That  i s  a  fac tua l  quest ion .  

MR ZWANE:    The fac t  i s  tha t ,  as  I  have sa id ,  I  d id  know 20 

tha t  I  was supposed to  es tab l i sh  such a  pane l ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  had you read the  Act  and had  

you app l ied  i t s  p rov i s ions you wou ld  have had a  pane l  o f  

no t  more  than s ix  exper ts  to  adv ise  you on any  mat te r  

re la t ing  to  hous ing  deve lopment  and presumably  tha t  
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inc ludes procurement .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And then Sect ion  5 ,  you w i l l  reca l l  

ear l ie r  when tak ing  Mr  Mokoena to  task  i n  te rms  o f  the  

prov is ions o f  Sec t ion  51  o f  the  Pub l ic  F inance Management  

Act  you made i t  very  c lear  tha t  even though an account ing  

o f f i cer  may de legate  or  he  may fo l low and co r rec t  o rders ,  

he  is  u l t imate ly  t he  accountab le  person.   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Those prov is ions,  in te res t ing ly,  a re  10 

mi r ro red in  Sect ion  7 .5  o f  th is  Act  wh ich  reads:  

“The MEC may,  sub jec t  to  any cond i t ions  he  or  she  

may deem appropr ia te  in  any ins tance,  de legate  any  

power  confer red  on h im o r  he r  by  the  Act  o r  be  

ass igned any duty  imposed upon h im or  he r  by  th i s  

Act . . . ”  

But  then i t  con t inues.  

“…to  any o f f i cer  o r  employee in  the  depar tment  

respons ib le  fo r  the  admin is t ra t ion  o f  hous ing  

mat te rs  in  the  prov ince e i ther  in  h is  o r  her  persona l  20 

capac i ty  o r  by  v i r tue  o f  the  rank he  or  she ho lds  o r  

the  post  he  or  she occup ies  prov ided tha t  the  

de legat ion  o f  ass ignment  does  not  p revent  the  

person who made  the  de legat ion  or  ass ignment  f rom 

exerc is ing  tha t  power  o r  pe r fo rm ing tha t  du ty  
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h imse l f  o r  herse l f . ”  

So the  power  to  exerc ise  any du ty  under  th i s  Act ,  whatever  

i t  may be,  remains  w i th  the  MEC.   Do you see tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  see  i t ,  Cha i r,  and f rom where  I  am seated I  

th ink  w i th  due respect ,  th is  p rocess is  no t  tak ing  shape as  

I  unders tood you to  be  adv is ing .   What  the  ev idence leader  

i s  do ing  is  lead ing  me th rough th is  document  tha t  I  have 

not  fami l ia r i sed myse l f  and I  mus t  be  on  record  in  say ing  

yes or  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  10 

MR ZWANE:    And I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  i s  fa i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  we l l ,  Mr  Zwane,  w i th  equa l  

respect  in  re tu rn ,  the  reason I  am put t ing  them to  you is  so  

tha t  you can focus on  them in  your  response.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you response,  a f te r  the  read ing  

the  Act .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  am jus t  a le r t ing  you to  ce r ta in  

prov is ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  he is  no t  ask ing  you fo r  an  answer  

now,  he  jus t  wants  you to  no te  what  a reas,  what  i ssues he 20 

is  in te res ted  in  ge t t ing  an  answer  f rom you on.   Tha t  i s  why  

I  was say ing  to  you ear l ie r  on  you might  need a  pen and  

paper  so  tha t  you record  the  issues tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  an  

answer  on  but  no t  tha t  he  wants  an  answer  now.   La ter  one 

when you depose  to  an  a f f idav i t  tha t  can be dea l t  w i th  i t .   
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 O f  course ,  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  anothe r  way might  be  tha t  

someth ing  in  wr i t ing  cou ld  be  sen t  to  h is  a t to rneys  to  say 

these are  the  areas he must  dea l  w i th  in  h is  a f f idav i t  bu t  

th is  i s  another  way o f  dea l ing  w i th  i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   So we can do  tha t  in  

add i t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   So I  th ink  what  w i l l  be  done,  

Mr  Zwane,  i s  tha t  a f te r  today Mr  P re tor ius  w i l l  send  to  your  

a t to rneys a l l  the  issues tha t  he  wou ld  l i ke  you to  dea l  w i th  

in  an  a f f idav i t  a f te r  you have read the  Act .   Okay? 10 

MR ZWANE:    I  accept ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:     

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course  wha t  I  do  what  to  ask ,  Mr  

Zwane,  i s  th is .   Was i t  a f te r  the  genera l  e lec t ion  o f  2009  

tha t  you were  appo in ted  as  MEC for  Human Set t lements  or  

was i t  dur ing  tha t  te rm,  no t  a t  the  beg inn ing  o f  tha t  te rm?  

In  o ther  words,  had you been MEC in  th is  depar tment  f rom 

immedia te ly  a f te r  the  e lec t ions in  2009 or  d id  you come in  

in  2010 or  la te  in  2009? 

MR ZWANE:    I  came a f te r  the  e lec t ions,  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   So in  Apr i l  2010 when the  open  

tender  pub l i c  p rocess was in i t ia ted  you had been in  the  

depar tment  c lose  to  a  year  o r  thereabouts  because the  

e lec t ions in  2009 …[ in tervenes]  

MR ZWANE:    Less than a  year.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t  i s  more  or  less ,  ja ,  less  than a  

year,  o r  jus t  shor t  o f  a  year,  maybe two months  shor t  o f  a  

year  o r  so .  

MR ZWANE:    We were  appo in ted  around – ja ,  June ,  Ju ly.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now as a t  Apr i l  2010,  do  you  know 

whethe r  a t  tha t  s tage,  a round Apr i l  2010,  you had heard  

tha t  there  was an  Act  o f  Par l iamen t  ca l led  the  Hous ing  Act  

o r  do  you not  remember  whether  you had heard  tha t  such  10 

an Act  ex is ted?  

MR ZWANE:     Maybe I  shou ld  a l lude to  the  fac t ,  Cha i r,  

tha t  as  I  was appo in ted ,  I  had an exper ience  o f  the  

mun ic ipa l i t y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    And the  mun ic ipa l i t y  dea ls  by  and  la rge ly  

w i th  MFMA.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:    And when I  go t  to  the  Prov ince ,  I  then  

fami l ia r i sed myse l f  w i th  the  PFMA which  to  me wou ld  have 20 

been reasonab le  to  say i t  rep laces  the  MFMA because I  am 

now in  the  Prov ince.   I  sa id  ear l ie r  on  tha t  when  I  was 

in fo rmed by  the  Hous ing  Act  i s  when I  had asked about  the  

way fo rward  a f te r  the  open tender  was abandoned.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  
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MR ZWANE:    And tha t  was around a f te r  Apr i l  in  2010.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  maybe wou ld  be  June,  Ju ly,  August ,  

a round about .  

MR ZWANE:   A round tha t  t ime,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    No,  th is  can ac tua l l y  be  done under  the  

Hous ing  Act  because I  was ask ing  where  does th i s  come 

f rom because I  am fami l ia r  w i th  the  PFMA.   That  i s  when I  

learn t  about  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The Hous ing  Act .  10 

MR ZWANE:    The Hous ing  Act .  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  the  f i rs t  t ime.  

MR ZWANE:    Ja .   Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   You see,  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  concern  

to  me and I  jus t  want  to  ra i se  w i th  you so  tha t  you can  

comment  on  i t ,  i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  concern  to  me tha t  there 

wou ld  be  an Act  and i t  i s  ca l led  the  Hous ing  Act  tha t  

app l ies  in  the  prov inces as  we l l  tha t  the  MEC respons ib le  

fo r  Human Set t lements  does not  know about  fo r  more  than 

a  year  in  o f f i ce .   So i t  i s  a  mat te r  o f  concern  to  me to  say  20 

what  b r ings abou t  such a  s i tua t ion  because an MEC -  o f  

course  he might  no t  be  a  lawyer,  bu t  an  MEC who  comes  

in ,  same th ing  w i th  a  Min is te r  who comes in to  a  ce r ta in  

por t fo l io ,  one wou ld  expect  tha t  they wou ld  want  to  be  

in fo rmed o f  a l l  leg is la t ion  tha t  i s  re levant  to  the  the i r  
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por t fo l io  so  tha t  they are  fami l ia r  w i th  them both  fo r  

purposes –  fo r  the i r  own purposes  but  a lso  fo r  pu rposes o f  

maybe per fo rming ove rs igh t  over  the  HOD and so  on .   Do 

you have someth ing  about  tha t  concern  tha t  I  have? 

MR ZWANE:    Cha i r,  I  hear  the  concern  you say.   Normal ly  

the  process i s  tha t  when you ar r i ve  i n  a  par t i cu la r  

depar tment  you are  we lcomed in  tha t  depar tment  by  the  

head o f  the  depar tment  and w i th  t ime your  f i rs t  induct ion  

w i l l  be  to  be  g iven too ls  tha t  you are  go ing  to  work  around.   

Too ls  l i ke  your  Const i tu t ion ,  what  a f fec ts  us  in  th is  10 

depar tment ,  Sect ion  so  and so .    

Above the  genera l  overs igh t  respons ib i l i t i es  o f  a  

po l i t i c ian ,  i t  w i l l  be  PFMA in  the  main .   I  remember  when I  

was s t i l l  the  mun ic ipa l i t y,  I  was in t roduced to  someth ing  

ca l led  GRAP,  you  know?  I t  i s  a  p rocess tha t  i s  under taken  

when you a re  yourse l f  be  we lcomed in  the  depar tment  and  

in  tha t  p rocess you then take  hear t  to  what  has been g iven  

to  you because  a t  tha t  po in t ,  you may not  know the  

Hous ing  Code and the  Hous ing  Ac t  and o ther  po l i c i es  tha t  

m ight  be  there  fo rm ing par t  o f  what  you need to  know 20 

un less  you are  taken in to  speed on these issues and tha t  

p rocess d id  take  p lace,  Cha i r,  to  me,  acc l imat ise  th is  and 

th is  and tha t  i s  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Led by  the  HOD by any chance?  

MR ZWANE:    Under  normal  c i rcumstances there  shou ld  be  
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a  handover  repor t  by  the  pe rson who was there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    The prev ious MEC? 

MR ZWANE:    The prev ious MEC.   But  then the  HOD come 

in  hand to  p rov ide  the  too ls  o f  t rade in  te rms o f  the  law 

and he re  we worked in  te rms o f  th is  and th i s  and  th is  i s  

what  happens when we deve loped these issues.  

 The d i f f i cu l t y,  Cha i r,  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  t ime,  you may  

not  know as a  po l i t i c ian  genera l l y  tha t  I  have to  go  th rough  

th is  one and th i s  one and th is  one.   So tha t  i s  how th i s  

happens and I  may a lso  want  to  say i f  you  take  2009/2010,  10 

thereabouts ,  wou ld  take  a t  hear t  tha t  our  overs igh t  wou ld  

no t  mean you are  de lv ing  deep in to  i ssues  o f  the  

leg is la t ion  because there  are  peop le  who w i l l  he lp  you f rom 

t ime to  t ime in  te rms o f  those leg i s la t ion  to  ensure  tha t  the 

depar tment ,  the  ac t i v i t ies ,  a re  w i th in ,  a re  i n  l ine  w i th  what  

needs to  happen  in  tha t  depar tment  and tha t  i s  how the  

s i tua t ion  was.   So rea l l y  jus t  want  to  say to  you I  hear  your  

concern  bu t  I  a lso  want  to  pa in t  th is  p ic tu re  tha t  tha t  was 

the  s i tua t ion  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  wou ld  I  be  r igh t  to  unders tand your  20 

ev idence as  say ing  a l though tha t  p rocess tha t  you are  

ta lk ing  about  d id  take  p lace when you came to  the 

depar tment  in  2009,  nobody drew your  a t ten t ion  to  the 

ex i s tence o f  the  Hous ing  Act  dur ing  tha t  p rocess?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  cor rec t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Nobody.  

MR ZWANE:    Nobody.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you are  su re  about  tha t?   And you  

are  sure  tha t  de f in i te ly  nobody d id  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    As  I  say,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   D id  the  HOD or  some o f  the  

o f f i c ia ls  g ive  you  maybe a  pack or  f i l e  tha t  a l l  the  ex i s t ing  

po l i c ies  o f  the  depar tment  tha t  you might  have to  know 

about  inc lud ing  leg i t im isa t ion?  Maybe PFMA they pu t  in  

bu t  they d id  no t  pu t  in  the  Hous ing  Act .   D id  they do  10 

anyth ing  l i ke  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  may not  reca l l  in  te rms o f  the  package,  

Cha i r,  bu t  in  my reco l lec t ion ,  I  d id  ge t  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  your…? 

MR ZWANE:    In  my reco l lec t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You d id  tha t  you rse l f?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  I  d id  ge t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  you d id  ge t  a  pack,  ja .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   Okay,  a l r igh t .   But  you obv ious l y  20 

unders tand why I  have th is  concern  because you have to  

k ind  o f  pe r fo rm overs igh t  ove r  the  HOD.   You unders tand 

tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  unders tand tha t  concern ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  
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MR ZWANE:    I  was jus t  say ing… 

CHAIRPERSON:    Th is  i s  how i t  happened.    

MR ZWANE:    Th is  i s  how i t  happened.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  I  unders tand.   Mr  Pre tor ius?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr  Zwane,  the  Cha i r  has been very  

po l i te  in  th is  regard  bu t  as  MEC you were  tasked w i th  the 

expend i tu re  on  low cost  hous ing  fo r  poor  peop le ,  as  you  

have emphas ised ,  o f  an  amount  o f  R1.4  b i l l i on .   I t  i s  a  

mass ive  respons ib i l i t y.  

MR ZWANE:    That ’s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  must  have been known to  you 

tha t  tha t  expend i tu re  shou ld  take  p lace e f f i c ien t ly  and 

e f fec t i ve l y  on  the  one hand and  lawfu l l y  on  the  o ther,  

cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We know now tha t  tha t  was not  

done,  we may argue tha t  bu t  tha t  i s  ce r ta in ly  the  ev idence 

tha t  we have heard  thus fa r.   Sure ly  i t  i s  no t  too  much to  

ask  o f  an  MEC who comes in to  o f f i ce  tha t  tha t  MEC takes  

the  respons ib i l i t y  on  h imse l f  o r  he rse l f  and does no t  leave  20 

i t  to  anybody e lse  to  make sure  tha t  there  is  an  awareness 

o f  a l l  the  laws  tha t  app ly  in  th is  p rocess to  spend 

R1.4b i l l i on .    

MR ZWANE:    Wel l  as  I  exp la ined  ear l ie r  Cha i r  tha t  under  

the  PFMA as I  exp la ined i t  the  funct ions tha t  were  g iven to  
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me and th is  was  not  one o f  the  funct ions g iven  to  me.   

These were  the  funct ions g i ven to  the  account ing  o f f i cer  

and  as  we speak PFMA i f  I  am co r rec t  i s  a  p iece  o f  

leg is la t ion  tha t  was deve loped in  1999,  1998 the re  about .   

I t  was a lso  a  p iece o f  leg is la t ion  tha t  was used.    

Now my impress ion  and my unders tand ing  is  tha t  

th is  

does not  suggest  tha t  a t  th is  par t i cu la r  t ime we are  pu t t ing  

as ide  what  the  PFMA is  say ing  and on ly  concent ra t ing  on  

what  the  Hous ing  Act  i s  say ing .   I  have a l luded  to  th is  10 

Commiss ion  ear l i e r  on  tha t  I  based my unders tand ing  on  

the  PFMA and I  have exp la ined jus t  now tha t  due  to  my  

background o f  the  mun ic ipa l i t y  f rom the  MFMA,  graduat ing 

f rom the  MFMA I  had to  acco rd ing  to  myse l f  w i th  the  PFMA 

and I  have exp la ined th is  i ssue and I  a lso  take  note  o f  the 

fac t  tha t  I  d id  no t  acc l imat ise  myse l f  w i th  th is  w i th  th is  

Hous ing  Act  as  I  have exp la ined tha t  i t  came to  my 

a t ten t ion  when.    

A l l  what  I  d id  and  I  thought  to  the  best  o f  my ab i l i t y  

i s  to  ensure  tha t  PFMA was fo l lowed to  the  la t te r  and so  i f  20 

tha t  was not  su f f i c ien t  then I  need to  hear  tha t  f rom th is  

Commiss ion .   A l l  tha t  I  am say ing  is  tha t  I  d id  my best  

under  the  unders tand ing  o f  what  PFMA says we must  be  

ab le  to  do  as  po l i t i c ians.   Thank you.        

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  we l l  i f  the  PFMA dea ls  w i th  
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p rocu rement  a t  a l l  i t  says  tha t  p rocurement  must  fo l low the  

law.   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You were  an  MEC appo in ted  to  

dea l  w i th  hous ing .   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    There  was a t  the  t ime a  Hous ing  

Act .   

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You d id  no t  read the  Act .   Cor rec t?   10 

MR ZWANE:    I  d id  no t  read the  Hous ing  Act .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Had you read the  Act  you wou ld  

have been a le r ted  to  your  du t ies  under  the  Act  number  1 ,  

cor rec t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  I  am sor ry  Mr  Pre tor ius  be fore  

coming to  read ing  the  Act  you  d id  no t  know tha t  the  

Hous ing  Act  ex i s ted .     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   

MR ZWANE:    You see the  one issue tha t  we debated fo r  20 

some t ime Cha i r  and I  have not  ra ised th is  i ssue .   What  

wou ld  have superseded one another  in  te rms o f  PFMA and  

the  Hous ing  Ac t  when we a re  dea l ing  w i th  human 

se t t lements  and houses because a t  some po in t  there  was a  

workshop tha t  was g iv ing  a  c lear  exp lanat ion  o f  the  
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d i f fe rence between a  house and a  human se t t lement?    

The depar tment  has changed i t  i s  a  new depar tment  

i t  i s  here  the  MEC comes fo l lows PFMA at  a  la te r  s tage he  

is  been to ld  tha t  there  is  th is  Act  tha t  i s  ca l led  the  Hous ing  

Act  in  the  m idd le  o f  the  year  when th ings are  a l ready 

happen ing .   Reasonab ly  I  thought  i t  was reasonab le  

enough fo r  anybody who w i l l  fo l low what  I  d id  a t  tha t  

par t i cu la r  t ime to  say I  was an  MEC tha t  fo l lowed the  

prescr ip ts  o f  the  law as much as  I  cou ld  unders tand them 

and i t  i s  c lea r  tha t  I  cou ld  no t  read  th is  law because  a t  tha t  10 

par t i cu la r  t ime I  d id  no t  know about  i t .    

I f  I  had read the  law and found some exp lanat ions  

in  

te rms o f  what  the  exerc i se  we a re  do ing  today maybe I  

wou ld  have come to  a  d i f fe ren t  conc lus ion  bu t  a t  tha t  

par t i cu la r  t ime I  thought  I  was do ing  my job  d i l igent ly.             

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l l  I  want  to  do  is  es tab l i sh  the  

fac ts  no t  fo r  me to  judge i t  i s  fo r  the  Cha i r  to  judge  but  le t  

us  jus t  go  back to  the  fac ts .   When you were  appo in ted  

MEC and we l l  in to  you te rm o f  o f f i ce  fo r  about  a  year  you 20 

d id  no t  know tha t  there  was a  Hous ing  Act .     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  am not  sure  tha t  tha t  improves  

the  pos i t ion  bu t  we w i l l  make submiss ions in  t ha t  regard .   

Had you been aware  o f  the  Act  and had you made yourse l f  
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aware  o f  the  Act  and read i t  you wou ld  have been aware  o f  

the  du t ies  res ted  upon  an  MEC in  te rms o f  hous ing .   

Cor rec t?     

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You wou ld  a lso  have had the  

benef i t  o f  a  commi t tee  o f  exper ts  to  ass is t  and adv ise  you.   

Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  wou ld  have been c learer  in  te rms o f  who is  

here  do ing  what  appo in ted  by  whom because the  reason I  

sa id  maybe i t  i s  cor rec t  fo r  me to  ge t  enough t ime  dea l ing  10 

w i th  the  same th ings because there  were  peop le  who were  

dea l ing  w i th  the  l ega l  mat te rs  I  d id  no t  know how they were  

appo in ted  but  they were  the re  as  o f f i c ia ls .    

I t  m igh t  happen tha t  I  d id  no t  appo in t  them myse l f  

bu t  peop le  were  there .   Now I  was  t ry ing  to  run  away f rom 

a  s i tua t ion  where  I  w i l l  answer  based on what  I  know when 

th is  Act  i s  ac tua l l y  revea l ing  o the r  fac ts  wh ich  is  I  must  go  

back and acc l imat ise  myse l f  and  g ive  a  proper  answer  I  

submi t  Cha i r.    

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  wou ld  have thought  the  quest ion  20 

was capab le  o f  a  s t ra igh t  fo rward  answer.   The Act  ob l iges  

the  MEC to  appo in t  a  commi t tee  o f  exper ts .   Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    Th is  one yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You d id no t  do  so ,  had you read  

the  Act  p resumab ly  you wou ld  have done so .   Cor rec t?    
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MR ZWANE:    Yes.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Le t  us  dea l  w i th  the  ERP then i f  we 

may i t  appears  a t  Bund le  14…[ in te rvene]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Pre tor ius  because I  th ink  

you are  mov ing  away f rom the  Act .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  I  am.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  maybe i t  m igh t  be  d i f f i cu l t  to  f ind  the  

r igh t  ad jec t i ve  bu t  i t  i s  ra ther  shock ing  to  me Mr  Zwane  

tha t  the  Free S ta te  Prov ince has a  s i tua t ion  where  the  MEC 

for  hous ing  does not  know fo r  over  a  year  in  tha t  o f f i ce  tha t  10 

there  is  a  Hous ing  Act  in  the  count ry  tha t  app l ies  to  h is  

por t fo l io .    

As  to  who shou ld  be  b lamed fo r  tha t  tha t  m ight  be  

another  quest ion  bu t  on  i t s  own i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  i s  a  

l i t t le  shock ing  to  me and one wou ld  have thought  tha t  to  

say the  l east  the  HOD wou ld  know about  tha t  and  wou ld  

have made sure  tha t  the  MEC knew and the  lega l  peop le  

w i th in  the  depar tment  wou ld  have  made sure  tha t  p robab ly  

the  MEC a lso  shou ld  have known about  tha t  bu t  maybe tha t  

m ight  be  a  mat te r  fo r  debate .   So there  i s  tha t  par t  bu t  20 

then th is  i s  another  par t  fo r  me go ing  back to  when you 

were  to ld  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime about  the  Hous ing  Act  now th i s  

i s  when the  open  tender  p rocess had been abandoned and  

you were  ask ing  the  o f f i c ia l s  what  i s  the  way fo rward  and  

they sa id  we can  use the  da tabase and they sa id  tha t  i s  
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permiss ib le  under  the  Hous ing  Act .    

Now I  wou ld  have  thought  tha t  w i th  your  knowledge 

o f  the  PFMA wh ich  you have tes t i f ied  to  your  react ion  

wou ld  be  now under  the  PFMA in  te rms o f  as  the  leg is la t ion  

tha t  I  know to  be  app l i cab le .   I  do  no t  remember  tha t  th is  

wou ld  be  permiss ib le  i f  you  peop le  now te l l  me tha t  there  

is  another  Act  tha t  a l lows th i s  i t  means you are  te l l ing  me 

someth ing  very  impor tan t  tha t  I  d id  no t  know about  and I  

wou ld  l i ke  to  see the  Act  I  wou ld  l i ke  to  see those  

prov is ions because I  have a lways unders tood tha t  the  10 

PFMA does not  a l low fo r  th is  k ind  o f  th ing .    

But  you a re  te l l ing  me fo rget  about  the  PFMA there  

is  another  Act  tha t  a l lows th is .   I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  

you wou ld  say prec i se l y  because you d id  no t  know about  

th is  Act  they a re  te l l ing  you someth ing  new you wou ld  want  

to  see tha t  Act  and see those p rov i s ions to  add  to  your  

knowledge fo r  go ing  fo rward  to  say  now I  know exac t ly  how 

–  tha t  there  i s  another  Act  tha t  I  knew noth ing  about  I  am 

surpr i sed tha t  I  am hear ing  abou t  i t  more  than 12  months  

a f te r  I  became MEC I  am be ing  to ld  about  i t  fo r  the  f i rs t  20 

t ime.   Before  I  go  fu r ther  I  wan t  to  see tha t  what  the  

o f f i c ia ls  a re  te l l ing  me is  t rue  because they never  to ld  me 

a l l  these months  about  th is  Act  and now they are  te l l ing  me 

about  a  new Ac t  tha t  app l ies  here  I  want  to  see tha t  

ac tua l l y  I  want  to  know f rom them how come you have  
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never  to ld  me about  th is  Act .   That  i s  the  k ind  o f  react ion  

tha t  I  wou ld  have  expected.   What  do  you say to  tha t?             

MR ZWANE:    Cha i r  I  hear  what  the  Cha i r  i s  say ing  I  

a lways kept  tha t  in  m ind because we normal ly  p lan  fo r  

every  year  fo r  th is  k ind  o f  ac t i v i t y  appo in tment  o f  the 

serv i ce  prov iders .   What  I  d id  and a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  t ime 

wh ich  I  thought  was su f f i c ien t  and was not  quest ioned  

e i ther  a t  any leve l  was to  submi t  these ideas  to  the  

co l lec t i ve  o f  the  execut ive  tha t  there  i s  th is  s i tua t ion  tha t  

the  tender  has been abandoned and the  proposa l  i s  tha t  we 10 

are  fo l low ing a  da tabase tha t  w i l l  cons ider  d i f fe ren t  

p rocesses.    

The EXCO agreed to  th is  so  when I  went  back to  

Imp lement  i t  was no longer  a  dec is ion  o f  one person  who is  

an  MEC in  th i s  case me,  i t  was a  dec is ion  tha t  has been 

endorsed by  the  co l lec t i ve  tha t  w i l l  a lso  inc lude the  HOD’s  

o f  a l l  the  prov ince.   I t  d id  no t  dawn to  me a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  

t ime tha t  there  cou ld  be  someth ing  un toward  th is  p rocedure  

tha t  has ac tua l l y  been adopted  by  the  who le  execut ive  

inc lud ing  these peop le  who th ink  they are  there  to  adv ise  20 

us .   So tha t  i s  my response to  the  concern  the  Cha i r  i s  

ra is ing .   

CHAIRPERSON:    And o f  course  I  th ink  I  may have 

ment ioned th is  be fore  i t  i s  a lso  s t range to  me tha t  a t  th is  

EXCO meet ing  the  Premier  and about  e igh t  o ther  MEC’s  I  
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th ink  there  are  no rmal ly  ten…[ in tervene]             

MR ZWANE:    There  a re  ten  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ten  MEC’s .   

MR ZWANE:    We were  ten  a l l  in  a l l ,  yes .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  n ine  MEC’s  and maybe about  ten  

HOD’s  and the  DG o f  the  prov ince in  th is  meet ing  no t  a  

s ing le  pe rson says i s  th is ,  wou ld  th is  be  lawfu l  you know.   

But  I  have put  tha t  to  you I  am jus t  repeat ing  tha t  I  have  

got  tha t  concern  bu t  you  w i l l  go  th rough the  

Act…[ in tervene]   10 

MR ZWANE:    I  w i l l  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    When you go th rough the  Act  you must  

a lso  remember  tha t  when I  w i l l  a t  the  sect ions tha t  Mr  

Pre tor ius  has re fer red  to  someth ing  says to  me i f  on ly  you,  

the  MEC,  had sa id  p lease g i ve  me tha t  Act  you are  ta lk ing  

about  and you went  th rough i t ,  you  wou ld  have p i cked up  

tha t  i t  doesn ’ t  seem to  say what  the  o f f i c ia l s  sa id  t o  you i t  

says ,  bu t  you haven ’ t  read i t ,  when  you read i t  jus t  bear  in  

m ind tha t  concern .  

 Okay Mr  Pre tor ius .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    O f  cou rse  Mr  Zwane i t  was the  po l l  

o f  the  Prov inc ia l  Cab ine t ,  inc lud ing  a l l  the  MEC’s  under  the  

gu ise  o f  Exco tha t  shou ld  be  he ld  accountab le  fo r  what  

happened but  no t  a  comfor t ing  thought .   So I  unders tand  

tha t  what  you are  say ing  i s  tha t  these dec is ions inc lud ing  
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the  da tabase dec is ion  were  approved by  the  who le  cab ine t ,  

a l l  the  MEC’s ,  no  one  spoke out  aga ins t  i t ,  and tha t  

somehow makes the  s i tua t ion  more  unders tandab le ,  I  am 

a f ra id  i t  makes i t  fa r  worse .  

MR ZWANE:    A re  you expect ing  my comment  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    He is  ask ing  fo r  your  comment  ja ,  i f  you  

have got  any,  you  might  no t  have any.  

MR ZWANE:    Wel l  I  do  no t  have  a  comment  a t  th is  s tage  

Cha i r  thanks.  

CHAIRPERSON:    A l r igh t .  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    May I  now move onto  the  ELP 

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes Mr  Pre tor ius .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr  Zwane  wou ld  you look a t  FS14  

p lease a t  page 226,  I  th ink  i t ’s  the  one on your  r igh t  hand 

s ide .  

MR ZWANE:   What  page?   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The FS14,  page 226.  

MR ZWANE:    Okay yes,  on  . . .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Do you recogn ise  th is  document?  20 

MR ZWANE:    Yes Cha i r  I  do .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You do,  okay be fore  go ing  in to  the  

de ta i l  o f  tha t  document  I  want  to  re fe r  to  a  passage  in  your  

own a f f idav i t ,  and I  am go ing  to  ask  you p lease to  go  to  

Bund le  FS12 a t  page 493.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  FS12?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   FS12 Cha i r  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And what  page?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    493.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And 14 I  must  keep open or  I  must  c lose  

Mr  Pre tor ius ,  Bund le  FS14?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  we are  go ing  back there  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh we ’ re  go ing  back there ,  okay what  

page?  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Af ter  a  few minutes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  page on FS12? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    493 Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Paragraph  93 o f  your  a f f idav i t  i f  I  

may jus t  read i t  to  you and then ask  a  quest ion  or  two.   

You say I  conf i rm tha t  dur ing  December /January  2010,  I  

p resume you mean December  2010/January  2011,  when I  

was oversee ing  the  const ruc t ion  o f  these houses I  saw 

pos i t i ve  s teps taken by  cont rac tors  in  o rde r  to  comp ly  w i th  20 

the  Depar tment  ins t ruc t ions and I  can conf i rm tha t  even  

though I  do  no t  have the  exact  f igures  I  had opened p lus  

m inus 50 comple ted  houses and there  were  many  

s t ruc tures  wh ich  were  on  foundat ion  s tages,  wa l l  leve l  

m i les tone,  and roo f  leve l  m i les tone wh ich  wou ld  have been 
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comple ted  had they been fu r ther  two to  th ree  months .   I  

p resume tha t  shou ld  read had they been fu r the r  two to 

th ree  months .   Do you reca l l  pu t t ing  tha t  ev idence  before  

the  Cha i r  in  tha t  a f f idav i t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  i t  seems to  me tha t  du r ing  the  

per iod  December  2010/January  2011 you  opened 

approx imate l y  50  comple ted  houses.  

MR ZWANE:    Approx imate ly  yes tha t  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And you say there  were  many 10 

s t ruc tures  a t  foundat ion  s tage,  wa l l  leve l  m i les tone and 

roo f  leve l  m i les tone wh ich  wou ld  have been comple ted  in  a 

fu r ther  two to  th ree  months?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  the  fu r the r  two to  th ree  months  is  

tha t  the  –  i s  tha t  fu r ther  two to  three  months  a f te r  the  end  

o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  o r  fu r the r  two to  th ree  mon ths  a f te r  

January  2011,  I  th ink  tha t  December,  January  2010 is  

meant  to  be  December  2010/January  2011 is  tha t  co r rec t .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  when  you say fu r the r  two or  

th ree  months  is  tha t  a f te r  the  f inanc ia l  year  o r  i s  tha t  a f te r  

January?  

MR ZWANE:   The process was ac tua l l y  s topped  Cha i r,  

a round mid-January.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    About  m id-January?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh so  when you say had tha t  been two  

to  th ree  fu r the r  months  you mean f rom mid-January?  

MR ZWANE:   I f  we had gone . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  i t  had been a l lowed to  go  on  fo r  

another  two to  th ree  months  a f te r  m id-January?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes i t  wou ld  have  been,  I  th ink  we wou ld  

have covered a  lo t  o f  g round.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    50  houses  a t  R76 000 a  house and 

fo rg ive  my maths i t  i s  approx imate l y  R3.6mi l l ion .  

MR ZWANE:    Wel l  Cha i r  i f  I  may in  my own a f f idav i t  jus t  to  

take  th is  po in t  fu r the r,  I  may check there  is  a  s ta tement  

tha t  was made to  th is  e f fec t  wh ich  I  want  to  be l ieve  w i l l  

ass is t  th is  in fo rmat ion  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes you can take  us  to  tha t  s ta tement  i f  

you  are  ab le  to .  

MR ZWANE:   I f  you  g ive  me a  moment  I  shou ld  be  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you  te l l  Mr  P re tor ius  what  the  

s ta tement  says he  might  be  ab le  to  f ind  i t  qu icke r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I s  i t  the  annexure  to  th i s  le t te r  to  

Nat iona l?  

MR ZWANE:   No i t  i s  a  med ia  s ta tement  . . . [ in te rvenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON:    You say i t  i s  a  med ia  s ta tement  tha t  you  

are  look ing  fo r?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  the  one  tha t  was in  response to  

the  Nat iona l  Min i s te r ’s  med ia  s ta tement  o r  was i t  another  

one?  

MR ZWANE:   I  th ink  so  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  was a  t ime when the  Nat iona l  

Min is te r  i ssued a  med ia  s ta tement  about  tak ing  away some 

two hundred and s ix ty  someth ing  mi l l ion  f rom the  p rov ince,  10 

in  response to  tha t  the  Depar tment  i ssued i t s  own media  

s ta tement ,  tha t  i s  the  one you a re  ta lk ing  about?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  the  one I  am ta lk ing  about .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay Mr  Pre tor ius  I  th ink  i t  i s  in  

whatever  bund le  i t  i s  in  i t  i s  somewhere  towards the  end o f  

the  bund le  tha t  med ia  s ta tement .   I t  m igh t  be  in  the  bund le  

tha t  has go t  Mr  Mchachwa’s  a f f idav i t .  

MR ZWANE:   I t  is  596,  page 596.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  o f  FS12?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    526?  

MR ZWANE:   596 Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Wel l  a t  leas t  I  th ink  I  was r igh t  

about  one th ing ,  I  sa id  whatever  bund le  i t  i s  in ,  i t  i s  

towards the  end o f  the  bund le .    Yes,  I  have got  i t ,  have 
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you  got  i t  Mr  Pre tor ius?    Mr  Pre tor ius  have you got  i t?   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  have i t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  what  i s  the  po in t  you wanted to  

make Mr  Zwane?  

MR ZWANE:    I  jus t  want  to  make a  po in t  Cha i r  t ha t  th is  

document  was wr i t ten  by  the  Depar tment ,  no t  by  me.   Th is  

document  a l ludes  to  the  fac t  tha t  I  have in  my own a f f idav i t  

tha t  a  number  o f  house were  conc luded,  in  fac t  i t  goes on 

to  even g ive  a  number  o f  houses tha t  were  conc luded,  

wh ich  are  even more  because you w i l l  remember  in  my 10 

s ta tement  I  had sa id  I  cannot  remember  p roper ly  what  has  

happened,  bu t  i f  you  go th rough th is  s ta tement  i t  w i l l  te l l  

you  tha t  dur ing  the  phys ica l  depar tment  o f  Human 

Set t lement  engaged the  Min i s te r  o f  Nat iona l  Depar tment  in  

th is  regard  we f i rm ly  be l ieve  –  I  am su re  you see tha t  

parag raph,  dur ing  th is  f inanc ia l  yea r  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you on page  596 or  597?  

MR ZWANE:   I t  w i l l  be  597 Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh yes,  ja .   The paragraphs are  no t  

numbered but  you can te l l  us  wh ich  one f rom the  top  tha t  20 

you are  read ing  f rom.   Wel l  where  i t  says  du r ing  th is  

f inanc ia l  yea r,  tha t ’s  the  th i rd  parag raph f rom the 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR ZWANE:   Yes tha t ’s  the  th i rd  parag raph.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes okay.  
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MR ZWANE:   Yes.   Dur ing  the  f inanc ia l  year  the  

Depar tment  has se t  a  na t iona l  t rend by  bu i ld ing  be tween  

50 and 60 square  met res  houses ,  a  to ta l  o f  10  d i f fe ren t  

des igns o f  the  RDP houses has been deve loped w i th  the  

ass is tance o f  Truman Eng ineers .   As  par t  o f  bo ld  in i t ia t i ve  

o f  Opera t ion  H lase la  the  Prov ince say th is  de l i very  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  new RDP houses are  equ ipped w i th  –  the  

de ta i l s  i s  the re  Cha i r.  

 The fo l low ing paragraph reads:  

“Our  g roundbreak ing  hous ing  pro jec t s  in  10 

Marabastad,  Kroonstad is  a  case  in  po in t  s im i la r,  

b igger  and bet te r  RDP houses  have a lso  been 

bu i l t . ”  

And then i t  went  on  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  those a re  d i f fe ren t  a reas 

where  these houses were  bu i l t  in  tha t  f inanc ia l  year.   Then  

the  fo l low ing pa ragraph i t  says :  

“On Chr is tmas Day Human Set t lement  MEC Zwane  

handed over  100 houses in  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  in  the  

Easte rn  Free S ta te ,  in  the  nearby town o f  F i cksburg  

another  100 houses were  handed over  to  20 

benef ic ia r i es  on  Chr is tmas Eve. ”  

A l l  tha t  I  am t ry ing  to  say Cha i r  th is  p iece  o f  in fo rmat ion  

w i l l  cor robora te  what  I  am say ing  and f rom the  Depar tment  

independent ly.   I  have not  ve r i f ied  the  numbers ,  the  po in t  I  

am mak ing  he re  is  tha t  indeed houses were  bu i l t  and we 
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opened houses dur ing  Chr is tmas,  dur ing  those ho l idays we  

opened houses tha t  i s  the  po in t  I  was t ry ing  to  make .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  fo r  the  sake o f  comple teness one 

shou ld  go  to  the  next  paragraph.   I t  says :  

“On New Year ’s  Day MEC Zwane handed an 

add i t iona l  250 houses in  Vrede,  a  to ta l  o f  600 

houses were  handed over  to  benef ic ia r ies  in  var ious 

towns dur ing  December  a lone in  Buchabero ,  s i x  

houses were  handed over  to  e lde r ly  benef ic ia r ies  as  

these have been  pr io r i t i sed  on our  benef ic ia ry  l i s t .    10 

In  B loemfonte in  20  e lder l y  benef ic ia r ies  a lso  

rece ived houses on Chr i s tmas Day. ”  

I t  wou ld  appear  tha t  in  te rms o f  what  th is  med ia  s ta tement  

o f  the  depar tmen t  i s  say ing ,  and you have made the  po in t  

tha t  you d id  no t  wr i te  the  s ta tement  yourse l f ,  i t  seems tha t  

acco rd ing  to  th is  med ia  s ta tement  whereas you were  

say ing  tha t  –  o r  I  unders tood your  a f f idav i t  to  say  you –  

dur ing  December you handed over about  is i t  250 houses or  

50 houses I  cannot remember? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   50.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   50 i t  looks l ike the department is  giv ing 

much bigger f igures in terms of  how many houses you 

handed over which had been completed dur ing December up 

to New Year – New Years’ Eve.   I t  ta lks certainly – i t  looks 

l ike more than 4 maybe more than 400 – 300 I  am not  sure.   
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Is that  your understanding as wel l  that  they are giving much 

higher f igures than yoursel f?  

MR ZWANE:   Yes.   In my aff idavi t  Chair  before I  arr ive at  the 

f igures,  I  said I  conf i rm that  even though I  do not  – I  do not  

have the exact  f igures this is the rough est imat ion I  am 

giving.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   Now I  am saying in a statement that  was not  

f rom me which I  do not  have any reason not  to bel ieve.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  10 

MR ZWANE:   Houses were bui l t  dur ing that  t ime and at  a  

much higher rate.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR ZWANE:   Than what I  had said in the statement.   That  is 

the point  I  was i l lustrat ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   Okay.   Does i t  mean that… 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So your aff idavi t… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Pretor ius.   Does i t  mean that 

as you si t  there you have no recol lect ion yoursel f  of  how 

many houses were completed and you handed over dur ing 20 

December and January?  In other words,  to what extent  the 

f igures given by the department in th is media statement are 

close to the t ruth.   Is that  something you do not  know? 

MR ZWANE:   No I  am not  too sure about that  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes 
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MR ZWANE:   I  do not  have a… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   Proper recol lect ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  

MR ZWANE:   Of  the exact  amount of  houses.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   That  were bui l t  dur ing that  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

MR ZWANE:   A l l  what  I  was i l lust rat ing is a point  that  the 

correctness of  the aff idavi t  that  houses were bui l t  dur ing that 10 

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  am afraid  again however pol i te the 

exchange is  Mr Zwane your  aff idavi t  is  c lear.   I f  you go to  

paragraph 93 you say:  

“ I  had opened plus minus 50 completed 

houses. ”  

And you refer  to  the per iod December to January 2010.  Now 

can we place any re l iance on that  statement at  al l?  

MR ZWANE:   I f  you read the statement in fu l l  – i f  you read 20 

that  paragraph in fu l l  Chair  I  d id elude to the fact  that  I  had 

eluded to the fact  that  I  am not  too sure.   I  am saying here I  

can conf i rm that  even though I  do not  have the exact  f igure 

this is what I  am saying.   I  had opened plus minus – that  is 

on an est imat ion.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes but  – but  Mr Zwane please.  

MR ZWANE:   Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Let  us just  look at  what you say.  

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   You do not  have the exact  f igures.    

“ I  had opened p lus minus 50 completed houses.”  

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Can we apply any rel iance to that  

statement at  al l?  

MR ZWANE:   I  th ink what i t  should … 10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Must  be disregard i t?  

MR ZWANE:   What should be noted is that  I  was not  too sure 

in terms of  the number of  houses.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  your… 

MR ZWANE:   That  were completed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Your est imate – your est imate Mr Zwane 

would be qui te horr ib le i f  in fact  you had opened 400 houses 

but  you said you thought you had opened plus minus 50,  

would you not  agree? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  I  – can I  just  add to that  Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  have just  done some ar i thmet ic.   

This let ter of  the Department ta lks about 1250 houses being 

opened in that  per iod.   So there is just  no possibi l i ty  of  I  am 

not  too sure plus minus 50 being reconci led on any vers ion 
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wi th 1250 in th is let ter.   One of  them is wrong.   I t  is not  a  

mistake.   I t  is not  a bad est imate.   I t  is s imply grossly 

incorrect .   What do you say to that? 

CHAIRPERSON:   You see Mr Zwane on the evidence that  

has been placed before me.  

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You were very concerned or you were very 

keen that  the departments bui ld as many houses as possible.  

So concerned were you or so keen were you that  you even 

decided not  to take a break dur ing the December/January 10 

Christmas per iod because you wanted to  be there to make 

sure that  houses were bui l t .    

And of  course this came against  the threat  I  th ink of  

the Nat ional  Minister or Department that  money would be 

taken away f rom the department i f  i t  d id not  indicate a clear 

plan that  i t  would be able to spend to improve i ts spending – 

expendi ture considerably.   Now you take – you decide I  am 

not  going on hol iday I  want to see this – these houses being 

bui l t .    

So I  do not  expect  that  somebody who is so keen to 20 

make sure that  houses are bui l t  is not  going to know how 

many houses had been completed by the t ime he was 

stopped in mid-January f rom cont inu ing wi th th is very 

important  job.   I  expect  that  you would know to say we had 

bui l t  – we have completed so many houses.    
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This is the number of  houses that  had not  been 

completed bla,  bla,  b la.   But  now i f  you have the MEC saying 

by mid-January we had completed I  th ink plus minus 50 and 

you have the department ta lk ing about – Mr Pretor ius talked 

about 1000 but  at  least  I  th ink not  less than 400.   Those are 

two vast ly di fferent  f igures.   How – how is i t  possible that  

you would not  be able to say no,  no,  no but  the department  

has got  i t  wrong.    

There is no way we have completed so many.   Or I  

real ise I  th ink I  was completely wrong.   I  mean we are X 10 

number of  years later at  some stage or another you would 

have wanted to know what the t ruth is you know.  We were 

stopped f rom bui ld ing houses in mid-January we were on 

t rack.   This – this is the number of  houses we had 

completed.  

MR ZWANE:   Chai r  the – the quest ion that  was put  to me 

when I  made my statement was not  in terms of  the – the 

number of  houses which were bui l t .   I  of  course agree that  

there is a vast  di fference in terms of  the number.    

I  agreed.   The statement was not  about  that .   The 20 

statement was that  was there any progress made during the 

t ime which you took off  and t r ied to  speed up the del ivery on 

the ground?  I  thought I  was being fa i r  to say in my 

statement houses were bui l t .   I  am not  sure because I  had 

not  gone back to  records.   The statement is done now and 
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th is th ing was in 2010/2011.   

But  I  put  to the commission that  there were houses 

which were – which I  opened – I  opened.  Meaning that  my 

statement as I  understand i t  does not  even inc lude the total  

number of  houses that  were there.   I  opened these number 

of  plus minus this number of  houses dur ing December.   

Because I  was working.    

I  went  and gave – gave the keys to a l l  our people to 

come in.   I  d id not  go to the number that  they are saying.   I f  

you are going to ask me the next  quest ion that  d id,  I  ver i fy  10 

the number I  wi l l  be honest  wi th  you to say no I  d id  not  ver i fy 

that  number.   Al l  what  I  was i l lustrat ing is that  dur ing my 

oversight  I  d id open houses and to my best  recol lect ion plus 

minus I  went to these number of  houses.    

My understanding of  that  statement Chai r  is not  to 

say these were the total  number of  houses that  were bui l t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  were completed.  

MR ZWANE:   Were completed dur ing that  process.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR ZWANE:   These are the numbers I  went on my overs ight  20 

and interacted wi th people.   Number – the houses that  I  have 

seen and I  was happy and people were there were happy.   I  

thought I  was t ry ing to  i l lustrate that  po int  and i f  that  po int  

comes across wi th al l  humi l i ty negat ively my intent ion was to  

i l lust rate the commitment that  we undertook and my work as 
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a person at  that  part icular t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hm. 

MR ZWANE:   I  d id not  th ink that  the – the quest ion was 

saying what was the total  amount of  al l  the houses.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Hm.  Yes but  I  would l ike to know that  

now.  Do you know how many houses had been completed by 

the t ime you were stopped f rom bui ld ing houses in  mid-

January? 

MR ZWANE:   No Chai r  I  do not  have – I  do not  have that  

stat ist ics wi th me.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Did you ask for that  informat ion at  

the t ime you have forgot ten i t  is now or you d id not  ask for i t  

even at  that  t ime f rom the off ic ia ls? 

MR ZWANE:   I  had asked the informat ion Chair  even as late 

as – of  th is week.   What I  got  when I  cal led – because I  

knew I  ant ic ipated that  discret ion wi l l  come that  the f i le that  

could have correct  stat ist ics.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Informat ion.  

MR ZWANE:   Ja they do not  see i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   They said they could not  f ind the f i le.  20 

MR ZWANE:   They could not  f ind the f i le.   I  d id ask for that  

f i le because I  wanted – when I  saw this media statement,  I  

read my aff idavi t .   I  thought I  should get  the correct  f igures 

f rom the department and I  d id send an emai l  t ry ing to 

reconci le th is so that  I  g ive a proper answer.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  i f  one backs to paragraph 93 Mr 

Zwane where you ment ion 50 completed houses plus minus.   

As I  understand the intent ion of  that  statement was to show 

how much had been achieved by the department under your  

watch dur ing December/January 2010.  We know December 

2010/January 2011 that  was the purpose clear f rom the 

statement here.   You were t ry ing to say – place on record 

what the department had achieved dur ing that  per iod.   And 

you say i f  I  may take the point  a bi t  further:  10 

“ I  had opened plus minus 50 completed 

houses and there were many st ructures 

which were on foundat ion stages,  wal l  level  

mi lestone and roof  level  mi lestone which 

would have been completed had there been a 

further two to three months.”  

That  on the face of  i t  is a clear intent ion to g ive the best  

picture of  the state of  progress dur ing December/January 

2010.   You do not  say here there might  have been another 

3000 houses close to complet ion – completed anyway – 20 

handed over.  

MR ZWANE:   No I  could not  say that  Chai r  because I  d id not  

have that  informat ion wi th me.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Oh.   So when was th is aff idavi t  

s igned let  us just  check that?  I t  was signed in 2019 was i t?   
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When was i t  s igned?  15 September 2019.  That  is when you 

made this statement.  

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I  want  to suggest  to  you that  your  

statement may be the correct  ref lect  of  events because I  

a lso want to suggest  to you that  the press release issued by 

the Department  is  grossly exaggerated.   That  by the 

admission of  the HOD and Mr Maxatshwa.   What do you say 

to that? 

MR ZWANE:   I  have e luded Chair  ear l ier on that  th is was not  10 

wri t ten by me and so I  – I  am current ly not  in a posi t ion to  

have an object ive judgment of  th is s tatement.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  let  us say at  least  that  i f  the 

facts in paragraph 93 are anywhere near the correct  posi t ion 

that  media statement would have been a gross exaggerat ion.   

Would you at  least  admit  that? 

MR ZWANE:   The – the – the only smal l  chal lenge I  had wi th 

the media statement Chair  i f  I  may al lude to i t  is  the t iming 

of  i t  because i t  is  a  react ionary kind of  document which may 

in some instances lack object ives.   But  in terms of  the 20 

precision of  the statement I  cannot vouch to i t  that  is  why up 

f ront  I  had sa id the point  I  was t ry ing to i l lust rate here when 

I  refer you to th is  statement was not  about  numbers.   I t  was 

about the fact  that  houses were bui l t  dur ing that  t ime.  I  

e luded to that  statement ear l ier on Chai r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.   Wel l  lack ing object iv i ty is  

perhaps the pol i test  descr ipt ion of  the project ions of  the 

department in relat ion to what would have been achieved by 

year end.   But  let  us look at  what the media statement 

actual ly says on page 596.   I t  is dated the 26 January 2019 

and i t  says in  paragraph 1:   By the way before we got  there 

to what i t  says did you approve this statement before i t  was 

issued? 

MR ZWANE:   I  – I  normal ly do not  approve a statement that  

is not  f rom my off ice.   The HOD does in terms of  the PFMA 10 

these are the people that  are admin istered by him.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A lr ight .   Let  us look at  paragraph 1.   

Paragraph 1 says in  a publ ic media statement in  response to 

a decis ion taken by the Nat ional  Department.  

“The Free State Department of  Human 

Sett lements wi l l  not  under-spend funds 

al located for  Human Sett lements 

Development in the current  f inancial  year.   

By the end of  the f inancial  year in March the 

Department would have spent  100% of  al l  20 

condi t ional  grant  funding al located for 

Human Sett lements Development.   That  is an 

amount of  approximately R1.4 bi l l ion.”  

Now in another form that  statement was put  to  the HOD Mr 

Mokoena at  the t ime and as wel l  as to Mr Maxatshwa who 
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was on the ground in the construct ion of  houses.   You know 

that  correct? 

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   They have conceded that  that  – to  

put  i t  at  i ts mi ldest  was a gross exaggerat ion and could 

never have been achieved.  

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  I  am just  – I  just  – opportuni ty  ar is ing 

would have been,  why would they have kept  quiet  when the 

statement was issued?  Because the execut ive management 

would not  al low any media statement that  is in the di rect  10 

opposi te of  what is happening in the department to  test  he 

should … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  f i rst ly i t  is in di rect  opposi te of  

what you said in your statement but  secondly,  they gave the 

reason to the Chai r.   They said i t  was to avoid forfei t ing 

money to the f iscus.   That  was the purpose of  that  

representat ion.    

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  let  me say Chair  that  – that  was never 

brought to my at tent ion.   Why – our main aim as pol i t ic ians 

me seated here – my main concern was not  money.   I  want  to 20 

put  i t  to th is commission.    

My main concern was the people who were promised 

houses and money was there for them to own at  least  and 

have a shel ter and those people are going to lose.   And in so 

saying I  thought that  o ff ic ia ls would do thei r  best  to  achieve 
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what  we could achieve and where we cannot achieve come 

back and say to me this is how far we have gone and we 

could not  achieve to bui ld the to tal  number of  houses we 

were supposed to bui ld because of  t ime f rames and so forth.   

I  would have accepted that .    

So i f  they say a statement was issued to t ry and deal  

wi th those issues having an opportuni ty,  I  do not  see how 

this statement would have helped.   Because the real i ty of  the 

matter is that  the Nat ional  Department and the Min ister wi l l  

be guided by mi lestones what  has been happening 10 

pract ical ly  and that  wi l l  be taken not  out  of  the statement i t  

wi l l  be taken out  of  BAS which was the system – f inancial  

system which was used at  that  part icular t ime and that  

ment ion wi l l  be made.   

So issuing such a statement and come and say the 

statement was meant to t ry and mit igate.   From where I  am 

seated Chair  wi l l  be mi ld because i f  you wanted to t ry and 

achieve the only way of  doing that  was to go to the ground,  

do the best  that  we can and achieve what we can achieve.   I f  

we fai led al low the money to go back because we could not  20 

keep money i f  we could not  perform.  That  was as s imple as 

that .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   But  throughout th is morning and this 

af ternoon’s evidence you have deferred to your  off ic ia ls in 

regard to the facts.   In  fact  in  the last  hal f  an hour you have 
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made i t  c lear that  you did not  have al l  the facts.    

That  is why you say you could make a statement as 

you made regarding the 50 houses and i t  was the people on 

the ground that  knew the facts.   They have come to this  

commission this week and they have said these pro ject ions 

that  they would spend 100% by the end of  the year were 

grossly exaggerated.    

And they have sa id there was no chance that  these 

f igures would have been met.   And they said the reason for  

the misrepresentat ion was to ensure the money was not  lost .   10 

They have told the Chair  that .   They are the ones that  you 

say would know the facts.   You say you did not  know the 

facts.   Why would they be ly ing to the commission?  What  

purpose would i t  serve for them to do so? 

MR ZWANE:   I  am saying Chai r  i f  I  may?  That  I  have eluded 

that  I  was not  part  of  th is statement.   I  am saying f rom where 

I  am seated i f  I  were them rather  than issuing a statement  

that  is incorrect  that  wi l l  stay as a record that  we need to 

talk about  here.    

I  would rather preferred a route that  wi l l  go down and 20 

do the actual  job and when the t ime comes we surrender 

what we need to surrender i f  we need to surrender.   Because 

in terms of  the recovery plan i f  I  recal l  wel l  the recovery plan 

was also in l ine wi th th is statement  that  now we wi l l  be able 

to achieve what we need to achieve.    
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So I  can see now that  the statement  lacks object iv i ty,  

I  have said that  and however I  do not  accept  thei r  reasons in  

that  – that  was the r ight  way to – to actual ly do things.   I  do 

not  accept  that  reason that  is what I  was t ry ing to say.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   A l r ight .   Wel l  i f  you look at  the 

statement the thi rd last  paragraph reads:  

“The department is on t rack to bui ld  a total  of  

10 500 RDP houses.”  

You see that? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   And that  must  have meant i t  was on t rack 

to bui ld those – that  number of  houses by end of  the 

f inancial  year.  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right .   Wel l  let  us look at  FS14 page 

225 please.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  the Recovery Plan? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   That  is FS14. 

MR ZWANE:   Page 225.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Page 223 that  is the page that  I  want 20 

to refer Mr Zwane to is on page 225.   You recognise that  

document? 

MR ZWANE:   [not  speaking into the microphone].  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Did you sign that  document? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chai r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:   What is th is document? 

MR ZWANE:   2010/2011 housing al locat ions.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Right  so i t  was the intent ion I  

understand i t  to bui ld the houses in  th is al locat ion l is t  dur ing 

the f inancial  year,  correct? 

MR ZWANE:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   The total  o f  the al locat ions appears 

on page 225 and i t  ref lects a f igure of  20 950.   Do you see 

that? 

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  is not  easy to  see that  f igure.   I  thought 10 

that  i t  is … 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   I t  is not  easy to see i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was 1 350 because i t  is shaded. 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  is 209 ei ther 50 or 60.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Ja.   Our reading is 29 – 20950 but  I  

am happy to set t le for 2090.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Ja.   Are you able to read that  f igure 

Mr Zwane? 

MR ZWANE:   With al l  the di ff icul t ies that  is presented to me 20 

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay yes what  is certainly 20 900 and 

ei ther 50 or 60.  

MR ZWANE:   Ja.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So when the – and that  was the 
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projected al locat ion for the f inancial  year.   You have said 

that .  

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   So when the press statement says 

they are on t rack to bui ld 10 500 houses that  is give or take 

200 houses hal f  o f  the intended al locat ion.   Correct? 

MR ZWANE:   That  is correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Anyway we deal t  wi th the media 

statement Mr Zwane at  your instance.   I f  I  could take you 

back please to the Expendi ture Recovery Plan.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Before that  Mr Pretor ius.   Mr Zwane you 

said this media statement was prepared by the department  

and not  you.   I  take i t  that  i t  would have been approved by 

the Head of  Department to say the least .   Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE:    That  is correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you see i t  before i t  was publ ished – 

sent  out  to the – into the media? 

MR ZWANE:   No I  d id not  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The Head of  Department did not  let  you 

see i t  before i t  went  out  to the media? 20 

MR ZWANE:   No I  do not  recal l  being invi ted to see th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   Before i t  went  out  in the media.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You do not  recal l  having seen i t  before i t  

went  out  into the media you or you do recal l  that  i t  was not  
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g iven to you before i t  went  out? 

MR ZWANE:   I t  was not  given to me Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  was not  given to you? 

MR ZWANE:   No i t  was not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  I  guess you – I  guess you would have 

become aware of  i t  once i t  had been publ ished in the media? 

MR ZWANE:   Yes Chair  I  would have been.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You would have been yes.   Now apart  f rom 

reading whatever the media wrote af ter receiving i t  I  take i t  

that  you would have been favoured or you would have asked 10 

for the actual  fu l l  copy of  the statement?   

In other words you – you would not  have been 

content  to just  read what the newspaper – newspapers say 

the statement  said.   You would have said I  want to  see the 

actual  statement or  they would have – the off ic ia ls  would 

have given that  to  you on their  own – the actual  statement.  

MR ZWANE:   Wel l  Chai r  i t  – that  is  not  normal in the course 

of  us doing work.   What we normal ly do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR ZWANE:   Which may be in hindsight  not  complete.   I f  a 20 

statement has been given and we have not  seen i t  and i t  is 

grossly incorrect  you cal l  the HOD and raise your issue – 

your  d issat isfact ion and f ind a way forward in  terms of  what 

do you do next .   On the hindsight  Chai r,  because we are 

discussing this matter,  th is statement was actual ly given 
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despi te the fact  that  the department had issued a let ter in 

2011,  January on the 12t h.   I  th ink the let ter is at tached here 

also.   Should you wish to go to the let ter.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   We can look at  i t  i f  you think there is  

something important ,  a point  that  you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    There is something important  but  let  me raise 

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR ZWANE :    We wi l l  go to the later  i f  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Later.  10 

MR ZWANE :    . . . i f  you want us to do that .   The BG had 

wri t ten to the HOD, indicat ing . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    The Di rector General  of  the Nat ional  

Department . . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .had wri t ten to the HOD of  your  

department? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Indicat ing that  on the 12th. . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Of  January 2011? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    A decision had been arr ived at  to start  the 

al locat ion of  February and March,  r ight? 
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CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR ZWANE :    Now i f  you look at  that  and we already 

consoled(?) wi th the reason that  was given ear l ier on by the 

leader of  evidence that  when the HOD was here,  there is. . .  

the intent ion was to t ry and secure the fund.   A let ter. . .   

 He was al ready wi th a matter f rom the Di rector Genera l  

wri t ten on the 12t h of  January that  we are not  going to 

al locate you for the month of  February and March.    

 I  just  want to br ing that  to the at tent ion that . . .  and there 

was a lot  happening at  that  level  which I  happened to know 10 

about at  a later stage.    

 And which I  am struggl ing to reconci le where I  am 

seated.   I  thought  I  should br ing that  also to the fore so that ,  

as the Commission sees(?),  the Commission should also 

consider what I  am saying.  

CHAIRPERSON :    No,  no.   Def in i te ly i t  wi l l  and I  know the 

let ter you are talk ing about.   I  have read i t .   But  my quest ion 

was whether af ter the media statement of  the department  

had been issued to the media,  ei ther you asked for a fu l l . . .  a 

copy of  the ful l  s tatement to be brought to you or whether 20 

the department on i ts own without  you even asking,  

furnished you wi th  th is statement,  fu l l  statement.  

MR ZWANE :    I  recal l  when I . . .  what  I  requested was the. . .  to 

be taken through the progress.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  
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MR ZWANE :    Because to me what  was important  was,  are 

we achieving what  we need to achieve? 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR ZWANE :    And I  was taken . . . [ intervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    P lease raise your  voice.   I t  has gone done 

now.  Ja,  I  th ink i t  has been a long day.    

MR ZWANE :    And natural ly Chai r,  I  have a sof t  vo ice.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Yes okay.  

MR ZWANE :    In  hindsight ,  I  should have taken the advice 

that  I  should come.. .  they got  another . . . [ indist inct ]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Ja.    

MR ZWANE :    Chair  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    To . . . [ indist inct ]  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    [ laughing]   I  requested that  they should take 

me through the progress Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is now the HOD and senior off ic ia ls? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR ZWANE :    Because to me, at  that  part icular t ime, not 

knowing the intent ion,  I  thought:   Wow!  I t  means i t  was done 20 

actual ly performed what was there.    

 And I  should indicate Chai r  that  HOD was not  here 

dur ing that  December despi te  the fact  that  where I (?) had 

indicated the ser iousness of  th is issue that  people wi l l  lose 

what they were going to benef i t .    
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 I  gave into h is request  by arrangement.   And so I  

thought he was br iefed properly when he comes back.   But  

then I  was given f igures and . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am not  prevent ing you f rom te l l ing me 

what happened but  I  just  remind you of  my quest ion.   

Namely,  whether af ter th is media statement had been issued 

to the media.   In  way or another,  you did have sight  of  the 

ful l  statement,  whether because you requested i t  or whether 

the off ic ia ls out  of  their  own gave you a copy of  the ful l  

statement.  10 

MR ZWANE :    I f  I  recal l  i t ,  i t  was hundred percent  or  there 

about put  in the media.   The media did not  select . . .  the 

media wi l l  no more . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So you saw the ful l  s tatement  

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    I  saw i t  f rom the media,  yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.   And that  would. . .  th is  

statement is dated 20 January 2010.   Oh, I  am sorry.   They 

must  have meant 2011.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  th is is 2011 Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because i t  is stated 2010.  
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MR ZWANE :    No,  the second paragraph is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,   what  I  am thinking.   I  see,  at  

the top there,  i t  says twenty. . .  on page 596 says 

20 January 2010.   So I  am saying,  i t  must  be because 

somet imes when i t  is January,  people keep on using the 

previous year when they made this.   This could only have 

been January 2011.   Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    Paragraph number 2 corrects that  mistake 

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  10 

MR ZWANE :    I  saw that  mistake but  i t  is corrected in  

paragraph 2.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Which says . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .as of  the date 20 January 2011.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay al r ight .  

MR ZWANE :    I t  was previous Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So you saw these f igures and you say as 

a resul t  of  having read this media statement that  came f rom 20 

the department,  you asked off ic ia ls  to take you through the 

process and you wanted to  be given a ful l  update given the 

media statement that  had been issued.   Is that  r ight? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.   Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay.   The one part  which I  have 
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some or one of  the parts I  have some di ff icul ty wi th,  wi th  

which I  want to you get  a chance to deal  wi th is that  i t  seems 

you. . .  When the process was stopped in mid-January or soon 

thereaf ter,  you did not  know how many houses had been 

completed.    

 Now that  is a l i t t le st range to me because I  th ink in your  

aff idavi t  you say that  you reported back to the. . .  back to 

Exco af ter the hol idays.    

 And I  would have thought that  you would have made 

sure you knew how many houses had been completed so that  10 

you would report  accurately.   Do you want to say anything on 

that? 

MR ZWANE :    I  get  the point  that  the Chair  is rais ing.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

MR ZWANE :    In terms of  my understanding Chai r.   When I  

went to Exco,  i t  was not  at  the t ime when this pro ject  did 

stop.   I t  was at  the t ime when I  was going to report  the work 

that  was done, the progress made during the hol idays when I  

had the chance.   I  d id not  went to report  that .    

 I  understand the quest ion raised by the Chair  to  be 20 

saying,  every t ime when the pro ject  was stopped, did you 

know the f igures?  I  am saying no.   And that  is the d i fferent  

t ime f rom the t ime when I  went to Exco to report .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you report  to  Exco before mid-January 

or af ter? 
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MR ZWANE :    I  had raised the point  Chair  that  the let ter by 

Mr Thembani Zulu,  the DG, the former DG at  that  part icular 

t ime.  I  was not  pr ivy to the let ter.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR ZWANE :    So when I  reported,  I  d id not  know that  a let ter 

has al ready been issued.   I f  I  am . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is  now the let ter  of  the 

12t h of  January? 

MR ZWANE :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  10 

MR ZWANE :    I t  d id not  get  to my at tent ion.   So then I  

reported to Exco.   I  was under the understanding that  we are 

st i l l  cont inuing and we may reach the target .  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  was i t  before mid-January when you 

reported to Exco? 

MR ZWANE :    I  th ink so.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or af ter? 

MR ZWANE :    No,  I  th ink so Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.  

MR ZWANE :    Because normal ly we wi l l  open the f i rst  week 20 

late or ear ly second week.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Of  January? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    And then we begin to. . .  dur ing that  week,  we 
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wi l l  meet at  Exco.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Where we commit (?) the way forward.   And 

that  is when we wi l l  be able to. . .  can present .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now, your repor t  to Exco about progress 

made, would i t  have been in wri t ing or would i t  have been a 

verbal  report? 

MR ZWANE :    I t  would have been in wri t ing.   You normal ly 10 

wri te a memo Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Or  i f  the Exco was hast i ly cal led as normal ly. . .  

that  is the case in January and you are asked to report ,  you 

then can have a report  wi th you and report  to Exco they wi l l  

accept .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Okay.   When you. . .  when the 

off ic ia ls took you through the process at  your request  af ter 20 

they have issued this media statement,  the f igures that  were 

in the media statement,  were they vast ly di fferent  f rom your 

understanding of  the progress that  had been made or  were 

they not? 

MR ZWANE :    Wel l ,  Chair  as a person who was on the 
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ground, mysel f ,  as I  have al luded earl ier on,  that  I  d id not  

touch base wi th al l  the corners of  the province because 

bui ld ing was happening in  al l  the corners of  the. . .  Maybe I  

should al lude to the fact  that  these f igures were much higher  

than what I  would have presented . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    . . .as a person.   Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Obviously,  that  would have been of  10 

concern to you?  Namely,  that  the f igures that  are being. . .  

that  the department had told the publ ic,  were vast ly di fferent  

f rom your understanding of  the progress that  had been 

made.  

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And did you raise these wi th the off ic ia ls,  

including the HOD, to say,  your f igures are vast ly di fferent  

f rom my understanding of  the progress that  we have made 

and I  am the one who was here dur ing the hol idays.  How 

come?  Show me that  your f igures are correct  and mine are 20 

not  correct  because we cannot mis lead the publ ic.   Did you 

say that? 

MR ZWANE :    We actual ly had a meet ing because my 

approve(?) was not  what the Chai r ’s relat ion. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Is mine conf rontat ional? 
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MR ZWANE :    Wel l ,  Chai r  the understanding is,  i f  somet imes 

you do that ,  you. . .  the best  way of  doing i t  is to want to get  

evidence.   So I  took that  route.    

 That :   Wel l ,  okay.   I  mean, I  d id  not  go to al l  these 

corners and I  may not  have a clear picture but  I  was on the 

ground.  Let  us br ing the f igures and t ry and reconci le.   I t  is  

dur ing that  meet ing where we had some/sharp(?) discussions 

took place.    

 I  th ink i t  was around the end or ear ly February of  these 

issues.   Now I  remember when I  was supposed to take. . .  10 

draw up a programme to go and see what is on the ground 

mysel f .    

 And subsequent ly,  I  was then f rom that  department,  I  

th ink around the 8t h/9 t h of  February.   But  otherwise,  there 

was a programme that  we wi l l  go together and ver i fy these 

numbers.    

 Because I  bel ieved that  as much as I  was interrogat ing 

the report ,  what was going to  be of  importance is to  t ry and 

see what is on the ground.  And I  th ink that  roster  was done.  

I t  was going to be the roster that  wi l l  take me through to 20 

March.    

 Because in March,  had I  stayed,  I  would be making a 

new pol icy statement and that  pol icy statement was going to  

be informed about what I  have seen on the ground despi te 

those that  I  opened mysel f .   And unfortunately,  I  could not  
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proceed Chai r.   As I  have said,  I  had to go to  another 

department.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  i t  is rather  st range to me that  in  

regard to a matter  where the nat ional  minister had spoken to 

you in regard to a matter about  which the nat ional  minister 

had spoken to you namely the under-expendi ture or  

performance of  the department in  spending the condi t ional  

al lowed al locat ion.    

 The department should issue a statement such as this  

giv ing vast ly di fferent  f igures f rom what you understood to 10 

be the posi t ion and they do not  check wi th you.   Or they do 

not  say,  before we issue i t ,  th is is  what we are going to be 

saying to the publ ic.    

 And indeed, actual ly,  when you look at  the statement 

more than the publ ic,  i t  seems to have been a response to 

the nat ional  min ister ’s statement to say,  you say you are 

going to take away money f rom us.    

 We are saying,  no we are not  going release any money 

or  we not  going to  al low that  because we are doing very wel l .   

But  you say they issued that  wi thout  te l l ing you what they 20 

are going to te l l  the publ ic beforehand.  

MR ZWANE :    The. . .  i f  I  part ic ipated in the compi lat ion of  the 

statement Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR ZWANE :    And this is not  how we normal ly communicate 



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 159 of 198 
 

amongst  ourselves as leaders.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR ZWANE :    I  am a f i rm bel iever of  persuasion.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR ZWANE :    Eye-to-eye.   Say my view.  And i f  I  am 

defeated,  accept  the outcome of  the meet ing.    

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR ZWANE :    I  am not  a bel iever in standing out  there and 

making my point .   When you had cal led me in the meet ing. . .  

the minister had cal led to ask to a meet ing.   Raised this 10 

point  professional ly wi th us.   And the minister has powers at  

the end of  the day to implement according to his programme.   

 I f  we were to t ry and convince the minister the best  way 

was not  to go to  the media.   I  put  i t  here.   That  is why I  

ra ised i t  ear l ier on.    

 And the best  way was to t ry and persuade the minis ter  

and that  best  way would have been informed by the problem 

I  had suggested that  I  have seen this th ing.   This is  how far 

we have moved.  Give us a chance,  we wi l l  f in ish.    

 I  was reluctant  mysel f  to immediately,  according to the 20 

report  that  I  have,  act  against  al l  four.   Because I  thought 

having a concrete ev idence of  what is on the ground, wi l l  

actual ly put  me in a bet ter place to can speak wi th the 

minister going forward.   But  I  do get  your point  Chair.   The 

point  you are rais ing.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    This af ternoon somet ime,  you 

ment ioned a let ter f rom the Nat ional  Department of  Human 

Sett lements dated the 12t h of  January.   I t  is  a  let ter that  was 

addressed to eh head of  department in the Free State and i t  

is dated the 12t h o f  January.    

 That  was the nat ional  department  giv ing not ice to  the 

provincial  department that  the further al locat ions were being 

stopped.  You recal l  you spoke of  that  let ter? 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Was that  let ter drawn to your 

at tent ion? 

MR ZWANE :    As al luded.   No,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Sorry? 

MR ZWANE :    As I  have al luded ear l ier on that  I  d id not  know 

about th is let ter.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    I  on ly found out  later.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Found later before you lef t  the 20 

department? 

MR ZWANE :    No.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Af ter you had lef t  the department? 

MR ZWANE :    Af ter I  had lef t  the department.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Did you know that  payments had 

been hal tered? 

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Surely,  I  mean, one would have 

expected and there are many unexpected things that  did 

happen.  I  wi l l  concede that  immediately.   But  one would 

have expected that  having received not i f icat ion that  

payments are being stopped, you would have been to ld.  

MR ZWANE :    I  have raised the issue of  the let ter  mysel f  

Chai r.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    And I  have sa id,  I  d id. . .  I  do not  see a point  

why the statement in the f i rst  p lace was issued when this 

let ter was there.    

 Because there. . .  wi th al l  respect ,  the leader of  the 

evidence had just  said,  the off ic ia ls I  am speaking about 

were here,  r ight?   

 And this  is what they said.   And to go back and direct . . .  

th is let ter was meant to t ry and secure the funds not  to be 

taken.   Now, I  am saying to th is Commission.    20 

 When I  came across this let ter that  I  am being asked 

about,  I  d id not  see the wisdom of  issuing a media 

statement.    

 I  mean, the let ter  was there.   The al locat ion was taken 

al ready.   As I  have al luded,  I  would have done i t  d i f ferent ly 
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Chair  and. . .  but  the fact . . .   

 Upon the point  you are asking me through you Chair  is  

that ,  d id I  know about th is let ter?  I  said no I  d id not  know.   

Had I  known, I  would have reported to Exco and ensured that 

that  process is du ly stopped.   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  Mr Zwane the media 

statement i tsel f  explains i ts purpose and that  is to respond 

to a media statement issued by the nat ional  department qui te 

cr i t ical  of  the provincial  department.   That  is what i t  says.  

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    But  anyway.   I  do not  want 

to. . . [ intervenes]   

MR ZWANE :    I  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  is not  your statement.  

MR ZWANE :    I  have answered that  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I  do not  want to go into the mot ive of  

th is statement.  

MR ZWANE :    Ja,  I  have answered i t  to say,  I  would have 

done i t  d i fferent ly.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  20 

MR ZWANE :    And I  in detai l  explained my way of  do ing 

things.   As a leader in that  department,  I  would have done 

things di fferent ly.   And that  is what I  have said.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is  your understanding of  that  media 

statement the same as mine?   
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 As I  read the statement,  i t  seems to me that  the 

department was adopt ing a rather  conf rontat ional  approach 

towards the nat ional  department or  nat ional  min ister  to say,  

you want to take money f rom us because you say we are not  

performing.   We want to te l l  you that  we are performing and 

we do not  agree wi th what you are saying.    

 Is your interpretat ion the same as mine of  what  the 

statement is about?  Or have you got  a d i fferent  

understanding or interpretat ion? 

MR ZWANE :    In  my own words Chai r,  I  have said I  would 10 

have preferred the statement to be pol i te.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    Th is is what I  have said.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So. . .  yes.  

MR ZWANE :    The. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    You would have wanted i t  to be 

conci l iatory? 

MR ZWANE :    I f  your provincial  department,  there is no way 

you can stand against  your own government,  your own 

minister who have al located to you and i t  is up to  you to 20 

del iver and you have chal lenges and you resort  back. . .  begin 

to be confrontat ional  as the Chair  says.    

 What. . .  how would that  help you in the process?  

Because the best  way was to  t ry  and engage or adhere,  

meaning,  that  the min ister has al l  the powers to take and 
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then ignore the statement.   The statement would have never 

scared(?) the minister as far as I  know the minister.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.   Mr Pretor ius.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I f  we can go Mr Zwane, f ina l ly,  to the 

document FS14 page 226.  

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    You said you recognised this 

document as the expendi ture recovery plan for 2010/2011 

prepared by the Department of  Human Sett lements,  Free 

State.  10 

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  must  have predated 

November 2010 because we know i t  was presented to a 

MINMAC meet ing in November 2010.   

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Correct? 

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    This document or ig inated before 

19 November 2011? 

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  that  is correct .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Okay.  

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Were you made aware of  the 

contents of  th is document?  Af ter  al l ,  th is document was 

prepared on your instruct ion,  having received that  inst ruct ion 
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f rom the nat ional  minister.  

MR ZWANE :    This. . .  the statement you are talk ing about and 

the recovery p lan were not  developed a l l  at  the same t ime.   

The recovery plan took into considerat ion the a l locat ion,  the 

ear l ier a l locat ion made by the department.   And this  

al locat ion was then included to be part  of  the recovery plan 

in terms of  how I  understand the sequence of  events.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes but  was this the plan that  

emerged f rom the exercise you inst ructed the off ic ia ls of  the 

department to do? 10 

MR ZWANE :    I  be l ieve so Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    A lr ight .   Let  us go to FS14, page 

234,  please.  

MR ZWANE :    [No audible reply]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Now there have been var ious 

statements made by wi tnesses this week as to the 

project ions l isted on page 234 of  FS14 and I  would just  l ike 

to put  them before you.    

 The project ions for cash f low expendi ture showed that  

there would have been by November 8500 foundat ions and 20 

an expendi ture in respect  o f  those foundat ions of  

R 170 mi l l ion.   Do you see that? 

MR ZWANE :    Are we talk ing about. . .  where are we now?  I  

am lost  here,  Chair.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Sorry,  go to page 234,  please.  
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MR ZWANE :    Of  the black numbers? 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.  

MR ZWANE :    I  l ike going to the red numbers.   I  do not  know 

why.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    [ laughing]    

MR ZWANE :    Yes,  I  found that .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    I t  is a luxury today.  

MR ZWANE :    [ laughing]   Ja,  sorry Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink he wants you to  repeat  your 

quest ion,  Mr Pretor ius.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    Yes.   This cash f low project ion in  

th is document presumable prepared dur ing November of  

October of  23010, says that  by November 2010, 8500 

foundat ions would have been la id.  

MR ZWANE :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC :    An expendi ture of  R 170 mi l l ion.   

3500 wal l  p lates would have been erected at  an expendi ture 

o f  R86 593 500.   Was tha t  ach ieved?  Was i t  remote l y  

ach ievab le  when  in  January  on  the  most  favourab le  

pro jec t ions in  the  press  s ta tement  they were  on ly  on  t rack  20 

to  comple te  21  500 houses by  the  end o f  March.   But  

anyway,  le t  me not  en ter  in to  compar i sons a t  the  moment ,  

le t  me jus t  ask  you,  Mr  Zwane,  the  p la in  quest ion ,  was tha t  

ach ievab le?   Was  i t  ach ieved?  

MR ZWANE:     Cha i r,  i f  I  may say,  look ing  back  a t  the 
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recovery  p lan  in te r rogat ing  i t  thorough ly,  i t  has  loopho les .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  has?  

MR ZWANE:    Loopho les .   Loopho les  l i ke  i t  was ambi t ious 

document  wh ich  I  wou ld  have unders tood a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  

t ime tha t  peop le  wou ld  have had to  pu t  the i r  shou lder  on  

the  b lade to  ensure  tha t  th is  i s  ach ieved and I  th ink  i t  i s  a  

we l l - known fac t  tha t  tha t  was not  ach ieved.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So  whatever  ad jec t i ve  we use and 

many ad jec t i ves  have been used th is  week,  loopho les  i s  a  

new one.   I s  i t  fa i r  to  say  tha t  th is  i s  no t  rea l i s t i c  o r  10 

accura te?  

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  so ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We know a t  leas t  tha t  the  purpose  

o f  th is  p lan  was to  respond to  the  Min i s te r ’s  d i rec t i ve  tha t  

such a  p lan  be  prov ided so  tha t  they cou ld  cons ide r  

whethe r  funds shou ld  be  w i thhe ld  or  no t ,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you know whethe r  the  f igures  tha t  

were  pu t  in to  th is  p lan  a t  page 233 ,  tha t  i s  the  page  we a re  

look ing  a t ,  do  you know whethe r  be fore  those f igures  were  20 

put  in  there  in  te rms o f  how many houses wou ld  be  at  

foundat ion  s tage,  how many wou ld  be  wa l l  p la te ,  how many 

comple t ions?  Do you know whether  somebody  d id  the  

necessary  homework ,  p rac t i ca l  homework  whether  th is  

cou ld  be  done a t  a  p rac t ica l  leve l  look ing  a t  a l l  the  issues?   
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Do we have –  have we appo in ted  cont rac tors ,  a re  the  

cont rac tors  we have appo in ted  –  w i l l  they  be  ab le  to  do  

th is  w i th in  such and such a  t ime?  Are  there  processes tha t  

must  be  fo l lowed?  Wi l l  they  no t  cause de lays?  Or  d id  

somebody jus t  s i t  in  the  o f f i ce  and  put  in  a  w ish  l i s t  to  say 

th is  i s  what  we w ish  to  ach ieve?  

MR ZWANE:    Wel l ,  Cha i r,  I  th ink  th is  p rocess inc luded a  

number  o f  s takeho lders  and cont rac tors  shou ld  a lso  have 

been consu l ted  and on the  s t rength  o f  those consu l ta t ions ,  

I  be l ieve  th is  document  was then  deve loped.   As  I  have 10 

sa id ,  I  have no t  en t i re ly  been in  the  p rocess o f  the  

deve lopment  o f  th is  document  bu t  as  th ings s tands today  

you can see tha t  th is  was an ambi t ious  document ,  to  say 

the  least ,  bu t  peop le  had commi t ted  tha t  w i th  a l l  the 

resources we have in  p lace ,  th is  i s  ach ievab le ,  as  I  was  

in fo rmed by  the  HOD and I  accepted tha t  exp lanat ion ,  

Cha i r  because a l l  what  th is  exp lanat ion  had sa id  to  me and  

i t  meant  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  t ime is  tha t  anyway,  we  cannot  

dece ive  the  Min is te r  by  be ing  ambi t ious ,  the  rea l i t y  i s  

go ing  to  come when a  f inanc ia l  repor t  i s  g iven  to  the  20 

Min is te r.   The rea l i t y  w i l l  be  there  and the  Min i s te r  w i l l  

make a  de termina t ion  based on tha t  rea l i t y.  

 What  I  saw th is  document  do ing  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  

po in t  in  t ime was  to  push o f f i c ia ls  and everybody harder  to  

t ry  and ach ieve .   A l though I  wou ld  have pre fer red  a 
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document  tha t  wou ld  have been spec i f i c  to  the  po in t  bu t  I  

must  say  in  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  hav ing  a t tended a  

meet ing  w i th  con t rac tors  and so  fo r th ,  some o f  the  issues  

they wou ld  say they wou ld  be  ab le  to  ach ieve,  they wou ld  

no t  ach ieve a t  the  end o f  the  day.   I  th ink  I  must  make tha t  

po in t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  when you were  g i ven th is  document  

d id  you say to  the  o f f i c ia ls ,  fo r  example ,  you peop le  are  

say ing  by  December  the  depar tment  w i l l  have comple ted  

bu i ld ing  3  000 houses,  te l l  me how you a re  go ing  to  10 

ach ieve tha t?   Persuade me tha t  what  you have wr i t ten  

here  is  conv inc ing .   How are  you go ing  to  ach ieve,  we –  I  

do  no t  know what  month  you were  ta lk ing  about ,  le t  us  say 

maybe i t  was October  o r  maybe September  when you were  

g iven th is  bu t  we  know i t  was befo re  19  November  or  ear ly  

November.    

D id  you say exp la in  to  me how tha t  i s  go ing  to  be  

ach ieved because when we say to  the  Min is te r  o r  when we 

say to  the  pub l i c  by  end o f  December  –  or  when I  say  to  

Exco by  end o f  December  we w i l l  have bu i l t  3  000 houses,  20 

i f  they  ask  me or  i f  the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  asks  me how are  

you go ing  to  ach ieve tha t  in  c i r cumstances where  over  s i x  

months  be fore  October  o f  the  f inanc ia l  year  you had not  

bu i l t  a  s ing le  house,  f rom what  I  have been to ld  by  the  

w i tnesses,  f rom th is  a l loca t ion ,  no t  f rom prev ious  
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a l loca t ions?  D id  you ask  tha t  quest ion ,  say  te l l  me how 

you are  go ing  to  ach ieve tha t ,  le t  me see whether  you are  

ta lk ing  about  someth ing  ach ievab le?  

MR ZWANE:    As  I  have a l luded,  Cha i r,  the  s tance I  took  

was to  say to  the  o f f i c ia ls ,  i s  th is  what  you th ink  you can 

ach ieve?  Can I  ho ld  you accountab le  to  th i s?   And they 

d id  agree tha t  you can ho ld  us  accountab le .   I f  I  reca l l  I  

even went  to  the  ex ten t  o f  say ing  there  w i l l  be  

repercuss ions we  you do not  ach ieve accord ing  to  what  you 

are  present ing  to  me and we agreed.   Hence most  o f  the  10 

o f f i c ia ls  commi t ted  themse lves and  worked du r ing  ho l idays 

and I  le f t  i t  a t  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Am I  cor rec t  then in  unders tand ing  your  

answer  to  my quest ion  to  be  tha t  you d id  no t  ask  the  

quest ion  o f  how they wou ld  ach ieve but  you asked  fo r  an  

assurance tha t  they wou ld  ach ieve these f igures  and you  

sa id  we l l ,  i f  they  are  no t  ach ieved there  w i l l  be 

consequences?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Pre tor ius?  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We have ev idence,  Mr  Zwane,  that  

th is  expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  was presented to  a 

techn ica l  Minmec meet ing  on  the  28  October  2010.   

Techn ica l  Minmec we have lea rn t  i s  a  meet ing  o f  o f f i c ia ls  

tha t  the  depar tment  and o the r  o f f i c ia ls ,  D i rec tor  Genera ls  
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o f  Deputy  D i rec tor  Genera l  dea l ing  w i th  opera t iona l  

mat te rs ,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Accord ing  to  the  ev idence o f  Mr  

Maxatshwa,  he  sa id  t ha t  a t  tha t  meet ing  the  ERP was 

quest ioned and i t  was cer ta in l y  no t  accepted.   Do you have  

any knowledge o f  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  was  presented aga in  a t  the  

techn ica l  Minmec  meet ing  the  fo l low ing month  on  the  18  10 

November  2010.   We have the  m inu tes  o f  tha t  meet ing ,  tha t  

i s  in  bund le  FS12  a t  309.     

MR ZWANE:    309?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.   I f  you  look a t  paragraphs  

3 .2 .2  under  the  head ing  Free S ta te  Prov ince,  the  m inute  

reads:  

“The p lan ,  as  presented,  does no t  demonst ra te  the  

ab i l i t y  o f  the  prov ince to  spend  the  R1.42 b i l l i on  

f rom now unt i l  the  end o f  March 2011. ”  

Do you see tha t?  20 

MR ZWANE:    Can I  be  he lped Cha i r?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Paragraph  3 .2 .2  on  FS12,  309.   I f  

you  want  a  red  number  I  w i l l  g ive  i t  to  you.  

MR ZWANE:    Oh ,  FS12.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  am jus t  wa i t ing  fo r  you to  say you  
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have enough fo r  the  day,  s i r.  

MR ZWANE:    I  am wi th  you,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You see  paragraph 3 .2 .2  on  tha t  

page?  I t  says :  

“The p lan ,  as  presented,  does no t  demonst ra te  the  

ab i l i t y  o f  the  prov ince to  spend  the  R1.42 b i l l i on  

f rom now unt i l  the  end o f  March 2011. ”  

I t  seems to  be  the  consensus bu t  th is  was expressed as  

ear l y  as  November  2010.   Do you see tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    What  I  wanted to  ask  you was the  

ev idence says tha t  tha t  was repor ted  back to  you.   Was i t?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  s ta tement  shou ld  no t  su rpr i se  you,  

Mr  Zwane,  shou ld  i t ,  namely  tha t  the  p lan ,  as  p resented,  

does not  demons t ra te  the  ab i l i t y  o f  the  prov ince to  spend  

the  R1.4  b i l l i on  f rom then unt i l  March  2011 because the  

p lan  tha t  we have been ta lk ing  about  d id  no t  ind i ca te  how 

those f igures  wou ld  be  ach ieved,  i t  jus t  pu ts  the  f igures  

a lmost  l i ke  the  ta rge ts  bu t  d id  no t  say  now those  ta rge ts  20 

wou ld  be  ach ieved.   So I  am say ing  in  the  l igh t  o f  tha t ,  th is  

s ta tement  shou ld  no t  su rpr i se  you.   Do you agree? 

MR ZWANE:    I  sa id  ear l ie r  on  when I  looked a t  the  p lan ,  

in te r rogated i t ,  I  found i t  to  be  a  ve ry  ambi t ious  p lan .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You found i t . .?  
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MR ZWANE:    And ambi t ious  p lan .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  yes .  

MR ZWANE:    I  d id  ra ise  tha t  po in t  ear l ie r  on ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  no ,  you d id .  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  what  I  am say ing  is ,  when the  

Minmec or  whatever  the  body was tha t  met  here ,  wh ich  

inc luded the  D i rec tor  Genera l  o f  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment ,  

when th is  meet ing  says the  p lan ,  as  presented,  does not  

demonst ra te  the  ab i l i t y  o f  the  prov ince to  spend the  R1,4  10 

b i l l i on  f rom then  unt i l  the  end o f  March 2011.   When the  

p lan  does not  have anyth ing  to  say how these  ta rge ts  

wou ld  be  ach ieved,  one shou ld  no t  expect  i t  to  be 

persuas ive  because the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  wou ld  be  

say ing  we can see tha t  you are  te l l ing  us  tha t  you are  

go ing  to  ach ieve  3  000 houses by  end o f  December  tha t  

wou ld  be  comp le ted  but  you have put  no th ing  tha t  

persuades us  tha t  you are  r igh t  in  th ink ing  tha t  you w i l l  

ach ieve tha t .   You accept  tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  unders tand i t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    You unders tand tha t .  

MR ZWANE:    I  unders tand,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .  

MR ZWANE:    That  the  p lan  lacked the  how.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  the  p lan  lacked the  how,  ja .   
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MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The techn ica l  Minmec meet ing  he ld  

on  the  18  November,  you were  no t  an  inv i tee  to  tha t  

meet ing ,  I  unders tand.  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We know tha t  tha t  meet ing  sa id  

what  i t  d id  about  the  p lan  be ing  unach ievab le  or  no t  

demonst ra t ing  tha t  i t  was ach ievab le ,  tha t  was minuted.   

Would  you have been rec ip ien t  o f  those minutes?  10 

MR ZWANE:    No ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    R igh t .   I t  was fo l lowed by  a 

meet ing  the  next  day o f  Minmec,  no t  techn ica l  Minmec but  

Minmec.   Who a t tends Minmec meet ings?  

MR ZWANE:    The Min is te r  a t tends,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Sor ry?   The MEC and the  Min is te r.  

MR ZWANE:    The MEC and the  Min is te r  a t tends.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Ja ,  so  the  MECs o f  the  var ious  

depar tments  a round the  count ry  p lus  the  Nat iona l  M in is te r.  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    We unders tand tha t  you  d id  no t  

a t tend tha t  meet ing .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  wou ld  you have known – we l l ,  

you  must  have known tha t  tha t  meet ing  was go ing  to  
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add ress impor tan t  i ssues fo r  your  depar tment  inc lud ing  the  

mat te r  o f  the  budget ,  cor rec t ,  the  funds?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You wou ld  have rece ived the  

m inutes  o f  tha t  meet ing .  

MR ZWANE:    I  wou ld  have rece ived the  repor t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And d id  you rece ive  a  repor t?  

MR ZWANE:    From the  o f f i c ia ls  when coming back.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  who ac tua l l y  d id  a t tend on  

beha l f  o f  the  depar tment .  10 

MR ZWANE:    On beha l f  o f  the  HOD because the  HOD on 

beha l f  o f  the  depar tment  was supposed to  be  the re .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And he was not?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    So Mr  Maxatshwa a t tended,  i s  that  

r igh t?  

MR ZWANE:    Yes.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    D id  he  repor t  back to  you?  

MR ZWANE:    Mr  Maxatshwa w i l l  ac tua l l y  repor t  to  the 

HOD,  no t  to  me.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    D id  the  HOD then repor t  to  you?  

MR ZWANE:    The HOD repor ted  tha t  in  my knowledge they 

needed to  read jus t  someth ing  in  te rms o f  the  recovery  

p lan ,  as  the  repor t  the  feedback f rom the  meet ing  wh ich  I  

sa id  go  ahead and do.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    A l r igh t .   The ev idence tha t  was 

g iven th is  week,  Mr  Zwane,  was tha t  the  techn ica l  Minmec  

re jec t ion  o f  the  p lan  and i t s  observa t ion  was conf i rmed by  

the  Nat iona l  Minmec and tha t  m inute  appears  a t  page 314  

o f  FS12 and i f  you wou ld  go  to  page 319 p lease? 

MR ZWANE:    319.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    By  the  way,  d id  you a t tend any  

Minmec meet ings  dur ing  your  te rm? 

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  I  d id ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    You d id?  10 

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  I  d id .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  th is  one not .  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  th is  one I  d id  no t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I f  you  look a t  page 319  you w i l l  

see:  

“Prov inc ia l  Expend i tu re  Repor t s  on  the  In tegra ted  

Hous ing  and Human Set t lemen ts  Deve lopment  

Grant  and De l ive ry  Trends fo r  the  Per iod  Ended 31 

October  2010.   The meet ing  no ted  a  presenta t ion  by  

a  Mr  Mnyane. ”  20 

Who was he?  Who is  he?  Do you know who he was a t  the  

t ime?  

MR ZWANE:    Mr  Mnyane?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Does not  mat te r.    

MR ZWANE:    I  do  no t  reca l l  tha t  name,  Cha i r.  
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ADV PRETORIUS SC:    In  any event ,  parag raph 3 .2  says:  

“Minmec agrees w i th  the  fo l low ing  recommendat ions  

o f  techn ica l  Minmec in  re la t ion  to  the  in te rvent ions  

around expend i tu re  pa t te rns ,  sh i f t ing  o f  funds f rom 

nonper fo rming p rov inces in  the  in te res t  o f  serv ices  

de l i very.    P rov inces must  invest  more  on  p lann ing . ”  

And th i rd l y :  

“Approva l  p rocesses in  the  prov inces must  inc lude  

cons idera t ion  fo r  bu lk  in f ras t ruc tu re . ”  

Now tha t  i s  obv ious l y  a  c ryp t ic  m inute ,  in fo rmat ion  f rom Mr  10 

Maxatshwa,  who  a t tended a  mee t ing ,  was f i rs t l y  tha t  the 

expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  was not  accepted.   Second ly,  

tha t  th is  was u l t imate ly  repor ted  to  you.   

MR ZWANE:    Th is  was w ide ly  covered even on the  med ia ,  

I  must  a l lude to  tha t  fac t .   There  were  processes tha t  

fo l lowed tha t  meet ing  because i f  you read the  le t te r  tha t  I  

re fe r red  to  f rom DG Thabane Zu lu  da ted the  12  January,  i t  

says :  

“Desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  you have been g i ven seven  

days in  January  to  t ry  and conv ince us  why funds  20 

shou ld  no t  be  taken,  we now p rovoke (s ic )  the  

fo l low ing the  sec t ions accord ing  to  the  DORA Act  

and we w i l l  no t  a l loca te  anymore  to  you. ”  

That  was in  January  2011,  c los ing  th is  mat te r,  b r ing ing  

f ina l i t y  to  the  mat te r.   I  d id  no t  unders tand th is  meet ing  to  
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be  say ing  as  o f  t he  19  November  we shou ld  sur render  a l l  

the  money.   As  I  am ind i ca t ing ,  tha t  tha t  le t te r  was  ac tua l l y  

say ing  you may have fa i led  in  conv inc ing  the  depar tment  

w i th in  seven days and tha t  i s  when the  f ina l  a l loca t ion  was 

taken and I  have  a l luded to  the  fac t ,  Cha i r,  tha t  I  d id  no t  

know about  tha t  le t te r  ear l ie r  on  and i f  the re  wou ld  be  a  

quest ion  tha t  says you cont inued a f te r  tha t ,  I  th ink  tha t  w i l l  

be  unders tood in  tha t  contex t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wou ld  you  p lease go to  FS12 page 

255?   10 

MR ZWANE:    455?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  two doub le  f i ve?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Two doub le  f i ve .  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  FS12.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    That  appears  to  be  a  le t te r  

addressed to  yourse l f ,  Mr  Zwane,  i t  i s  da ted ,  as  i s  

apparent  f rom page 257,  the  9  December  2010 and i t  i s  

s igned by  the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  a t  the  t ime,  Mr  Sexwale  

and i t  seems tha t  P remie r  Magashu le  may have been  20 

cop ied  but  we do not  know tha t  bu t  tha t  s ignature  o f  Mr  

Sexwale  seems to  be  the  s ignatu re  a t tached to  the  name 

there .   Do you see tha t?  

MR ZWANE:    I  see  tha t  le t te r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Do you reca l l  rece iv ing  th i s  le t te r  
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da ted  the  9  December  2010?  

MR ZWANE:    We l l ,  I  see  the  le t te r,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  says :  

“Th is  le t te r  se rves to  no t i f y  you o f  the  in ten t ion  to  

w i thho ld  pa r t  o f  your  2010/2011 a l loca t ion  due to  

the  repor ted  under  spend ing  in  l ine  w i th  DORA 2010  

s t ipu la t ions  p rov ided by  Sect ion  16 .1  (c ) . ”  

Aga in ,  d id  you rece ive  th is  le t te r?  

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  I  rece ived th is  le t te r,  Cha i r,  I  th ink 

so .  10 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  says ,  goes on to  say –  you w i l l  

see  a  h igh l i gh ted  por t ion  on  page 256:  

“As you may know,  an  assessment  o f  your  

depar tment ’s  recovery  p lan  presented to  the  

techn ica l  Minmec he ld  on  18  November  2010 

revea led  tha t  the  p lan  does not  demonst ra te  ab i l i ty  

to  spend the  en t i re  budget  be fore  the  end o f  th is  

cur ren t  f inanc ia l  year. ”  

You were  to ld  tha t  in  the  le t te r,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  does on to  say:  

“ In  v iew o f  under  expend i tu re ,  the  Minmec meet ing  

he ld  on  19 November  2010  cons idered the  

recommendat ions  by  the  techn ica l  Minmec wh ich  

ind ica tes ,  amongst  o thers ,  tha t  funds shou ld  be  
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t ransfer red  to  p rov inces tha t  have shown the  ab i l i t y  

to  spend. ”  

That  wou ld  have  been repor ted  to  you,  apparent  f rom the  

minute .  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The le t te r  goes on to  say:  

“P lease be in fo rmed tha t  an  amount  o f  R263 mi l l ion  

w i l l  be  w i thhe ld  f rom your  2010/2011 a l loca t ion…” 

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:     10 

“…done wi th  a  v iew to  request  Na t iona l  Treasury  to  

s top  and rea l loca te  such fund ing  to  o ther  p rov inces  

tha t  a re  i n  need o f  add i t iona l  fund ing  and have  

demonst ra ted  a  good spend ing  per fo rmance. ”  

Cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  goes on to  say:  

“You a re  there fore  adv ised to  submi t  wr i t ten  

rep resenta t ion  by  15  December  2010 as  to  why the  

a l loca t ion  shou ld  no t  be  w i thhe ld  fa i lu re  o f  wh ich  20 

w i l l  resu l t  w i th  funds be ing  w i thhe ld  fo r  

rea l loca t ion . ”  

And then in  handwr i t ing  a t  the  bo t tom o f  the  page:  

“K ind ly  t rea t  th is  as  u rgent .   S ince re ly…”  

And then i t  seems to  me tha t  tha t  i s  the  Premier ’s  
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handwr i t ing  and h is  s ignature  a t  the  bo t tom o f  the  page,  i s  

tha t  cor rec t?  

CHAIRPERSON:    You sa id  Premie r,  you mean the  

Min is te r?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    No,  I  mean  Premie r,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I  may be wrong but  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  may be a  no te  appended  by  the  

Min is te r,  i t  may be a  no te  appended by  the  Prem ier,  i t  i s  10 

no t  c lear.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.   No,  no ,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine  

[ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Do you  know whose handwr i t ing  

tha t  i s?  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  I  cannot  reca l l ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  a l r igh t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Bu t  anyway,  whoever  i t  was ,  i t  was 

someone sen ior  to  you.  

MR ZWANE:    I t  may appear  tha t  the  le t te r  was sent  20 

th rough the  o f f i ce  o f  the  Premier  and i t  was then  brought  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    To  you.  

MR ZWANE:    To  you.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes bu t  whoever  sa id  what  was  
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sa id  there ,  there  was an add i t iona l  comment  e i ther  f rom 

the  Premier  o r  f rom the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  tha t  you  shou ld  

t rea t  i t  as  urgent ,  cor rec t?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Were  any representa t ions made?   

Wel l ,  le t  me ask you th is  f i rs t .   Perhaps i t  i s  fa i re r  to  say 

d id  you rece ive  th is  and when you  rece ived i t ,  what  d id  you 

do?  

MR ZWANE:    My o f f i c ia l s  were  inundated w i th  the 

response,  as  I  a l luded ear l ie r  on ,  Cha i r,  tha t  even when a  10 

repor t  came th rough the  HOD,  wh ich  was made  by  Mr  

Maxatshwa,  I  agreed tha t  they shou ld  respond as  a  mat te r  

o f  u rgency and in  th is  case,  the  le t te r  o f  the  12 t h  w i l l  

ind ica te  ou r  response to  th is  mat te r  because the  l e t te r  o f  

the  12 t h  says  we have not  conv inced the  depar tment  in  

te rms o f  th is  mat te r  tha t  we are  dea l ing  w i th ,  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment ,  so  they are  invok ing  the  necessary  sect ions o f  

DORA to  take  the  money to  take  the  money.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  your  answer  there fo re  to  the  quest ion  

tha t  the  depar tment  d id  no t  make a  wr i t ten  response  w i th in  20 

the  t ime g iven in  th is  le t te r.  

MR ZWANE:    No the  depar tment  was ins t ruc ted  to  make 

wr i t ten  representa t ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  what  I  d id  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR ZWANE:   I  th ink  they d id  Cha i r,  I  th ink  they d id  ja ,  I  
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may not  reca l l  the  de ta i l s  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   Ja,  I  may not  reca l l  the  de ta i l s  thereof .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  you have seen what  they  sent  to  

the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  as  the i r  representa t ions  o f  the  

depar tment  o r  wou ld  you not  have seen tha t  a t  the  t ime? 

MR ZWANE:   In  th is  case I  take  tha t  a t  i ssue here  was a  

recovery  p lan  tha t  was not  conv inc ing .   There  are  two 

issues tha t  needed to  happen,  to  t ry  and g ive  up  tha t  

recovery  p lan  to  inc lude the  he lp-out  wh ich  has been 10 

debated in  th is  Commiss ion  and then to  send i t  back to  the 

Nat iona l  Government  and see i f  they  wou ld  accep t  th is  o r  

no t ,  and I  –  tha t  i s  the  ins t ruc t ion  I  have wr i t ten  Cha i r.    I  

shou ld  ra ise  th is  po in t  tha t  i t  i s  on  record  tha t  when  –  i t  i s  

no t  me who re jec ted  the  recovery  p lan .   The recovery  p lan  

was re jec ted  by  Nat iona l  ra i s ing  these pe r t inent  i ssues,  

where  o f f i c ia ls  were  and when tha t  ge ts  repor ted  to  me I  

then sa id  le t ’s  do  eve ry th ing  in  our  power  to  ensure  tha t  we  

don ’ t  low on the  bas is  o f  o ther  p resenta t ion  to  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment .    20 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  is  your  answer  to  my quest i on  tha t  

you d id  no t  see the  representa t ions tha t  may have been  

made?  

MR ZWANE:   I  can ’ t  reca l l  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You can ’ t  reca l l  whethe r  you saw i t  o r  
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no t .  

MR ZWANE:    Ja ,  no  I  can ’ t  reca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  I  am not  sure  tha t  the  mat ter  

can be fa i r l y  le f t  there  Mr  Zwane,  th is  le t te r  f rom the 

Nat iona l  Min i s te r  sa id  we are  go ing  to  depr ive  the  

depar tment  o f  over  R200mi l l ion  un less  you conv ince us  

tha t  you can fa i r l y  and reasonab ly  spend the  money w i th in  

the  t ime.   We know o f  no  response and i t  seems to  be  

conf i rmed by  the  le t te r  a t  FS14268 o f  the  12 t h  o f  January  10 

to  wh ich  you have re fer red ,  wh ich  says we haven ’ t  been  

fu rn ished w i th  reasons as  to  why the  a l loca t ion  shou ld  no t  

be  w i thhe ld  because the  t ime has now exp i red .  

 That  i s  the  impor tan t  o f  the  le t ter  o f  12  January,  

now can I  suggest  to  you tha t  our  invest iga t ions and the  

ev idence tha t  we  have g iven does  not  ind ica te  any  fu r ther  

expend i tu re  recovery  p lan ,  rev ised expend i tu re  recovery  

p lan  be ing  submi t ted  to  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment ,  and the  

reason fo r  tha t  i s  s imp le  tha t  i t  jus t  s imp ly  was not  

ach ievab le  and tha t  i s  cons is ten t  w i th  a l l  the  ev idence,  20 

inc lud ing  yours .  

MR ZWANE:    I  may not  deny tha t  Cha i r  bu t  wha t  I  may 

ra ise  a t  th is  po in t  I  was look ing  a t  when the  le t te r  was  

wr i t ten  and I  can see tha t  the  dead l ine  was the  15 t h  o f  

December  2010 and th is  le t te r  was s igned on the  5 t h  o f  
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December,  a t  the  o f f i ce  o f  the  Premie r,  a t  tha t  pa r t i cu la r  

t ime.   There  were  processes tha t  had been put  in  p lace  and 

some o f  the  processes are  the  processes tha t  we are  

de l ibe ra t ing  on  today.     

 In  November  the re  were  processes tha t  were  pu t  

together,  we met  w i th  the  cont rac tors ,  they suggested what  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  they  even went  to  work  ove r  weekends and 

we were  go ing  to  work  dur ing  December.  

 Now to  me a t  tha t  pa r t i cu la r  t ime and then no t  

d isput ing  the  fac t  tha t  I  can ’ t  have fac t s  w i th  me  here ,  I  10 

can ’ t  reca l l  p roper ly,  to  me  there  were  tang ib le  

p rogrammes tha t  wou ld  have been submi t ted  to  the 

Min is te r  and i t  wou ld  have been  another  s to ry  i f  we are  

seated here  and say the  Min i s te r  re jec ted  the  p resenta t ion ,  

because tha t  i s  what  took p lace and everybody seems to  

co l labora te  in  te rms o f  the i r  tes t imony in  th is  Commiss ion ,  

tha t  peop le  worked in  December,  peop le  worked du r ing  the  

ho l idays and I  may not  reca l l  why was th is  no t  p resented to  

the  Min i s te r  as  I  say  I  can ’ t  c lear l y  reca l l  the  events  

around the  mat te r.  20 

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    The advance payment  sys tem 

which  was under  way a t  the  t ime was in  fac t  p resented to  

the  Minmec meet ing  and was re jec ted ,  they warned aga ins t  

i t s  imp lementa t ion ,  so  the  processes under  way a t  the  t ime 

were  cab led ,  were  re jec ted ,  tha t ’s  the  f i rs t  po in t ,  you may 
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w ish  to  comment  on  tha t .  

MR ZWANE:    I f  those processes were  then re jec ted  Cha i r  

i t  w i l l  on ly  be  co r rec t  tha t  our  p resenta t ion  as  a  prov ince  

was re jec ted  by  Nat iona l .   I t  i s  a  d i f fe ren t  s to ry  f rom say ing  

recorded as  say ing  there  was no rep resenta t ion  a t  a l l ,  and 

what  I  am t ry ing  to  i l l us t ra te  i s  tha t  Nat iona l  has a  

pre rogat ive  to  accept  o r  re jec t  in  te rms o f  the  we igh t  and 

tha t  we respect  as  a  prov ince,  tha t  i s  the  po in t  I  was t ry ing  

to  nar ra te  he re .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Wel l  the  t im ing is  impor tan t  Mr  10 

Zwane,  the  advance payment  sys tem,  and we w i l l  come to  

tha t  in  due course ,  was in  fac t  re jec ted  as  ea r ly  as  18  

November  by  the  Techn ica l  Minmec and tha t  was repor ted  

to  the  Minmec meet ing  the  fo l low ing day on  the  19 t h  o f  

November.   But  what  one wou ld  have expected on rece ip t  

o f  the  le t te r  o f  9  December  2010 f rom the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  

warn ing  about  the  in tend ing  s topp ing  o f  funds,  one wou ld  

have expected i f  there  was the  remotest  poss ib i l i t y  o f  the  

expend i tu re  recovery  p lan  be ing  successfu l  and you be ing  

aware  o f  tha t  one wou ld  have expected a l l  e f fo r ts  and  20 

every  e f fo r ts  to  be  made,  however  busy one might  have 

been a t  th is  t ime in  December,  to  make an  urgent  

p resenta t ion  to  the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  say ing  ho ld  i t  

Nat iona l  Min is te r,  we can do th is ,  here  is  the  proof ,  and 

tha t  wasn ’ t  done.   Do you have a  comment?   
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MR ZWANE:    I  want  to  be l ieve  tha t  th is  quest ion  Cha i r  i s  

re la ted  to  the  quest ion  tha t  I  have answered,  tha t  the  

presenta t ions were  done and re jec ted ,  and I  th ink  the  po in t  

tha t  may be ra i sed is  tha t  was I  aware  a t  tha t  par t i cu la r  

t ime and I  have  a l luded to  the  fac t  tha t  the  re jec t ion  

thereof ,  o f  the  in te rna l  memo which  resu l ted  u l t imate ly  to  

agreement  I  was not  there ,  i t  was re jec ted  around 19 

November,  because the  quest ion  then becomes i f  i t  was  

re jec ted  a round 19 November  th is  in te rna l  memo was on ly  

f ina l i sed  on  the  15 t h  o f  November.   How poss ib le  i s  i t  tha t  10 

th is  memo wou ld  have been presented in  the  meet ing  o f  

the  19 t h  o f  November,  maybe verba l l y,  I  can  accede to  tha t  

po in t  bu t  to  the  best  o f  my knowledge I  don ’ t  rea l l y  reca l l  

such a  repor t  be ing  presented to  my tab le .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    I t  may not  have been what  as  you  

have been . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  been re fer red  to  as  a  lega l  

op in ion ,  we w i l l  come to  tha t ,  bu t  been presented  to  the  

meet ings in  November,  in  fac t  i t  was presented,  the  

advance payment  sys tem idea  was presented,  the  

memorandum may or  may not  have been presented,  we  20 

don ’ t  know,  bu t  i t  was a lso  re jec ted ,  i t  was sa id  th is  i s  

un lawfu l ,  you can ’ t  p roceed w i th  i t ,  bu t  I  w i l l  come to  tha t ,  

we w i l l  come to  tha t  p iecemeal  Mr  Zwane.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  be fore  your  next  quest ion  go ing  

back to  the  issue o f  representa t ions tha t  may or  may not  



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 188 of 198 
 

have been made  by  the  depar tment  in  response  to  the 

Nat iona l  Min i s te r ’s  le t te r  tha t  s ta r ts  a t  page 255,  a re  you 

say ing  tha t  as  you s i t  there  you don ’ t  remember  whethe r  

indeed the  depar tment  made representa t ions as  a  mat te r  o f  

fac t ,  and you don ’ t  remember  whether  you d id  see such 

rep resenta t ions bu t  you can ’ t  th ink  why they wou ld  no t  

have been made,  what  i s  the  pos i t ion?  

MR ZWANE:    What  I  am say ing  Cha i r  i s  tha t  I  can ’ t  reca l l  

p roper  fac ts ,  wha t  I  reca l l  i s  tha t  there  were  ac t iv i t ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

MR ZWANE:    That  were  under taken by  the  P rov ince and 

those ac t iv i t ies  were  feeds to  be  presented  as  an  

in te rvent ion  to  the  cha l lenges tha t  we had.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  a re  you say ing  tha t  the  ac t iv i t ies  to  

wh ich  you now re fer  were  mean t  to  be  brought  to  the  

Nat iona l  Depar tment  in  response to  th is  le t te r  f rom the  

Nat iona l  Min i s te r  o r  a re  you s imp ly  ta lk ing  about  a  d i f fe ren t  

po in t?  

MR ZWANE:  The le t te r  as  i t  comes Cha i r  i t  says  the  

recovery  p lan  has  no t  been accepted in  i t s  cur ren t  fo rm.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  ja .  

MR ZWANE:   That  means the  recovery  p lan  shou ld  be  

a l te red .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR ZWANE:   That  was my unders tand ing .  



25 SEPTEMBER 2020 – DAY 271 
 

Page 189 of 198 
 

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm.  

MR ZWANE:   And beyond the i r  recovery  p lan  there  were  

these ac t iv i t ies  tha t  we were  busy w i th  tha t  wou ld  be  

f i l te red  and be ab le  to  answer  tha t  quest ion  tha t  she has 

been ra is ing ,  the  how par t ,  we know heard  the  how par t  o f  

work ing  on  weekends,  work ing  on  ho l idays,  tha t  i s  the  how 

par t ,  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  wou ld  have then had an  

oppor tun i ty  to  look  a t  the  prac t ica l i t y  o f  the  how par t ,  tha t  

i s  why I  am say ing  I  don ’ t  see a  po in t  why wou ld  we have 

not  responded to  the  ca l l  by  Nat iona l  because we were  10 

indeed do ing  someth ing  a long the  l ines  tha t  the  Nat iona l  

Depar tment  o f  Human Set t lement  wanted us  to  respond.   I  

can ’ t  jus t  reca l l  whethe r  I  saw tha t  representa t ion ,  tha t  i s  

what  I  am ra is ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  bu t  I  wou ld  have expected tha t  

fo r  such an impor tan t  i ssue where  the  Nat iona l  Depar tment  

was th rea ten ing  to  take  away such a  lo t  o f  money,  460 

someth ing  mi l l ion ,  I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  the  o f f i c ia ls  

once they had p repared the  representa t ions wou ld  le t  you 

have s igh t  o f  them before  send ing  them o f f ,  tha t  wou ld  be  20 

your  expecta t ion  as  we l l?  

MR ZWANE:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  you don ’ t  reca l l  tha t  they d id  

tha t?  

MR ZWANE:   I  don ’ t  reca l l  because you w i l l  remember  
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Cha i r  tha t  we were  back and fo r th  in  te rms o f  th is  mat te r,  

wh ich  had s tar ted  ea r l ie r,  cor respondence,  repor t ing  here  

and there ,  I  must  say  to  th is  Commiss ion  we re l ied  to  the 

in fo rmat ion  tha t  is  there  in  the  Depar tment  in  te rms  o f  even 

documents ,  i t  does not  mean tha t  I  reca l l  eve ry th ing  tha t  

was,  some o f  the  in fo rmat ion  I  cou ld  no t  ge t  and as  a  

resu l t  I  cannot  then say th is  happened or  i t  d id  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay Mr  Pre to r ius  I  see we are  a t  f i ve  

o ’c lock ,  sha l l  we ta lk  about  how fa r  we w i l l  a l l  go .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Can I  jus t  f in ish  one po in t  and then 10 

we can.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Just  on  th i s  because there  i s  a  new 

po in t  to  be  made a f te r  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t ’s  f ine .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    To  take  what  has been put  to  you 

by  the  Cha i r  jus t  one s tep  fu r ther,  th is  le t te r  f rom the  

Nat iona l  Min is te r,  addressed to  you,  you t rea t  as  urgent  in  

December,  g iv ing  an  u l t imatum,  exp la in  o r  lose  the  money  

was the  cu lm inat ion  o f  many months  o f  p lann ing  and work .   20 

I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  you wou ld  have made a  po in t  o f  

ensur ing  tha t  an  answer  was g iven,  you wou ld  have 

ins t ruc ted  your  o f f i c ia ls  to  g ive  you someth ing  and i f  you  

d idn ’ t  ge t  i t  you  wou ld  have ra i sed the  roo f .   I t  i s  an  

impor tan t  event  now,  you are  go ing  to  lose  R250mi l l ion ,  a l l  
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your  e f fo r t s  o f  the  year  a re  go ing  to  come or  be  ser ious l y  

p re jud iced,  you are  g iven an u l t imatum,  you Mr  Zwane is  

g iven an u l t imatum,  and I  am ta lk ing  now you in  your  

o f f i c ia l  capac i ty,  no t  an  HOD or  anyone e lse .     You are  

to ld  to  respond by  a  cer ta in  t ime,  th is  i s  a  cu lm inat ion  o f  

many,  many months  o f  p lann ing  and de l ibera t i on  and  

repor ts ,  p lans,  you wou ld  inev i tab ly  in  tha t  pos i t ion  have 

made sure  tha t  there  was a  response f i rs t l y,  and you wou ld  

have remembered  tha t .  

MR ZWANE:    Wel l  Cha i r  I  can ’ t  see why I  wou ld  have not  10 

ac ted  in  tha t  manner.   In  fac t ,  le t  me say  in  th is  

Commiss ion  I  have ignored an ins t ruc t ion  to  the  bes t  o f  my 

ab i l i t y  espec ia l l y  coming f rom the  o f f i ce  o f  the  Premie r.   

What  I  am t ry ing  to  nar ra te  here  is  no t  whether  I  fa i led  to  

ac t  o r  no t ,  I  have  sa id  i n  my response I  d id  no t  p i ck  up  any  

document  to  demonst ra te  what  has happened,  and I  cannot  

reca l l  now.   Remember  Cha i r  w i th  a l l  respect  tha t  these are  

the  issues tha t  happened in  2010,  we are  in  2020.   As  

impor tan t  as  they are  i t  i s  reasonab le  to  say I  cannot  

remember  a l l  o f  them.  20 

 I  d id  no t  ge t  any supp lementary  in fo rmat ion  tha t  

wou ld  even re f resh my memory  on  th is ,  bu t  sure l y  I  shou ld  

take  tha t  I  d id  ins t ruc t  my o f f i c ia l s  to  ac t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr  Zwane i f  there  i s  any s ing le  

event ,  the  po in t  I  was t ry ing  to  make,  tha t  wou ld  have been 
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remembered i t  was th is  event ,  and may I  suggest  tha t  the  

reason why there  was no response  because there  cou ld  be  

no response,  the  best  as  you have a l luded to  now was to 

say to  the  Min is te r  bu t  Min i s te r  we are  work ing  weekends,  

p lease don ’ t  take  away our  money.  

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  Cha i r  f rom where  I  am seated tha t  

wou ld  have been  su f f i c ien t  i f  we d id  no t  have any o the r  

reasons and tha t  wou ld  depend on  the  Min i s te r  whe ther  he  

accepts  i t  o r  no t .    I  th ink  the  po in t ,  un less  I  m isunders tand  

here ,  i s  no t  to  po in t  ou t  a t  lack  o f  coerc ion  by  the  10 

Depar tment ,  i t  is  to  re f lec t  on  the  events  and the i r  

sequence as  –  d id  we t ry  to  a l lev ia te  the  s i tua t ion  wh ich  

needed to  be  a l l ev ia ted ,  and I  can ’ t  have proper  fac ts  to  

pu t  on  the  tab le  because the re  are  no  reco rds as  I  am 

say ing  and I  wou ld  have been g lad  to  have been  to ld  by 

th is  Commiss ion  tha t  your  response was sha l low,  I  wou ld  

have accepted tha t ,  bu t  I  don ’ t  have tha t  repor t  to  pu t  on  

the  tab le .   That  i s  what  I  am t ry ing  to  say Cha i r,  i t  i s  no t  

here .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you remember  whether  you 20 

responded to  th i s  le t te r  f rom the  Nat iona l  Min is te r  because 

the  le t te r  was addressed to  you.  

MR ZWANE:   I  am say ing  I  cannot  reca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You cannot  reca l l  where  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR ZWANE:    Yes,  I  have sa id  tha t  ear l ie r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Ja ,  i t  i s  qu i te  concern ing  because 

the  quest ion  o f  hous ing ,  the  bu i l d ing  o f  houses in  your  

depar tment  dur ing  tha t  t ime one has been made to  be l ieve  

th rough ev idence  tha t  has been g iven here  was ve ry  c lose  

to  your  hear t .    You had gone to  the  ex ten t  o f  say ing  I  am 

not  go ing  on  ho l iday dur ing  th is  December /January  

because you wanted to  ove rsee the  bu i ld ing  o f  as  many 

houses as  poss ib le  be fore  the  end o f  the  f inanc ia l  yea r.    

 Now here  is  t he  Nat iona l  Min is te r  i n  e f fec t  

th rea ten ing  to  dera i l  tha t  p lan  by  tak ing  away about  10 

R260mi l l ion .   One wou ld  have thought  tha t  you wou ld  have  

sa id  we l l  I  must  respond to  th is  le t te r,  there  must  be  

rep resenta t ions tha t  I  make and you wou ld  have – even i f  

you asked the  o f f i c ia ls  to  p repare  them you wou ld  have 

wanted to  see them and you wou ld  have responded to  the 

Min is te r  and say  here  are  the  representa t ions or  I  know 

tha t  the  represen ta t ions have been sent  by  the  o f f i c ia ls  bu t  

maybe fo r  conven ience here  is  a  copy fo r  you,  we mean 

bus iness when we say we want  to  per fo rm much bet te r  than 

the  past  few months on  th is  hous ing  pro jec t ,  one  wou ld  20 

have thought  tha t ,  and I  know tha t  i t  i s  a  number  o f  years  

a f te r  tha t ,  bu t  somehow one wou ld  have thought  tha t  as  

you were  go ing  th rough documents  and see ing  th i s  le t te r  

you wou ld  remember  i f  you  had responded to  say  I  m ight  

no t  have a  copy o f  the  response but  I  know I  responded to  
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th is  one,  bu t  you say you say you can ’ t  remember.  

MR ZWANE:    No ,  I  can ’ t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.   We a re  a t  e igh t  m inutes  past  

f i ve .   From my s ide  I  am s t i l l  happy to  p roceed,  how is  your  

s i tua t ion  Mr  Pre tor ius ,  I  am seated,  you are  s tand ing  the  

who le  day.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:   Yes,  Cha i r  tha t  i s  a  re levant  fac tor  

to  me on ly,  i t  i s  no t  dec i s ive  o f  the  way we go but  there  a re  

o ther  fac tors  tha t  I  th ink  are  impor tan t .   We have been  

dea l ing  w i th  the  expend i tu re  recover  p lan ,  i t  was ha l f  the 10 

s to ry,  we s t i l l  have to  dea l  w i t h  the  advance payment  

sys tem,  we have to  dea l  w i th  tha t  f rom the  ve ry  beg inn ing ,  

October  2010 onwards so  i t  i s  a  substant ia l  amount  o f  work  

to  do .    I  th ink  Mr  Zwane ’s  pos i t ion  shou ld  be  taken in to  

account ,  the  fac t  i s  I  th ink  I  have had enough but  I  am 

wi l l i ng  to  accept  any ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you g i ve .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Zwane how is  your  s i tua t ion?  

MR ZWANE:    I  th ink  I  am a  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  Mr  Zwane is  go ing  to  say  I  want  

Mr  Pre tor ius  t i red  so  le t  h im ask me any quest ions when he 20 

is  t i red ,  I  don ’ t  want  h im f resh.  

MR ZWANE:   No Cha i r  he  has taught  me to  l i s ten  to  h im,  I  

a rgued w i th  h im  ear l ie r  on  and I  d iscovered tha t  I  was 

wrong in  te rms o f  the  ar rangements .   My be l ie f  i s  tha t  we 

shou ld  take  in to  cons idera t ion  whatever  the  leader  o f  
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ev idence has presented.   I t  i s  about  the  qua l i t y  o f  work  

tha t  we must  do  and i f  we wou ld  push a t  a  po in t  where  we 

jus t  want  to  f in ish  I  be l ieve  i t  may not  be  f ru i t fu l  to  a l l  o f  

us ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  the  response f rom me.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  I  guess your  response is  you a re  

ava i lab le  to  cont inue but  you th ink  we must  take  account  o f  

Mr  Pre tor ius  s i tua t ion?  

MR ZWANE:   That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  you r  lega l  representa t i ve ,  I  am 

sor ry,  you are  a l so  ava i lab le  bu t  you say we must  take  in to  10 

account  Mr  Pre to r ius ’ s i tua t ion  was we l l ,  o r  you say he ’s  

s t rong we shou ld  cont inue.    No,  he  doesn ’ t  have grey  ha i r.  

 No Mr  Pre tor ius  I  unders tand your  s i tua t ion  and 

maybe based on  what  you say i f  we were  to  cont inue  

maybe we wou ldn ’ t  have cont inued beyond s i x  and  I  don ’ t  

know whether  we wou ld  f in ish  i f  we cont inue bu t  I  am 

inc l ined to  th ink  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    No we are  no t  go ing  to  f in ish  by  s ix  

Cha i r,  no t  a t  the  ra te  we have been go ing .   I  mean i f  there  

was a  su i t  change perhaps,  un l i ke ly.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  you might  have concerns about  the  

ra te  bu t  I  am not  compla in ing  in  te rms o f  do ing  jus t i ce  to  

the  issues.  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Yes,  tha t  i s  impor tan t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  tha t  i s  impor tan t  and I  th ink  we 
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have been dea l i ng  w i th  i ssues qu i te  p roper ly.    I f  we 

s topped now and  we wou ld  be  ab le  to  cont inue –  I  th ink 

ear l y  next  week  there  m ight  s t i l l  be  a  t ime,  Monday we  

were  ta lk ing  about  Mr  Tsoamets i ,  bu t  tha t  was  on the 

assumpt ion  tha t  we wou ld  f in ish  w i th  Mr  Zwane and you  

have another  w i tness fo r  Monday is  tha t  r igh t?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    And Tuesday,  bu t  two  o ’c lock  

Tuesday shou ld  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Three o ’ c lock?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Two o ’ c lock ,  i f  we are  ab le  to  10 

cont inue ea r ly  next  week and f in ish  Mr  Zwane ’s  ev idence  

ear l y  next  week,  whether  Tuesday or  Monday,  I  w i l l  be  

happy,  I  w i l l  have no prob lem tha t  we ad journ  now.   Mr  

Zwane wou ld  tha t  be  –  i f  we look a t  your  cont inu ing  a t  two  

o ’c lock  on  Tuesday wou ld  tha t  be  f ine   

MR ZWANE:    Cha i r  I  unders tand the  mean ing  o f  subpoena.  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f?  

MR ZWANE:   Of  be ing  subpoenaed I  guess I  don ’ t  have  

much o f  a  cho ice ,  bu t  I  th ink  i t  i s  f ine ,  i f  I  can  jus t  ra ise 

one po in t  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes?  

MR ZWANE:   I f  a t  a l l  poss ib le  i t  wou ld  ass is t  th is  

Commiss ion  fo r  me to  a lso  have  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  the 

Commiss ion  is  hav ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh yes,  yes ,  what  we ask quest ions on.  
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MR ZWANE:   Yes,  i t  may seem as i f  somebody  is  no t  

answer ing  proper ly,  some o f  the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  is  here  I  

am see ing  i t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no  I  th ink  they w i l l  g ive  the  

in fo rmat ion  to  you i f  you  d idn ’ t  ge t  i t .  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Wel l  par t i cu la r ly  in  re la t ion  to  the  

advance payment  sys tem Cha i r,  tha t ’s  anothe r  reason why  

there  shou ld  no t  be  tha t  compla in t ,  tha t  Mr  Zwane shou ld  

have the  oppor tun i ty  and may I  suggest  tha t  the  ev idence 

g iven by  the  w i tnesses th is  week is  ava i lab le  on  the  10 

webs i te  o r  we can make t ransc r ip ts  ava i lab le  i f  i t  i s  no t  on  

the  webs i te ,  and  tha t  i s  a l l  tha t  Mr  Zwane wou ld  have to  

have regard  to .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   So tha t  w i l l  be  g iven to  you Mr  

Zwane a f te r  th is  and your  l ega l  representa t i ve  w i l l  ta lk  to  

Mr  Pre tor ius  and  h is  team and ar rangements  w i l l  be  made 

so  tha t  –  you are  no t  go ing  to  have a  weekend th i s  

weekend,  you are  go ing  to  be  read ing .  

MR ZWANE:    I t  is  no t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  no t  fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime.  20 

MR ZWANE:   Yes Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  we are  the re fore  go ing  to  ad journ  the  

proceed ings on  the  bas is  tha t  you w i l l  come back  a t  two 

o ’c lock  on  Tuesday next  week and  then we w i l l  f in ish ,  so  i f  

we need to  go  beyond four  o ’c lock  we w i l l  go  beyond four  
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o ’c lock ,  i s  tha t  f ine?  

MR ZWANE:   That  i s  f ine  Cha i r,  so  I  w i l l  remember.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay a l r igh t .   A l r igh t  I  th ink  then we 

can s top  here ,  thank you very  much to  everybody fo r  your  

coopera t ion ,  we are  go ing  to  ad journ  fo r  the  day  and on 

Monday we w i l l  hear  the  –  w i l l  we s ta r t  w i th  Mr  . . .  a t  ten  Mr  

Pre tor ius .   

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr  Tsoamets i .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am ter r ib ly  sor ry,  I  don ’ t  l i ke  peop le  

m isp ronounc ing  my surname and  I  am sor ry  tha t  I  am 10 

pronounc ing  somebody ’s  surname wrong,  yes ,  w i l l  we s ta r t  

w i th  h im or  w i th  your  o the r  w i tness,  o r  do  you want  to  

dec ide  tha t  la te r?  

ADV PRETORIUS SC:    Mr Mokets i  shou ld  no t  be  a  long  

t ime and perhaps we shou ld  dea l  w i th  tha t  and then get  

back in to  th is  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay so  on  Monday I  w i l l  hea r  the  

ev idence o f  Mr  Mokets i  and then your  o ther  w i t ness,  ja ,  

okay,  a l r igh t .  

 We ad journ .  20 

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 28 SEPTEMBER 2020  


